o'z oEHEEARAT
U™ China New City Group Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(RS EIMMILZBRAR)

Stock Code 17 1X5%: 1321

ANNUALREPORT




Corporate Information

Chairperson’s Statement

Investment Properties

Major Properties Held for Development and/or Sale

Management Discussion and Analysis

Corporate Governance Report

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

The Report of Directors

Independent Auditor’s Report

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to Financial Statements

Summary of Consolidated Financial Information

CONTENTS
H %

REER

EFREE

REYE

REgRAk/WIHENE

EEEFREDR

EEARS

>

EERSREEENERE

13
t

EERE

BB S

M REWE

REMBENTE

EME

13

18

31

66

71

93

100

101

102

104

105

108

240

FEMNEDEREERAS

—EME

FiR



CORPORATE INFORMATION
ACINECE]

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr Shi Nanlu (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr Jin Jianrong

Non-executive Director
Mr Shi Zhongan (Chairperson)
Ms Chen Jing (appointed on 31 December 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr Lam Yau Yiu

Mr Xu Chengfa

Mr Yuan Yuan

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr Lin Caihe

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE IN THE PRC

5th Floor, Building 6
Xinhang Business Center
Long Zhang Road

Xihu District, Hangzhou
Zhejiang Province, PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

Room 4010, 40th Floor
China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong

China New City Group Limited
2024 Annual Report

EFXTg

BITES
TR BR STk (FTECAE #6)
ERERALE

EHITES
MRt (£/E)
FEE &+ (12024512831 A EEE)

BIFRITES
MR IE L
ARESTE
RKEE

REME
Mot s

sE S B2

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman lIslands

P EAM R

PEAIE
N &
REER O
MEBRO
65 1E51E

BERATBEERME

ERET
B E 2658
EBANE
40184010F



COMPANY’S WEBSITE
www.chinanewcity.com.cn

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

SMP Partners (Cayman) Limited
Royal Bank House — 3rd Floor

24 Shedden Road, P.O. Box 1586
Grand Cayman, KY1-1110
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China Co., Ltd.
Bank of China Ltd.

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.
Industrial Bank Co., Ltd.

Ping An Bank Co., Ltd.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Audiitor
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay

Hong Kong

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Capital Markets Department
Email: cnc_ir@chinanewcity.com.cn
Telephone: (852) 2877 6991
Facsimile: (852) 2877 6990

CORPORATE INFORMATION
A

KT 4FHE

www.chinanewcity.com.cn

FERMBRERE

SMP Partners (Cayman) Limited
Royal Bank House — 3rd Floor

24 Shedden Road, P.O. Box 1586
Grand Cayman, KY1-1110
Cayman Islands

EERBBRETDE

HERSELARAT
5B

ERIE163E
BHRESRAOT7IE

FEERET

PREIEZRRITROAERAT
PEIRITIRMBRAF
RBIRTRINARAE
BERTROABRAE
BERTROHABRAE
FZRTRNBRAE

=26

TG TN EHAN
;@“}7%‘5#%

LR i BT AE1ZECET
é%
ilp==Rr
HEIEI795%
Krdh—EE2718

REHRR

BARAMIGE

B I . cnc_ir@chinanewcity.com.cn
FE5E | (852) 2877 6991

fEH : (852) 2877 6990

qﬂl%iﬁi’ﬁ%lﬁl@ﬁﬁj
Ut



CHAIRPERSON’S STATEMENT
FHH S

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of China New City Group Limited (“Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), | am pleased to present the annual
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

RESULTS

In 2024, the Group recorded an increase in revenue and the capital
structure was optimised. During the year, the Group’s revenue was
approximately RMB4,104 million, representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 216.3%; gross profit was approximately RMB2,059 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 459.4%; profit
attributable to owners of the parent was approximately RMB504 million,
representing an increase of approximately 224.7% as compared to a loss
attributable to owners of the parent of approximately RMB404 million
for 2023. As at the end of 2024, the total equity of the Group reached
approximately RMB5,342 million, and the carrying amount of cash
reached approximately RMB886 million. The Group recorded earning per
share attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent of approximately
RMB25.1 cents.
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MARKET AND BUSINESS REVIEW

Looking back on the whole year of 2024, according to data from the
National Bureau of Statistics, the overall real estate market in China
exhibited a downward development trend. According to data from the
National Bureau of Statistics, in the first half of the year, the market
showed short-term rebound as driven by the positive effects from
favourable policy support. However, with the release of demand early in
the year, home buyers’ sentiment toward home ownership and market
performance dropped rapidly during the second quarter. As such, the
central government and all local governments enhanced policy support in
the latter half of the year. Nevertheless, home buyers lacking confidence
and the cautious attitude of market investors constituted a drag on the
recovery of overall market demand.

Despite market pressure, policy support continued to increase. In 2024,
the central and local governments introduced a series of policies to
stabilize the real estate market. On 26 September, the Political Bureau
meeting of the Central Committee explicitly proposed to “promote the
recovery and stabilization of the real estate market”. Subsequently,
purchase restrictions in various regions were significantly relaxed, down
payment ratios and mortgage rates fell to historical lows, and the interest
rates on existing mortgages were lowered again. In addition, policies
such as the cancellation of ordinary residential standards, tax and fee
reductions, and the full restart of urban village renovation have further
enhanced market confidence. The implementation of these policies has
driven the market to temporarily stop falling in the fourth quarter, laying the
foundation for market recovery in 2025.
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CHAIRPERSON’S STATEMENT
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Faced with a complex and ever-changing market environment, the
Group actively adjusted its strategies to adapt to market changes and
seize policy opportunities. In the new stage of improving the quality and
efficiency of new urbanization, the Group closely adhered to the strategic
positioning of the Yangtze River Delta urban agglomeration in the national
“14th Five-Year Plan” and continued to release the future vitality of the
cities. The Company deepened its “4+X” business layout, forming an
ecological matrix with commercial property development, commercial
operations, hotel management, and industrial investment as the four
core business segments, and emerging industries such as new cultural
tourism, low-altitude economy, and industrial services (the “New Chain
Industries”) as extensions. A “golden circle” with strong synergy effects
has been formed among the segments. On the other hand, the Group
strengthened financial management, optimized debt structure, reduced
financing costs and ensured a stable capital chain. Through a series of
measures, the Group has maintained a stable operating trend during
market downturn and is well prepared for future market recovery.
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Commercial Property Development

Over the past year, the Group has more than 9 projects for sale,
mainly located in cities and regions across Zhejiang Province/
Yangtze River Delta region, and maintained a steady growth
in contracted sales. For the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group recorded contracted sales amount of approximately
RMB1,313 million, with contracted sales area of approximately
69,727 sg.m. and an average price of contracted sales area of
approximately RMB18,824 per sg.m.

Commercial Operations

With more than 20 years of dedication in the commercial property
industry, the Group has built a four-in-one business matrix of
“high-end landmark business + personalized theme business +
quality life operation + self-operated brand management”. As of
the end of the reporting period, the Group’s projects were mainly
located in Zhejiang Province and the Yangtze River Delta, and it
successfully built benchmark projects such as Xiaoshan Zhong An
Plaza, Yuyao Zhong An Square, and Zhonganli Jia Run Mansion. It
also innovatively launched industry-city integration models such as
Wenzhou Future Center and Xixi Future Industrial Park to achieve
coordinated development of diversified business. Driven by the
dual drive of increasing the value of existing assets and innovating
in asset-light models, the Group continued to deepen its strategic
layout. Through the full-chain model of “space + operation +
content”, the annual customer flow exceeded 15 million, among
which the customer flow of Xiaoshan Zhong An Plaza increased
by approximately 39% year-on-year and the Yuyao project
increased by approximately 11% year-on-year, evidencing the
effectiveness of the business upgrade. In addition, the Company
simultaneously deepened its user operations and innovated the
“online community + offline experience” membership system, with
81,786 new members added during the year (representing a year-
on-year increase of approximately 78.4%), significantly improving
community activity and building a moat of private traffic.
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Hotel Management

The Group’s Bright Hotels Group adhered to the strategic
positioning of “a brand with industry competitiveness in the mid-to-
high-end accommodation industry”. Currently, there are four self-
owned hotels in operation, namely Ningbo Bright Hotel, Huaibei
Bright Hotel, Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Bright Resort Hotel and
Zhong An Holiday Inn Hangzhou Xiaoshan with a total of 1,356
guest rooms and an operating area of approximately 210,000 sqg.m.
In 2024, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately RMB225
million, representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately
12.9% as compared to that of 2023. The hotel occupancy rate
was approximately 63%. The average price of a guest room was
RMB441. Among which, Ningbo Bright Hotel's total revenue and
operating profit both hit record highs, and its operating profit
margin increased to approximately 37%, staying at the forefront
in the business hotel market segment and becoming an industry
benchmark in the Yangtze River Delta region. This breakthrough
is the result of the synergy of the “4D management system”
(standardization, grid responsibility, systematic training, and refined
execution) and the asset-light strategy. The former is listed in the
industry innovation case database of the Zhejiang Hotel Industry
Internal Reference, and the latter has built a growth driver through
three major paths:

° firstly, the Group continued to expand the output of Bright
brand management, added 4 new entrusted management
projects to form a diversified product matrix covering high-
end business hotels, resort hotels and theme hotels;

o secondly, the Group deepened third-party strategic
cooperation, established a brand alliance with
InterContinental Hotels Group, and leveraged the cooperation
agreement to strengthen management service output
capabilities in Zhejiang province;

° thirdly, the Group simultaneously promoted the merger and
acquisition evaluation of high-quality targets and expand the
scale of hotel operations in multiple dimensions. The three
major initiatives jointly proved the core competitiveness of
“standardized management + replicable model”.
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At the strategic implementation level, the value chain was
reconstructed through a “dual-driven” strategy: vertically deepening
the 4D system to achieve standardized operations throughout
the entire process, and horizontally introducing the internationally
leading “CPI Four-Dimensional Positioning Planning” management
model. Based on the successful experience in Hangzhou, the
operating model was successfully replicated to regional projects in
Wenzhou, Yuyao, and Qiandao Lake through standardized output.

In terms of product innovation, we innovated a complex scenario
of “hotel + specialty catering + local culture”, built a differentiated
service ecosystem through business integration and localized
operations, and effectively enhanced customer loyalty and
consumer experience.

Looking to the future, the hotel management business segment
will take “brand value empowerment + digital operation” as its core
strategy, continue to explore “hotel +” business innovation, and
build new market competitive advantages through product iteration

and service upgrades.
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4. Development of New Business Chain

In terms of the development of the new chain industries, the Group
has fully integrated internal and external advantageous resources
to accelerate collaborative innovation in various industries. Among
which, the key layout of cultural tourism and low-altitude economy
segments have become the highlights of the year.

Cultural tourism operation: “rural operation” + “old street
operation”

The Group’s cultural tourism segment has been reconstructing
the logic of urban and rural development as an innovator. Through
strong resource integration capabilities as well as light-asset
operations and industrial chain collaboration as a fulcrum, the
Group leverages new momentum for regional value upgrades.

The business landscape of cultural tourism presented a three-
dimensional structure of “dual-driven + innovative increment”.
On the traditional business side, the two major pillars of “rural
operations” and “old street operations” continued to consolidate
the foundation. Rural operations created the brand of “beautiful
rural comprehensive operator” through the business combination of
ecological agriculture and cultural research. Old street operations
are based on the IP of “China Old Streets”. After the signing
of asset-light projects such as Dongsha Ancient Fishing Town
in Daishan, Zhoushan and Shanlian Old Street in Huzhou, the
investment attraction targets were all achieved by more than 100%,
which was highly recognized by the government and established
the benchmark position of historical and cultural street operations in

Eastern China.
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Driven by this business matrix, the cultural tourism segment
has continuously explored new “cultural tourism+” businesses,
forming an integrated ecosystem of cultural tourism + new media,
cultural tourism + short plays, cultural tourism + education, cultural
tourism + low altitude, cultural tourism + supply chain and O+EPC,
becoming a benchmark cultural tourism enterprise leading the
industry. In Changhe Old Street in Binjiang District, Hangzhou, the
century-old historical street has been transformed into a cultural
tourism complex through revitalization and transformation. This
“small but exquisite” operating model not only earned it the title
of “Hangzhou’s High-Quality Pedestrian Street”, but also created
an impressive annual customer flow of over 4 million and record
revenue, and was featured in CCTV reports five times.

Low-altitude economy: seize the dominant position of future
industries

The aviation segment of the Group (Zhong'an Aviation) keeps
pace with the development trend of the international low-altitude
economy. With a precise focus on “low altitude + cultural tourism”,
it successfully introduced Electric Vertical Take-off and Landing
aircraft (eVTOL) and conducted a test flight at the Hangzhou City
Balcony. In the future, Zhong’an Aviation will continue to explore the
practical application of eVTOL technology in inter-city commuting,
tourism and other scenarios, promote the rapid implementation of
the low-altitude economy industry chain, and seize the dominant
position of new quality productivity.
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PROSPECTS AND DEVELOPMENT
STRATEGIES

The Group will continue adhering to the strategy of “upgrading old
businesses while developing new business chain” by focusing on
improving return on assets, and enhancing operation efficiency through
the application of operational management and digital technology.
We also strive to enhance our investment return by optimising the
organisational structure for continuous cost reduction. Meanwhile, we will
utilise our existing business base to promote expansion in scale via light-
asset model and implement new business model to extend and optimise
our business chain so as to achieve the vision as a business operator of
“creating new and better living”.
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shareholders of the Company and the business partners of the Group for
their unfailing support and trust as well as to all the staff of the Group for
their dedicated efforts!

Shi Zhongan
Chairperson

The People’s Republic of China, 27 March 2025

China New City Group Limited
2024 Annual Report

Al 5= e 52 61 35 R SR B

FEEREBSRIRAEES  ERMEXIN
S BINRABERGESR EEEE
MEFEERMNERARESCENR  TBBE
{EAEBAE B R R R A BIRRERIREKVE
TR HARFABREEEER WEEE
EERRIE RN EXE B BBREXEEN
RS BREA RIERFMETEER)
BIBES °

g
FANBREEFTHAEAREANLH A

HHRENIZFNRDEE URFERE2EET
FEHE N TR O

R %
ZE

HEE A RHAE > 202553827H



LAND RESERVE

As at 31 December 2024, the total GFA of land reserves of the Group was

approximately 3,690,924 sg.m.

The following table sets forth a summary of the Group’s investment

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

BAYR

As at 31 December 2024 122024512531H

bl i

R2024F 128310 AEBBP LM FHEE £ =2

HEEL#3,690,924F 75K

TRV ESEFBEE2024F12831 BN EY

properties as of 31 December 2024: EME
Project Location Property type GFA
1HH 1 2% L ES =L BEEE
sqg.m.
FH5K
Investment Properties
REME
Guomao Building Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 12,061
El=b N AT BN [EES
Hidden Dragon Bay Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 18,053
R AT AN BELRAR
Highlong Plaza Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 63,593
(el AT BN [EES
Integrated Service Center Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 5,913
RERBHL AT AN BELRAR
International Office Center Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 56,099
BUPFRHE A AT BN [EES =y
La Vie Shanghai Commercial 341
Pk inbi! [EES
Landscape Garden Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 936
L7kt AT AN [EES
Xixi New City Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Commercial 16,680
PRI AT AN [EES
Yiwu Project Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province Commercial 45,812
#51EE AT AN [EES
Zhong An Square Yuyao, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 92,489
MRES AT ERTk BELRAR
Zhong An Times Square (Phase ) Yuyao, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 2,160
RERHES (—E) AT E ERTk [EES
Zhong An Times Square (Phase Il)  Yuyao, Zhejiang Province Integrated Commercial Complex 1,289
RERRES (CH) AT ERTk BELRAR
315,425
FEHIE T ERERAE

ZETNEFR
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MAJOR PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT AND/OR SALE
FTEEE I b, B B I 1 R oE

Project GFA of and
Project Location Property type Site area GFA land bank
HE#E TitifkeE
EHH 2 MERE Gt E A [k BEEA
SQ.m. SQ.m. sq.m.
5K FHK K
Projects Under Development
MEhIER
Bright Hotel Huaibei Huaibei, Anhui Commercial/Hotel 60,768 67,060 67,060
Province
EILRIRSEE ZEAE R GEYSES
Cixi New City Cixi, Ningbo Office/Commercial 197,655 510,125 5,345
BEMmT BEREE YN YA SES
Fashion Color City Hangzhou, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 26,087 78,261 7,023
Province Complex
BR% HLERIMN BRERAHE
Hangzhou Qiandao Lake Bright Hangzhou, Zhejiang Commercial/Hotel 119,398 46,691 46,691
Resort Hotel Province
MM T EHAREEREE ViipAR=Eypl GEYRES
Hidden Dragon Bay Hangzhou, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 89,173 241,695 39,386
Province Complex
PRREE HILETIMN BERARE
International Office Center (Plot A)  Hangzhou, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 92,610 798,795 471,963
Province Complex
BRI AL (Alt3) HLETIMN BRERAHE
International Office Center Hangzhou, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 207,390 1,098,065 1,098,065

(Plots B and C)
BRI AL (B3R K CHt5E)
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MAJOR PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT AND/OR SALE
FEPEBE R B, SR 5 I - 2k

Project GFA of and
Project Location Property type Site area GFA land bank
HEEE TitnfeE
EHH 2 MERE It E R [k BEEB
SQ.M. SQ.m. sQ.m.
THK FHK FHK
Projects Under Development (continued)
MEHIEE (@)
Long Ying Hui Gold Tower Hangzhou/Xiaoshan Commercial 12,819 44,867 28,244
(Beigan Project)
FERESRE (E81ER) N/ FE W EES
Tuankou Phoenix Mountain Hot Hangzhou, Zhejiang Commercial/Hotel 37,500 63,502 63,502
Spring Hotel Province
mOBELLERRBE HILEBHMN EEYES
Xinnongdu Hangzhou/Quzhou/ Residential/Commercial 991,736 1,217,335 1,063,476
Zhuji/Changxing
MR N B, EES G EE
RE
Xixi New City Hangzhou, Zhejiang Office/Commercial 39,703 83,391 665
Province
PRI HILETIMN YNC Y SES
Xuzhou New City Xuzhou, Jiangsu Integrated Commercial 154,802 562,371 562,371
Complex
RN T TLERIRMN BERARE
Zhong An Times Square (Phase |)  Yuyao, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 65,159 305,473 132,475
Province Complex
REERES (—H) piipAR=)-d BERARE
Zhong An Times Square Yuyao, Zhejiang Integrated Commercial 71,519 322,912 104,658
(Phase Iy Province Complex
RzRAES (ZH) HILBERDE BRGRAHE
3,690,924
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B B e Loy B

OVERVIEW

The Group is a large-scale enterprise integrating commercial development
and operation, hotel management, film and television, education, cultural
tourism and other industries, underpinned by ample commercial property
resources with its sector layout spanning across the country. Bolstered
by its forward-looking strategic vision and operating concepts that keep
abreast of the times, the Group has now developed into a remarkable
comprehensive commercial property developer in the Yangtze River
Delta Region. It has been recognised as a “China’s Top Ten Commercial

» oo«

Property Developer”, “China Top 100 Commercial Property Enterprises”,
“China’s Outstanding Real Estate Urban Renewal Enterprises” and
“China’s Top 10 Commercial Property Companies in Brand Value” among

others.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Focusing on the four major business segments of industrial property
development, commercial operations, hotel management, and industrial
investment as its core, the Group also diversifies its business layout
further in other emerging industries such as industrial services, rural
cultural tourism, wholesale of agricultural products with intelligent
approach, film and television education, and digital health. As such,
a “golden circle” with strong synergy and circulation effects has been
formed successfully between different segments.

Over the years, the Group has always adhered to prudent operations
and continued to improve operating efficiency leveraging on its diversified
industrial layout backed by strong urban development and operation
services and industrial resource integration capabilities. For the FY2024,
the Group’s consolidated revenue was approximately RMB4,103.8
million, representing a year-on-year increase of 216.3%; gross profit was
approximately RMB2,059.2 million, representing a year-on-year increase
of 459.4%, which is much higher than the revenue growth rate. The
gross profit margin is approximately 50.2%, representing an increase
of approximately 21.8 percentage points as compared to the FY2023.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total equity was approximately
RMB5,342.1 miillion. The carrying amount of cash was approximately
RMB886.1 million.

The Group’s turnaround from loss to profit for the FY2024 was mainly
attributable to the revenue recognised from properties delivered by the
Group for the International Office Centre (I0OC) project, which recorded
strong sales performance, during the FY2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Prospects and Outlook

The 2024 government work report of the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) delineates three pivotal tenets for China’s real estate sector:
risk mitigation, adherence to baselines, and market stabilization. This
policy framework supports the sector’s robust growth trajectory. Central
government policies will maintain their efficacy, with local governments
anticipated to refine their regulatory tactics. More importantly, the PRC
government reiterates its commitment to the reasonable financing
demands of real estate firms, heralding a more accommodative financing
climate for private and mixed-ownership entities.

As market supply-demand dynamics evolve, the resurgence of buyer
confidence and market sentiment is paramount. The real estate market is
projected to recover incrementally as economic conditions and household
incomes stabilize.

In this context, the Group will adhere to a prudent management ethos,
ensuring financial solidity and efficient resource integration. We will
vigorously pursue business innovation and steadfastly advance urban
renewal projects, invigorating cities. Within the existing property market,
we will explore innovative development paradigms to adeptly navigate
market fluctuations, maintaining the Group’s leading position in the
competitive landscape.

IIlII!!IIIi!ﬁi[iEiIiEiH =

B P o L7 B

ARKRRE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Y BRE ww ELo7 Hi

DEVELOPMENT OF MAJOR PROJECTS
Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province

Fashion Color City

It is located in Xinjie Village, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, It consists of
deluxe loft apartments, large flat floor apartments and shops, with a total
floor area of approximately 26,087 sg.m. and a total GFA of approximately
78,261 sg.m., and is for commercial purposes. The construction of the
project commenced in the third quarter of 2020 and the pre-sale started
in the fourth quarter of 2020. It was completed in 2023. The pre-sales
volume was within expectation during the year under review. As at the
date of this report, this project had been substantially sold out apart from
some car parking spaces and a few shops.

International Office Centre (I0C)

IOC is a large-scale integrated commercial complex located in Qianjiang
Century City (T tH4715), Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, comprising
serviced apartments, shopping malls and offices. The total site area of
Plot A for the project is 92,610 sg.m. and planned total GFA is 798,795
sg.m. The project is constructed in three phases, consisting of Plots A1,
A2 and A3, among which, Plot A3 was completed in 2015, comprising
serviced apartments, shops and underground car parking spaces with
a total GFA of approximately 327,996 sg.m. Plot A3 had been sold out
apart from a few units and car parking spaces. The construction of Plot
A2 commenced in 2019 with a total GFA of approximately 263,555 sg.m
and the pre-sale started in the third quarter of 2020. The sales volume of
Plot A2 was within expectation during the year under review.

Long Ying Hui Jin Zuo (Bin He Yin)

It is located in Beigan Technology Innovation Park, Xiaoshan District,
Hangzhou, and consists of large flat floors and shops, with a total floor
area of approximately 12,819 sg.m., and a total GFA of approximately
44,867 sq.m., and is for commercial purposes. The construction of the
project commenced in the fourth quarter of 2021 and the pre-sale was
started in the third quarter of 2022, which is expected to be completed in
2024. The pre-sales volume was within expectation during the year under
review. As at the date of this report, this project had been substantially
sold out apart from a few units and car parking spaces.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BRI B0 Mt

2024 Recognised Sales 2024FHESRIHE

For the FY2024, the recognised sales of properties sold and delivered 12202484 » B E R MYE T EHEDHE TR
were approximately RMB3,704,508,000 (FY2023: approximately #3735 AR 13,704,508,0007T (2023f44F : #9735 A
RMB825,373,000). For the FY2024, the total of the recognised GFA  K1§825,373,0007T) ° 11202481 4F » BFESRHIE
of properties delivered was approximately 119,695 sq.m. (FY2023: XfI#)Z4EREEBELN7119,695F 75K (2023
approximately 58,015 sq.m.). Details of the recognised sales of properties ¥4 : #958,0155 75K) ° B R 202404 F H & &

sold and delivered for the FY2024 are set out below: RUMEZ ERRIHEE SENFBEHIN T
2024 2023
20245 20234
(RMB million) (RMB million)

(ANRBEBE&ET) AREEED

International Office Centre (I0C) A2 B FR 3~ A (OC) A2 2,853.3 -
Long Ying Hui Jin Zuo (Bin He Yin) FE iR BE B GBFNEN) 373.9 =
Fashion Color City BRI 220.6 547.2
Hidden Dragon Bay [SEEE 193.8 226.4
Cixi New City BRI 46.1 38.9
Jia Run Mansion EN YN - 6.4
Xixi Manhattan (R =li=y 10.3 5.5
Commercial Plot 8 (Chaoyang Ginza) 85k P M IR (FARSIREE) 3.3 =
Yuyao Zhong An Times Square Phase I BRIk R Z R E S R 3.2 0.6
Xixi New City PRI ™ - 0.4

3,704.5 825.4

FEHIETERBRAE 21
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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2024 Contracted Sales

The contracted sales area of the Group was approximately 69,727 sqg.m.
for the FY2024 (FY20283: approximately 102,717 sg.m.) and contracted
sales revenue was approximately RMB1,312,600,000 for the FY2024
(FY20283: approximately RMB1,589,300,000). Details of the contracted
sales of the major projects for the FY2024 are set out below:

2024FE S FHE

2024 FE A E BN G RIHEmMBEL 569,727
753K (2023814 © 89102, 717F 5 K) » %2024
FEAREE WAL A AR1,312,600,00075
(2023871 F : 49 AR #1,589,300,0007T) ° &
P04 EFBEBN SR ENFHBHNT
%

Contracted Contracted GFA

amount sold
=G
AaREEE SHEmR
Projects City (RMB million) (sg.m.)
HH hiE NG =) (F7K)
International Office Centre A2 Hangzhou 674.7 13,791
B BEHE A DA U
Xinnongdu Hangzhou 176.1 26,338
g2 U
Fashion Color City Hangzhou 181.2 11,400
BRFZ 15 AN
Long Ying Hui Jin Zou (Bin He Yin) Hangzhou 193.9 8,510
FERE & RE CEANED) U
Cixi New City Cixi 57.2 8,443
RS BZ
Hidden Dragon Bay Hangzhou 12.6 296
ZREE U
Zhong An Times Square Phase |l Yuyao 3.4 -
ML ES BRIk
International Office Centre A3 Hangzhou 1.1 -
BB A A3 IRl
Others (Commercial) Hangzhou 12.4 949
Hith (F2%) U
1,312.6 69,727

22 China New City Group Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Land Reserve

As at 31 December 2024, the total GFA of land reserves held for
development and/or sale of the Group was approximately 3,690,924
sg.m. (as at 31 December 2023: approximately 3,836,135 sg.m.).

Hotel Management

As at the date of this report, there are four hotels under the management
of the Group, namely, Holiday Inn Hangzhou Xiaoshan, Qiandao
Lake Bright Resort Hotel, Ningbo Bright Hotel and Huaibei Bright
Hotel. For the FY2024, the hotel operation of the Group recorded a
revenue of approximately RMB224,586,000 (FY2023: approximately
RMB257,923,000), representing a decrease of approximately 12.9%
during the FY2024 mainly due to the weak market, and the hotel
occupancy rate dropped to approximately 63% (FY2023: approximately
69%).

Commercial Operation

The commercial operation income of the Group mainly comes from
the leasing income of Highlong Plaza, International Office Centre (I0OC),
Yiwu Zhong An Square and Yuyao Zhong An Square with types of
business including offices, shopping malls and community commercial
complexes. The total revenue from such leasing business for the
FY2024 was approximately RMB122,274,000 (FY2023: approximately
RMB110,712,000), representing an increase of approximately 10.4%.
The average occupancy rate of leasing properties (calculated by dividing
total lease area by total area available for lease) was approximately
81% (FY2023: approximately 86%). The growth in total revenue from
commercial operations this year was primarily driven by Yiwu Zhong An
Square and the opening of newly added community commercial projects.

5 PUE w w BEL 53 W

Tt

HE2024F 128310 xEBFERER
SHE M T 2 B R E R4 43,690,924
5K (7220239128318 : £93,836,135F /5 3K) °

BIEEE

HEARSHE AEBEEEUEAEERINE
WEBEAE N TFENBREERESE 2§
BIRAE BRI AT ALS o 120240 £ > &
EEBEEZERBIRALANREE224,586,0007T
(2023F 4 : 9 AR16257,923,0007) * H/ 4
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Y BRE ww ELo7 Hi

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS
REVENUE

The consolidated revenue of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB4,103,756,000 for the FY2024, representing an increment of
approximately RMB2,806,521,000 or 216.3% as compared to the
FY2023. It mainly resulted from the substantial increase in the revenue
from sales of commercial properties of approximately RMB2,879,135,000
as compared to FY2023. Among which, the International Office Centre
(I0C) A2 project contributed approximately RMB2,853,287,000 to
property sales.

GROSS PROFIT

The gross profit of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB2,059,209,000 for the FY2024, representing an increase of
approximately RMB1,691,112,000 or 459.4% as compared to
the FY2023. Gross profit margin of the Group for the FY2024 was
approximately 50.2%, enhanced by approximately 21.8 percentage points
as compared to the FY2023. The outperformance in gross profit was
mainly due to the increase in gross profit from the increase in property
sales.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET

The other income and gains, net of the Group amounted to
approximately RMB54,956,000 for the FY2024, representing an increase
of approximately RMB42,287,000 or 333.8% as compared to the
FY2023. The increase was mainly attributable to the Group recognizing
gain on disposal of right-of-use assets amounting to approximately
RMB24,402,000 from the termination of several leased assets in the
FY2024, and a year-on-year increase of approximately RMB13,413,000 in
interest income.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION
EXPENSES

The selling and distribution expenses of the Group amounted to
approximately RMB147,582,000 for the FY2024, representing a decrease
of approximately RMB24,397,000 or 14.2% as compared to the FY2023.
Such decline was attributable to the effective implementation of control
measures to reduce costs and increase efficiency by the Group.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The administrative expenses of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB120,407,000 for the FY2024, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB50,200,000 or 29.4% as compared to the FY2023.
Such decline was attributable to the effective implementation of control
measures to reduce costs and increase efficiency by the Group.

OTHER EXPENSES

The other expenses of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB95,250,000 for the FY2024, representing a increase of approximately
RMB35,353,000 or 59.0% as compared to the FY2023. The increase was
primarily due to an impairment provision for hotel assets of approximately
RMB49,141,000 during the year.

FINANCE COSTS

The finance costs of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB118,180,000 for the FY2024, representing an increase of
approximately RMB16,204,000 or 15.9% as compared to the FY2023.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

The profit attributable to the Group was approximately RMB485,768,000
for the FY2024, as compared to a net loss of approximately
RMB425,133,000 for the FY2023. Such profit for the FY2024 was mainly
due to the revenue carried forward from commercial property projects of
the Group in 2024, while sales of related properties generated EBIT of
approximately RMB1,776,220,000 during the FY2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Y BRE ww ELo7 Hi

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

The Group’s capital expenditure requirements mainly relate to additions
of its property and equipment. The Group spent approximately
RMB44,990,000 on property and equipment during the FY2024.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not hold any significant investments during the FY2024.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had aggregate cash and cash
equivalents and restricted cash of approximately RMB886,087,000 (as at
31 December 2023: approximately RMB384,164,000). The current ratio
(as measured by current assets to current liabilities) as at 31 December
2024 was 1.12 (as at 31 December 2023: 0.84).

As at 31 December 2024, the bank loans and other borrowings of the
Group repayable within one year and after one year were approximately
RMB1,072,160,000 and approximately RMB2,327,020,000, respectively
(as at 31 December 2023: approximately RMB584,860,000 and
approximately RMB2,534,180,000, respectively). As at 31 December
2024, except for certain bank and other borrowings amounting
to approximately RMB390,680,000 (as at 31 December 2023:
approximately RMB557,500,000) that bear interests at fixed rates, all
bank loans bear interests at floating rates.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s gearing ratio was 46% (as at 31
December 2023: 46%), which is net debt divided by capital plus net debt.
Net debt includes interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, trade
payables, other payables and accruals, and lease liabilities, less cash and
cash equivalents. Capital represents equity attributable to owners of the
parent.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank borrowings and other
borrowings of approximately RMB3,399,180,000 (as at 31 December
2023: approximately RMB3,119,040,000) were secured by the Group’s
pledge of assets as follows:

5 PUE w w BEL 53 W

HERH

120245128318 AEERITTER KR EME
A A N R 183,399,180,0007T (14202312531
H : 9 AR3,119,040,0007T) HAEE U TE
EERIEIER

As at 31  As at 31 December

December 2024 2023

%20245F 220234

12831H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ANERHEFT ANEEFT

Property and equipment LEVSESL 957,123 1,081,614
Investment properties KB 3,043,315 2,993,909
Properties under development FEEgasky/ES - 1,551,833
Completed properties held for sale FFHEBIE T = 2,328,953 =
6,329,391 5,627,356

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK AND
TREASURY POLICIES

Foreign exchange risk represents the risk to the Group’s financial
conditions and results of operations arising from fluctuations of foreign
exchange rate. The Group principally operates in the PRC and the
revenue, operating cost and borrowings were mainly denominated in
RMB. As a result, the Group has minimal exposure to exchange rate
fluctuation. The interest rates for the Group’s borrowings were both
floating and fixed. Upward fluctuations in interest rates will increase the
cost of borrowings.

The Group adopts conservative treasury policies in cash and financial
management. Cash is generally placed in short-term deposits mostly
denominated in RMB. The Group did not use any financial instruments for
hedging purposes for the FY2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s contingent liabilities were
approximately RMB359,727,000 (as at 31 December 2023:
approximately RMB363,960,000), which were mainly the guarantees
provided by the Group in favor of certain banks for the grant of mortgage
loans to purchasers of the Group’s properties.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s capital commitments for property
development expenditures amounted to approximately RMB160,697,000
(as at 31 December 2023: approximately RMB1,497,185,000). It is
expected that the Group will finance such capital commitments from its
own funds and bank loans.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a payment commitment of
approximately RMB80,000,000 which arose from a settlement deed (the
“Settlement Deed”) entered into between Zhejiang Zhongan Shenglong
Commercial Co., Ltd* (I IRLEEEEARLE) (“Zhong An
Shenglong”), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
the Company and Hangzhou Oriental Culture Tourism Group Co., Ltd.*
(MMNEAXIEEREEBEBRAB) (‘Hangzhou Oriental”) and
which became effective on 17 May 2024, pursuant to which, among other
things, Zhong An Shenglong was required to pay RMB210,000,000 to
Hangzhou Oriental by 30 June 2025. As at 31 December 2024, a sum of
RMB130,000,000 was fully paid by Zhong An Shenglong to Hangzhou
Oriental in connection with the above Settlement Deed. Further details
on the Settlement Deed were disclosed and set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 28 May 2024 and 5 August 2024, respectively,
and the Company'’s circular dated 18 October 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

HUMAN RESOURCES AND
REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 1,232 employees (as at 31
December 2023: 1,256). The employees’ remuneration policy was
determined by reference to factors such as remuneration information
in respect of the local market, the overall remuneration standard in the
industry, inflation level, corporate operating efficiency and performance
of the employees. The Group conducts performance appraisal once
every year for its employees, the results of which are applied to annual
salary review and promotion assessment. The Group’s employees are
considered for the entitlement of annual bonus according to certain
performance conditions and appraisal results. The Group also provides
continuous learning and training programs to its employees to enhance
their skills and knowledge, so as to maintain and enhance their
competitiveness.

STRATEGIES

The management has developed sound strategies to overcome the
abovementioned challenges and address the uncertainties faced by the
Group, including formulating effective marketing strategies and plans and
improving our products and services quality to consolidate our brand.
The Group will put more effort into formulating new policies, guidelines,
systems and processes to facilitate effective cost management, risk
management, internal control and sustainable environmental management
to enhance company management standards and corporate governance
standards. For growth strategy, the Group will focus on identifying
possible acquisitions with future development prospects and profitability
to improve the returns on assets. The Group will further emphasise
investor relations management, and continue to convey clearly the
operation vision, business updates and future development strategies
of the Group and other information to various stakeholders through
press conferences, roadshows, media delegation visits and one-on-one
analyst or investor interview and otherwise to strive for the recognition
and support from various stakeholders and obtain more resources for
business development and maximizing shareholders’ value.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Y BRE ww ELo7 Hi

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Employees, customers and suppliers are the key stakeholders who affect
the sustainability of our business. Engaging with those stakeholders will
not only help us understand the possible risks and opportunities to our
business, but also help us to mitigate risk and seize the opportunities in
the real market situation.

The Group believes that our people are critical factors to the Group’s
success and competitiveness in the market. As such, we adopted a share
option scheme on 20 May 2015 for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contributed to the success of the
Group’s operations.

Customer satisfaction with our services and products has profound
effects on our profitability. Our dedicated sales team constantly
communicates with our customers and potential customers to uncover
and create customer needs and help customers make informed
decisions. Grasping the market trend is the key for the Group to timely
adjust our operating strategies to meet the market demands.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING YEAR

There have been no significant events occurred after 31 December 2024
and up to the date of this report which require disclosure.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE ASPECTS

The Group has always been committed to maintaining the highest
environmental and social standards to ensure sustainable business
development. Our environmental, social and governance report is
prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Code set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and will be published on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange, respectively.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the
FY2024 (FY2023: Nil).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) and the senior
management of the Company are committed to maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance in safeguarding the interests of the
Shareholders and enhancing Shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Company recognises the importance of corporate culture which
is essential to our Group’s operations and long-term success. The
Company’s corporate culture is moulded by our core values:

- “manage with stability and prudence, accumulate steady progress”
- “people and morality-oriented”

The Board has integrated our core values throughout the Company’s
objectives, strategies and daily operations. Our corporate culture, as
guided by our core values, is well aligned with our Group’s mission to
empower urban development and to create a new and better urban
life. Also, the Board has ensured that our core values are implemented
throughout our organisation in furthering our corporate culture. It is the
Company’s belief that, in the achievement of its long-term objectives, it is
imperative to act by our core values. By so acting, the Company believes
that Shareholders’ value will be maximised in the long term and that its
employees, those with whom it does business and the communities in
which it operates will all benefit.

By upholding an optimal corporate culture, the Company is committed to
the continuous pursuit of performance excellence, business innovation,
sustainable corporate development and contributions to the communities
and cities which we serve.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company has adopted, in so far as they are applicable, the principles
and code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as the basis of the
Company’s corporate governance practices.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company had applied the
principles of and complied with the applicable code provisions contained
in the CG Code.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board comprised: (i) Mr
Shi Nanlu and Mr Jin Jianrong as executive Directors; (i) Mr Shi Zhongan,
and Ms Chen Jing (appointed on 31 December 2024) as non-executive
Directors; and (i) Mr Xu Chengfa, Mr Lam Yau Yiu and Mr Yuan Yuan as
independent non-executive Directors.

Ms Chen Jing, who was appointed as a non-executive Director on 31
December 2024, had obtained the legal advice as referred to in Rule
3.09D of the Listing Rules on 30 December 2024, and she has confirmed
she understood her obligations as a director of a listed issuer under the
Listing Rules.

The details of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 66 to 70 in this
annual report. To the best knowledge of the Company, other than as
disclosed in this annual report, there was no other relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships) among
members of the Board. A list of the Directors identifying their roles and
functions are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board had at all times met
the requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise, and the independent non-executive Directors had
at all times represented at least one-third of the Board in compliance with
the requirement of Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received from each current independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence in accordance with
the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board and
the nomination committee of the Company had assessed and considered
that all the independent non-executive Directors are independent in
accordance with the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board met regularly to
discuss the overall strategy and the operational and financial performance
of the Group. The Directors can attend meetings in person or through
other electronic means of communication in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles”).
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, a total of five Board meetings,
one annual general meeting and one extraordinary general meeting were
held. The individual attendance record of the Directors during the year

REE2024F12B31HIEFE RITEHER
BEELH —ARFBRAGR—RRBREFHFFIK
o E2024F12A3MBAIEFERESEHER

ended 31 December 2024 is tabulated as follows: HFEsesRm T ¢
Number of
attendance/
Number of Number of
attendance/ annual and
Number extraordinary
of Board general
meetings meetings
HEESEE HERREBEFRK
BERY S BRHXERE
Bxg BRRBER
EEXYE BFHXRER¥
Executive Directors WITES
Mr Shi Nanlu M B ST 5/5 2/2
Mr Jin Jianrong TEELLE 5/5 2/2
Non-executive Director JEHITES
Mr Shi Zhongan MR R4 4/5 1/2
Ms Chen Jing FREF L+
(appointed on 31 December 2024) (172024512831 HEZEF) - -
Independent non-executive Directors BIIERITES
Mr Xu Chengfa BRERE 5/5 2/2
Mr Lam Yau Yiu MR BT E 5/5 2/2
Mr Yuan Yuan RMSTE 5/5 2/2
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Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairperson and chief executive officer should be separated and should
not be performed by the same individual. The division of responsibilities
between the chairperson and chief executive officer should be clearly
established and set out in writing.

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and as at the date of this
annual report, the roles of the chairperson and chief executive officer were
separate and were not performed by the same individual as this ensures
better checks and balances and hence better corporate governance. The
role of the chairperson was performed by Mr Shi Zhongan, while the role
of the chief executive officer was performed by Mr Shi Nanlu.

The chairperson had held a meeting with all independent non-executive
Directors in the absence of executive Directors. No specific or other
issues had been raised or discussed as it had been concluded that all
issues which would be discussed had been properly dealt with in the
meetings of the Board.

Non-Executive Directors and Independent
Non-Executive Directors

The non-executive Director, Mr Shi Zhongan, has been appointed for a
term of 3 years commencing on 31 May 2014, which is automatically
renewable for a successive term of one year from the next day upon the
expiry of the appointment.

The non-executive Director, Ms Chen Jing, has been appointed for a term
of 3 years commencing on 31 December 2024, which is automatically
renewable for a successive term of one year from the next day upon the
expiry of the appointment.
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The independent non-executive Director, Mr Xu Chengfa, has been
appointed for a term of 3 years with effect from 31 May 2014, which is
automatically renewable for a successive term of one year from the next
day upon the expiry of the appointment.

The independent non-executive Director, Mr Lam Yau Yiu has been
appointed for a term of 3 years commencing on 17 February 2023, which
is automatically renewable for a successive term of one year from the next
day upon the expiry of the appointment.

The independent non-executive Director, Mr Yuan Yuan has been
appointed for a term of 3 years commencing on 24 April 2023, which is
automatically renewable for a successive term of one year from the next
day upon the expiry of the appointment.

All the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors
possess extensive academic, professional and/or industry expertise and
management experience and have provided their professional advice to
the Board.

Power of and Delegation by the Board

The Board operates and exercises its power in accordance with the
Articles. The Board focuses on overall corporate strategies and policies
with an emphasis on the business growth, financial performance
and corporate governance standard of the Group. It also decides on
matters such as annual and interim results, major transactions, director
appointments or re-appointments, investment policy, dividend and
accounting policies, and is responsible for developing, reviewing and
monitoring the policies and practices on corporate governance and legal
and regulatory compliance of the Group. In addition, the Board has also
specifically resolved that all transactions, contracts, or other matters of the
Group that are subject to the disclosure requirements in accordance with
the Listing Rules should be approved by the Board in advance.

The Board has delegated to the senior management to deal with day-
to-day operations and reviewed those arrangements on a periodic basis.
The senior management frequently reports back to the Board and obtains
prior approval from the Board before making decisions for key matters or
entering into any commitments on behalf of the Company.
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Appointment, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

The Articles provide that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy in the Board or as an additional member of the Board
shall hold office only until the next following general meeting of the
members of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at such
meeting.

In accordance with the Articles, at each AGM, one-third of the Directors
for the time being, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election. The Company may, at any general
meetings convened and held in accordance with the Articles, remove
a Director by ordinary resolution at any time before the expiration of his
period of office notwithstanding anything contrary in the Articles or in any
agreement between the Company and such Director and may by ordinary
resolution elect another person in his/her stead.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees and has delegated various
responsibilities to the committees, including the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”), the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) and the corporate governance committee (the “Corporate
Governance Committee”) of the Company. All the Board committees
perform their distinct roles in accordance with their respective terms
of reference which are available for inspection by the Shareholders on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties
and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.
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(i) Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises a total of three members,

being one executive Director, Mr Shi Nanlu, and two independent

non-executive Directors, Mr Xu Chengfa (Chairman) and Mr Yuan

Yuan.

The Company has adopted written terms of reference for

the Remuneration Committee. The role and function of the

Remuneration Committee of the Company include the following:

(@)

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment,
adopting the remuneration committee model set out in code
provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of non-executive Directors;

to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;
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(i)

Remuneration Committee (continued) (i)

(e) to review and approve the compensation payable to
executive Directors and senior management in connection
with any loss or termination of their office or appointment to
ensure that such compensation is determined in accordance
with relevant contractual terms and that such compensation
is otherwise fair and not excessive;

() to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that such arrangements are determined in accordance with
relevant contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and

appropriate;

(@ to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration;

(h)  to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group; and

0] to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

One meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held during the
year ended 31 December 2024. The Remuneration Committee
had reviewed the policies of remuneration packages of the Board
of Directors. No material matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules were required to be reviewed
or approved by the Remuneration Committee. The individual
attendance of the members of the Remuneration Committee during
the year ended 31 December 2024 is tabulated as follows:
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(ii) Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises a total of three members,

being one executive Director, Mr Shi Nanlu and two independent

non-executive Directors, Mr Xu Chengfa (Chairman) and Mr Yuan

Yuan.

The Company has adopted written terms of reference for the

Nomination Committee. The role and function of the Nomination

Committee are as follows:

(@)

to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives)
of the Board at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and select or make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorship;

to review the board diversity policy of the Company (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) and the progress on achieving the
objectives set for implementing the Board Diversity Palicy,
and to make disclosure of its review results in the corporate
governance report of the Company’s annual report;

to assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors;

to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to, among others, the appointment or re-appointment
of Directors and succession planning for Directors (in
particular, the chairperson and the chief executive officer of
the Company);
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(ii) Nomination Committee (continued)

U

to give full consideration to, among others, the skills and
expertise required from members of the Board and the
relevant requirements of the Listing Rules with regard to
Directors and such like in the discharge of the Nomination
Committee’s duties;

in respect of any proposed service contracts to be entered
into by any members of the Group with its director or
proposed director, which require the prior approval of the
Shareholders at general meeting under Rule 13.68 of the
Listing Rules, to review and provide recommendations to
the Shareholders (other than shareholders who are directors
with a material interest in the relevant service contracts and
their respective associates) as to whether the terms of the
service contracts are fair and reasonable and whether such
service contracts are in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole, and to advise Shareholders on how
to vote;

to ensure that on appointment to the Board, non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
receive a formal letter of appointment setting out what is
expected of them in terms of time commitment, committee
service and involvement outside meetings of the Board;

to conduct exit interviews with any Director upon their
resignation in order to ascertain the reasons for his/her
departure; and

to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board from time to time.

The Board has set the following measurable objectives

implementing the Board Diversity Policy:

when identifying suitably qualified candidates to become
Board members, it should be based on a series of diverse
aspects, including Board members with different background,
skills, regional and industry experience, race, gender and
other qualities, that are in balanced and complementary
with each other, creating synergy, and enabling the Board to
function effectively as a whole.
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(ii) Nomination Committee (continued)

The nomination procedures are as follow:

° candidates for directorship are selected by the Nomination
Committee subject to the review and approval of the Board in
accordance with the Articles.

° when reviewing the composition of the Board and
considering the nomination of new Directors, the Nomination
Committee will take into account the skills, regional and
industry experience, background, race, gender and other
qualities of potential candidates and also business needs of
the Company.

Based on the review by the Nomination Committee, the Nomination
Committee considers that the Company has achieved the
measurable objectives set for implementing the Board Diversity
Policy for the year ended 31 December 2024.

One meeting of the Nomination Committee was held during the
year ended 31 December 2024. The Nomination Committee had
reviewed the structure and the diversification policy of the Board of
Directors and had reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the Board Diversity Policy.

The individual attendance of the members of the Nomination
Committee during the year ended 31 December 2024 is tabulated
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Number of attendance/
Number of meetings
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Mr Shi Nanlu R B ST A 1/1
Mr Xu Chengfa BERETE 1/1
Mr Yuan Yuan RHTE 1/1
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(iii) Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises a total of three members,

being three independent non-executive Directors, Mr Lam Yau
Yiu (Chairman), Mr Yuan Yuan and Mr Xu Chengfa. Mr Lam Yau
Yiu possesses the appropriate professional qualification, and

accounting and financial management expertise.

The role and functions of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@)

to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal
of the external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and
other terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any
questions of its resignation or dismissal;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards. The Audit Committee
should discuss with the auditor the nature and scope of the
audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences;

to discuss with the auditor the nature and scope of the
audit and reporting obligations and ensure co-ordination
where more than one audit firm is engaged before the audit
commences;

to develop and implement policy on engaging an external
auditor to supply non-audit services. For this purpose,
“external auditor” includes any entity that is under common
control, ownership or management with the audit firm or any
entity that a reasonable and informed third party knowing
all relevant information would reasonably conclude to be
part of the audit firm nationally or internationally. The Audit
Committee should report to the Board, identifying and
making recommendations on any matters where action or
improvement is needed;
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(iii) Audit Committee (continued)

Review of the Company’s financial information

()

to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and annual report and accounts, interim report and, if
prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and to review

significant financial reporting judgments contained in them;

in reviewing these reports (the Company’s annual report and
accounts, interim report and, if prepared for publication,
quarterly report) before submission to the Board, the Audit

Committee should focus particularly on:

(i) any changes in accounting policies and practices;

(ii) major judgmental areas;

(i) significant adjustments resulting from the audit;

(iv)  the going concern assumption and any qualifications;

(v)  compliance with accounting standards;

(v compliance with the Listing Rules and legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;

(vi)  the fairness and reasonableness of any connected
transaction and the impact of such transaction
on the profitability of the Group and whether such
connected transactions, if any, have been carried out in
accordance with the terms of the agreement governing
such transactions;
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(iii) Audit Committee (continued)

(viil

()

()

whether all relevant items have been adequately
disclosed in the Group’s financial statements and
whether the disclosures give a fair view of the Group’s
financial conditions;

any significant or unusual items that are, or may need
to be, reflected in such reports and accounts; and

the cash flow position of the Group;

and to provide advice and comments thereon to the Board;

(@ inregard to (e) and (f) above:

M

(i)

members of the Audit Committee should liaise with the
Board and senior management of the Group and the
Committee must meet, at least twice a year, with the
Company'’s auditor; and

the Audit Committee should consider any significant
or unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected
in the reports and accounts, it should give due
consideration to any matters that have been raised
by the Company’s staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function, compliance officer or
auditor;

(h)  to discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim

and final audits, and any matters the auditor may wish to

discuss (in the absence of management where necessary);

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIS

(i) BZEG (@

(vii) FEBEBFHHRERESEHHR
BEFMERARMER kEE RN
CREERTH T REAERDN
BRI

(ix) ETEZFRERIKREPATBR
AT AEZA R BRI E R E AT

SEERE &

x  EEEFERELGNR

WritREESREEERER ;

@)

bt BROEMES :

) BREEENERHEEETR
FEENSREEAERE-
LZEEAREVEFRLATHN
ZEETREM AR ; &

(i) BEEEEREENZIRE
Fe R B PR R BREN PI AE 7 R BR
NERNEANFEEEE L
BEEEEEMNEEIATEE
SR BERBE BERE
EZHENR LAY EIR ;

SN RTHTERFEEZ
FRi@ ERRMBERIEHARE UKk
R AR ENRNERNER (B
BEFERBERMEARFILFH

&) 5

FEHIETERBRAE
ZETNEFR

15



16

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(iii) Audit Committee (continued)

Overseeing the Company’s financial reporting system, risk

management and internal control systems

U

to review the Company’s financial controls and, unless
expressly addressed by a separate Board risk committee,
or by the Board itself, to review the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems;

to discuss the risk management and internal control systems
with management to ensure that management has performed
its duty to have effective systems. This discussion should
include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function;

to consider major investigation findings on risk management
and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or
on its own initiative and management’s response to these
findings;

where an internal audit function exists, to ensure co-
ordination between the internal and external auditor, and to
ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and has appropriate standing within the Company, and to
review and monitor its effectiveness;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to review the external auditor's management letter, any
material queries raised by the auditor to management about
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control
and management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor's management letter;

to conduct exit interviews with any Director, manager,
financial controller or internal credit control manager upon
their resignation in order to ascertain the reasons for his
departure;
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(iii) Audit Committee (continued)

@

to prepare work reports for presentation to the Board and to
prepare summary of work reports for inclusion in the Group’s
interim and annual reports;

to consider the appointment of any person to be a Audit
Committee member, auditor and accounting staff either to
fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Audit Committee
member, auditor and accounting staff or dismissal of any of
them;

to report to the Board on the matters set out above;

to review arrangements employees of the Company can use,
in confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters. The
Audit Committee should ensure that proper arrangements
are in place for fair and independent investigation of these
matters and for appropriate follow-up action;

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the

Company’s relations with the external auditor; and

to consider other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board from time to time.

A total of two meetings of the Audit Committee were held during

the year ended 31 December 2024. The work performed by the

Audit Committee included the following:

reviewed the annual report and annual results announcement
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023;

reviewed the interim report and interim results announcement
of the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2024;

reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and other financial reporting matters;

reviewed the results of external audit and had discussion with
external auditor on any significant findings and audit issues;
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(iii)

(iv)

Audit Committee (continued)

— reviewed the internal control reports and had discussion
with internal control consultant on any significant findings
and internal control issues for the first half of the year under
review;

- reviewed the internal control reports and had discussion with
internal auditor on any significant findings and internal control
issues for the second half of the year under review;

- discussed with the external auditor before the audit
commenced, the nature and scope of the audit and the
respective relevant issues; and

- considered and approved the service contract of the auditor
for the year under review.

The individual attendance of the members of the Audit Committee
during the year ended 31 December 2024 is tabulated as follows:
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Number of attendance/
Number of meetings

HERY EHERK

Mr Lam Yau Yiu MERBTE
Mr Xu Chengfa BRETE
Mr Yuan Yuan RHSTE

Corporate Governance Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee comprises a total of three
members, being one executive Director, Mr Shi Nanlu (chairperson
of the Corporate Governance Committee) and two independent
non-executive Directors, Mr Lam Yau Yiu and Mr Yuan Yuan. The
role and functions of the Corporate Governance Committee include
the following:

(@) to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to
the Board;
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(iv) Corporate Governance Committee
(continued)

(b)

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with the code
provisions of the CG Code and the disclosures in the
Corporate Governance Report.

One meeting of the Corporate Governance Committee was

held during the year ended 31 December 2024. The Corporate

Governance Committee had discussed and reviewed the Board’s

and the Group’s compliance with the code provisions of the CG

Code and the prevailing Listing Rules during the year ended 31
December 2024.

The individual attendance of the members of the Corporate
Governance Committee during the year ended 31 December 2024
is tabulated as follows:
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Further details of the terms of reference of Board committees are

available on websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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INDEPENDENT VIEWS TO THE BOARD

The Company recognises that independence on the Board is a key
element of good corporate governance. The Company has established
mechanisms to ensure independent views and input are available to
the Board for enhancing objective and effective decision-making. These
mechanisms in place are subject to annual review by the Board, including
without limitation:

(@ the Nomination Committee will assess the independence,
qualification and time commitment of a candidate who is
nominated to be a new independent non-executive director
before appointment and also the continued independence of the
independent non-executive Directors and their time commitments
annually;

(o)  the Nomination Committee will conduct performance evaluation of
the independent non-executive Directors annually to assess their
contributions;

(c) the independent non-executive Directors can express their
views in an open, candid as well as confidential manner, should
circumstances require, through formal and informal channels,
including meetings with the Chairman of the Company without
the presence of the other Directors to discuss any major issues
and concerns, dedicated meeting sessions with the Chairman of
the Company and interaction with management and other Board
members including the Chairman of the Company outside the
boardroom; and

(d)  Directors may, upon reasonable request to the Chairman, seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at
the reasonable expense of the Company to assist them to perform
their duties to the Company.

The Board has conducted an annual review of the implementation
and effectiveness of these mechanisms and considered that they are
satisfactorily implemented and are effective.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out the
approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The Company recognises
the importance of having a diverse Board and embraces the benefits of
having a diverse Board to maintain a competitive advantage and achieve
sustainable growth for the Group.

All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits
of diversity on the Board. Selection of candidates for directorship will be
based on a range of diversity aspects based on the Board Diversity Policy,
including but not limited to culture and background, race, gender, skills,
regional and industry experience, qualification, leadership and professional
ethics and against the objective criteria set out by the Board.

The Nomination Committee will disclose the composition of the Board
in the corporate governance report of the Company every year and
monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination
Committee will review the progress on achieving the objectives set for
implementing the Board Diversity Policy annually to ensure the continued
effectiveness of the Board, and will make disclosure of its review results in
the corporate governance report of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised 6 male
members and 1 female member, with 3 Directors of age 41 to 50 years
old, 1 Director of age 51 to 60 years old, 2 Directors of age 61 to 70
years old and 1 Director of age 71 years old or above. The Company has
reviewed the composition, membership and structure of the Board, and is
of the opinion that the Board has an appropriate mix of skills, experience
and diversity that are relevant to the Company’s strategy, business and
governance and to enable the Company to maintain high standard of
operation. The Company is conscious of maintaining Board diversity with
an appropriate level of female members on the Board. As at the date
of this annual report, the Board had six male members and one female
member and it considers that the current gender diversity on the Board
level is satisfactory. The Company has implemented comprehensive
programmes aimed at identifying and training on female employees who
display leadership and potential, with the goal of promoting them to the
senior management of the Group and developing a pipeline of potential
successors to the Board to achieve gender diversity.
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a balanced gender ratio in its
workforce (including senior management) of 48:52 (female:male). The
Board considers that the current gender ratio in the Group’s workforce
(including senior management) is appropriate for its operations and the
Group will aim to continue to maintain gender diversity in its workforce.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL SYSTEM

The Group recognizes that good risk management is essential for
the long-term and sustainable growth of a business. The Board
places particular emphasis on determining the risk-tolerance levels in
achieving the Group’s strategic objectives and is responsible for the
risk management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss. The management also learns from other outstanding companies
and takes into consideration the Company’s unique business and
operating environment in formulating the risk management and control
framework. All employees are committed to continually enhancing the risk
management framework, linking it to our corporate strategies as well as
integrating it into day-to-day operation.

Objective of the Risk Management and Internal
Control

The objectives of the risk management and internal control framework of
the Group include:

° to strengthen the Company’s risk management and internal control
in compliance with the Listing Rules requirement;

° to establish and constantly improve the risk management and
internal control system;

° to implement a top-down and company wide risk management
system that covers every aspect of the business; and

o to keep baseline risks within the acceptable range.
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Main Features of Risk Management System -
Three-tier Risk Management Approach

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach to
identify, assess, mitigate and handle significant risks. At the first line of
protection, business units are responsible for identifying, assessing and
monitoring risks associated with each business or deal. The management,
as the second line of defense, defines sets of rules and models, provides
technical support, develops new systems and oversees portfolio
management. It ensures risks are within the acceptable range and that the
first line of protection is effective. As the final line of protection, the internal
audit department ensures that the first and second lines of protection are
effective through constant inspection and monitoring.

Main Features of Internal Control System

Qur internal control systems are developed with reference to the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
principles which involves five elements: internal environment, risk
assessment, control activities, information and communication and
internal supervision. The aim of internal control is to reasonably guarantee
the compliance of the Company’s operation and management with the
relevant regulations and laws, asset security, the authenticity and integrity
of its financial report and related information, improve the efficiency
and effect of operating activities, and promote the realization of the
development strategy of the Group.
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Principal Risks and Key Controls

1.

Market risks

The Group’s revenue is mainly derived from customers from the
PRC. The Group is exposed to the risks associated with the PRC
market which include the risks of policy change, interest rate
change, demand-supply imbalance and the overall economic
conditions. The market risks may pose an adverse impact on the
Group’s business, financial condition or results of operations.

The project team will carefully scrutinize each project for
related risks and returns. These include assessment of relevant
government policies, market demand and conditions and economic
data. The management is responsible for supervising, conducting
regular operation reviews and keeping the Board fully informed
through regular reports, allowing for prompt decisions to be made if
changes are required.

Business and operational risks

Distinctive risk factors in property related businesses such as
default of buyers, tenants and strategic business partners, and
inadequacies or failures of internal processes, people and systems
may have different levels of negative impact on the results of the
Group’s operation. Industrial accidents may happen although
precautionary measures are established, which may damage the
Company'’s reputation or cause financial loss to the Group.

The internal audit team will review key activities of the Group and
ensure all material controls, including financial and operational, are
functioning effectively. Precautionary and contingency measures are
also set up to ensure the Group is protected against major potential
loss, damage or impact to our operations. Insurance coverage
against accidental losses and/or other hazards is used in protecting
our assets and reputation against any potential liabilities.
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Financial risks

Investments and business operations are exposed to risks from
exchange rates, interest rates and liquidity. Amid global financial
uncertainties, the financial risks encountered by the Group had
increased accordingly.

The Group closely monitors the financial risks and when appropriate
will adopt measures to manage and hedge corresponding risks by
using derivatives such as interest rate and currency swaps. The
Group’s cash and financing are centrally managed and controlled at
the corporate level to achieve better borrowing terms and coherent
financial risk management. To meet our obligations as and when
needed, the Group maintains sufficient facilities with various banks
and financial institutions. The maturity of deposits and loans is
carefully planned and managed to reduce liquidity risk.

Talent risks

Talent shortage and high employee turnover will have a negative
impact on the Group’s present and future performance. We believe
that human resources are of critical importance for the success of
the Company.

To attract, motivate and retain talented employees, the Group
evaluates our employee remuneration packages and monitor them
against market trends. We provide on-the-job training for new staff
and offer career advancement opportunities for suitable staff to
develop their full potential at various stages of their career. We also
encourage communication with all levels of staff to gather feedback
and suggestions for future improvement.
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Review of Internal Control System

The internal audit department of the Company (the “Internal Audit
Department”) in the year under review was responsible for the internal
control functions. The Internal Audit Department is required to provide
internal control assessment reports to the Audit Committee and the Board

on a regular or ad hoc basis.

The Board recognized its responsibility to ensure the Group maintains a
sound and effective risk management and internal control system. The
Directors had conducted a review of the effectiveness of the systems
of risk management and internal control of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2024. Such review had covered all material
controls including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions. No major issues, except for areas of
improvement, have been identified. The Board and the Audit Committee
considered that the key areas of the Group’s internal control systems are
reasonably implemented.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INSIDE INFORMATION

The procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination
of inside information are as follows:

° the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and
Future Commission in June 2012;

° the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair
disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial
reporting, public announcements and its website;

° the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorized use of confidential or
inside information;
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° the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs, so that
only the executive Directors of the Company, company secretary
and investor relations officers are authorized to communicate with
parties outside the Group; and

. employees or Directors possessing inside information should
report the same to an executive Director, who will then report to
the Board. The Board will then discuss and handle the relevant
disclosures or dissemination of inside information accordingly.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The appointment and removal of the company secretary is subject to the
Board’s approval in accordance with the Articles.

Mr Lin Caihe (“Mr Lin") has been appointed as the company secretary
(the “Company Secretary”) and financial controller of the Company
since 15 September 2023. Mr Lin meets the qualification requirements for
company secretary under Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules.

The Company Secretary is responsible for advising the Board through the
chairperson and/or the chief executive officer on governance matters and
assisting the Board in discharging its obligations to Shareholders pursuant
to the Listing Rules. He is also responsible for ensuring that the activities
of the Board conducted efficiently and effectively, and procedures and all
applicable laws and regulations complied with, and facilitating induction
and professional developments of the Directors. During the year ended 31
December 2024, Mr Lin has confirmed that he had taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for the preparation
of accounts which give a true and fair view of the Group. The Company
has selected appropriate accounting policies and has applied them
consistently based on prudent and reasonable judgments and estimates.

During the year under review, all Directors have been given on a quarterly
basis the latest information report about the financial position and
business development of the Group. The Directors endeavor to ensure
a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s position
and prospects in annual reports, interim reports, inside information
announcements and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules
and other statutory requirements.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities on the accounts of the Group is set out in the section
headed “Independent Auditor's Report” in this annual report.

OPERATION OF MEETING AND SUPPLY
OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Notice of at least 14 days should be given of a regular board meeting to
give all directors an opportunity to attend. For all other board meetings,
reasonable notice should be given.

Board or committee papers will as far as practicable be sent to all
Directors at least three days before the intended date of a Board meeting
or a Board committee meeting.

Management has supplied the Board and its committees with adequate
information and explanations so as to enable them to make an informed
assessment of the information put before the Board and its Board
committees for approval. Management is also invited to join the Board or
Board committee meetings where appropriate.

Draft and final version of minutes of the meetings should be sent to all
Board and Board committee members for their comment and records.
Minutes of the meetings are kept by our Company Secretary, and the
Board and Board committee members may inspect the documents and
minutes of the Board and the Board committees at any time.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The audit fee of the Group in respect of audit services provided by the
independent auditor, Ernst & Young, for the year ended 31 December
2024 was RMB1,550,000 (2023: RMB1,680,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the independent auditor was
also engaged to review the interim results of the Company at a fee of
RMB420,000 (2023: RMB420,000) and no other non-audit services took
place (2023: Nil).

NON-COMPETE UNDERTAKINGS

Each of the controlling shareholders and the Company entered into
the Amended Non-Compete Undertakings to amend the Existing Non-
Compete Undertakings, which will supersede and replace in its entirety
the Existing Non-Compete Undertakings. In summary, pursuant to the
Amended Non-Compete Undertakings, any member of the Zhong An
Group will be entitled to be engaged in property management business
(including but not limited to residential, commercial or mixed commercial-
residential use properties and related ancillary services, and for the
avoidance of doubt, does not include operations and management
of hotels and cinemas) in the PRC, and the Group will no longer be
engaged in any property management business (excluding operations
and management of hotels and cinemas) in the PRC. Please refer to the
circular dated 5 March 2021 for details.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

The Company had arranged liability insurance for Directors and senior
management officers of the Company with appropriate coverage in
respect of legal action against them arising from their duties performed.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

In compliance with the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company updates Directors on
the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements from time to time to ensure compliance and
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.

According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of training
received by Directors during the year under review is as follows:

Name of Directors

EFHERRER

RBTEEREARTRTREXECA.41% P
FEFHR2EBBESXER SEUBHRS
BRI e BE o AR B AR M E R R L HAHR
DU A B R E R E B R BN » LU IR
EFETRENEEETATR URAENRYT
TEELRERVEH-

REBEEFREHENCE RRBEFERN  EFME
ZREIIBENT

Type of continuous
professional development

EEHL FEEEEESER
Executive Directors HITES

Mr Shi Nanlu ezl e B
Mr Jin Jianrong EERESE B
Non-executive Director EHITES

Mr Shi Zhongan ik B
Ms Chen Jing (appointed on 31 December 2024)  BREFZ & (722024F 12331 HER D) B/C
Independent Non-executive Directors BIIERITES

Mr Xu Chengfa BRETE A/B
Mr Lam Yau Yiu MRS E A/B/C
Mr Yuan Yuan RMEE A/B
Notes: Mk -

A: attending briefing sessions and/or seminars relating to matters in financial, legal ~ A: HEAEVE AR RCEERFANENE R

and corporate governance

B: reading seminar materials and updates relating to the latest development of the

Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements

C: participating in trainings provided by law firm and trainings relating to the business

of the Group
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MECHANISM FOR THE PROPERTY
DEVELOPMENT ON MIXED-USE LANDS

In relation to the mechanism for the property development on Mixed-
use Lands (as defined in the prospectus of the Company dated 16 June
2014 (“Prospectus’”)), each of Zhong An together with its subsidiaries
(the “Zhong An Group”) and the Company has undertaken to each
other that it must, in respect of each of its financial year ending after the
Listing, instruct its auditor or independent financial advisers to review
such documents as the auditor or independent financial advisers may
require and confirm to its board of directors that the mechanism set out
in the section headed “Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders —
Joint property development on mixed commercial-residential use land
projects” in the Prospectus had been complied with during such financial
year. During the year under review, the Directors confirm that there has
not been any occasion where an opportunity aroused for an acquisition
and development of land for property development project on mixed
commercial-residential use land projects in which the remaining Zhong
An Group (i.e. Zhong An Group, excluding the Group) (the “Remaining
Zhong An Group”) has invited the Group to participate in the Joint
Development (as defined in the Prospectus).

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules.

Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, all Directors have
confirmed that they had complied with the required standard set out in
the Model Code and the Company’s code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions during the year under review.

Senior management who, because of their office in the Group, are likely
to be in possession of inside information, have also been requested
to comply with the provisions of the Model Code when dealing in the
Company’s shares.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening Extraordinary General Meeting and
Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’
Meetings

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles, extraordinary general meetings shall
be convened on the written requisition of any one or more Shareholders
made to Directors or the Secretary specifying the objects of the meeting,
provided that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition shall not hold less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If the Board does not within 21 days from the
date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting,
the requisitionist(s) themselves may convene such meeting in the same
manner and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.

Procedures for Proposing a Person for Election
as a Director

Pursuant to article 110 of the Articles, if a shareholder, who is entitled to
attend and vote at the relevant general meeting, wishes to nominate a
person (not being the nominating shareholder) to stand for election as a
Director, he or she should lodge at the head office or at the registration
office of the Company notice in writing of the intention to propose a
person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that person of his
or her willingness to be so elected at least 7 clear days before the date of
such general meeting and the period for lodgment of such notices shall
commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of such
general meeting appointed for such election and shall be at least 7 clear
days in length.

Detailed procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as
a Director are available on the Company’s website.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company attaches great importance to communication with
the Shareholders. A number of means are used to promote greater
understanding and dialogue with the Shareholders. The means of access
includes the dissemination by the Company of corporate communications
via the website of the Stock Exchange and the website of the Company
(http://www.chinanewcity.com.cn). Shareholders are encouraged by
the Company to attend general meetings of the Company where the
chairperson of the Company and other members of the Board and
(if appropriate) the auditor of the Company, are available to answer
questions.

In addition, our chairperson, Directors and senior management actively
participated in various investor relations activities to reach and establish
a good long-term interactive relationship with shareholders and potential
investors. We introduced our current operating conditions and future
development strategies and at the same time also received advices from
investors regarding the Company’s development, from which we had a
better understanding of investors’ expectations of the Company. Thereby,
we can continue to improve the operation management of the Company
and establish effective mutual communication channels.

Enquiries and Proposals to the Board

Shareholders are encouraged to communicate with the Company for any
enquiries in relation to the affairs of the Group. Shareholders may contact
the Company in writing to the Company’s head office in the PRC or the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong or by e-mail to cnc_
ir@chinanewcity.com.cn or direct any enquiries to the Company’s investor
relations representative, Capital Markets Department, whose contact
details are set out in the annual report of which this report forms part.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Annual General Meeting

The 2024 annual general meeting was held on 6 June 2024 at Crystal
Hall, 4th Floor, Holiday Inn Hangzhou Xiaoshan, No. 688 Shanyin
Road, Xiaoshan District, Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, the PRC. The
Directors and senior management together with the external independent
auditor attended the annual general meeting to answer enquiries from
shareholders and investors attending the meeting. All ordinary resolutions
proposed in the meeting were duly passed by way of poll.

Regular Meetings with Investors

During the year under review, the Directors, senior management and
investor relations team have meetings with investors, fund managers and
financial analysts from time to time, introducing the operating conditions
and development strategies of the Company and answered the questions
raised. The Company provides the investors and analysts with clear
and timely compliance information to enable them to make reasonable
investment decisions with sufficient information.

Investor Relations Plan

In 2025, we will continue to enhance communication with investors in
accordance with the needs and concerns of investors and analysts.
It is expected that multiple activities for investors will be conducted in
the coming 2025 through field trips, non-deal roadshows, one-to-one
meetings and publishing voluntary disclosure announcements to investors
in order to enhance their understanding of the Group.

Should investors have any inquiries and/or suggestions, please contact us
at cnc_ir@chinanewcity.com.cn.
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The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy of the Company. The Board is of
the view that the shareholders’ communication policy was adequate and
effective during the year ended 31 December 2024, having considered
the communication channels in place to provide the Shareholders and
the investor community with information about the latest development of
the Group in a timely manner, and the various communication channels
established by the Company between itself and its Shareholders,
investors and other stakeholders to allow the Company to receive
feedback effectively.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no amendment made to the memorandum of association and
the Articles of the Company during the year under review.

For and on behalf of the Board
China New City Group Limited

Shi Zhongan
Chairperson
The People’s Republic of China, 27 March 2025
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr Shi Nanlu (MR85 4E), aged 42, is an executive Director and the
chief executive officer of the Company (appointed on 3 April 2020). He
is the chairman of the corporate governance committee and a member
of the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the
Company. He is responsible for the daily operation and management,
strategic investments and new business exploration of the Group. He
joined Zhong An Group Limited (the “Zhong An Group”), a company
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (stock code: 00672), in June 2010. He had served as the
manager of the capital management department, manager of the fund
management department and deputy director of the Zhong An Group. He
has many years of experience in financial management. Mr Shi resigned
from all of his management positions in the Zhong An Group prior to
joining the Group. He has been a vice president of the Group since
June 2015. Mr Shi received his undergraduate degree in finance and
accounting from The University of Manitoba in Canada in June 2007.

Mr Jin Jianrong (EEE%%4%), aged 56, has been appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 5 May 2023. He is responsible for the
construction works and project development management of the Group.
Mr. Jin has over 36 years of experience in property and construction
industry. Since his graduation from the Zhejiang Township Industrial
School* GHT48$E T2 24%) in March 1987, he had worked in various
construction and real estate development companies in the People’s
Republic of China from September 1987 to September 2004, serving in
various role including construction worker, construction manager, tender
team leader and project manager in multiple property construction and
development projects. In September 2004, Mr. Jin joined the Zhong
An Group. He has since served as a construction manager and project
manager in multiple commercial and residential property development
projects of the Zhong An Group. Since 2003, Mr. Jin has been appointed
as a member of the Tender Evaluation Experts Base of Xiaoshan* (& L3

RIFTEERE).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Non-executive Directors

Mr Shi Zhongan (BEiFR% %), aged 62, is a non-executive Director
and chairperson of the Board (appointed as a Director on 2 July 2013 and
re-designated as non-executive Director on 30 September 2013). He is
responsible for assisting the Board in the strategic planning of the Group,
leading the Board to ensure that it will perform its roles and carry out its
responsibilities effectively, and ensuring proper corporate governance
practices and procedures are implemented within the Group. However,
he does not participate in the day-to-day management of the business
operations of the Group.

Mr Shi has over 31 years of experience in property development and
property investment. Mr Shi currently serves as an executive director
and the chairman of the board of directors of the Zhong An Group and
Zhong An Intelligent Living Service Limited (stock code: 2271) (‘Zhong
An Intelligent”), respectively. Mr Shi served as a tax officer in the finance
and revenue bureau of Xiaoshan District of Hangzhou (formerly known as
Xiaoshan City) and the general manager of Hangzhou Xiaoshan Milkyway
Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. Mr Shi completed an Executive
Master of Business Administration Program (Finance Track) organised by
Shanghai National Accounting Institute and obtained a CFO Qualifying
Training Certificate in June 2007. From 2005 to 2006, Mr Shi completed
a program for executive officers, focusing on globalisation and real estate
developers, co-organised by Harvard University, Tsinghua University, The
University of Hong Kong and the United States Military Academy and a
program for presidents of real estate companies organised by Zhejiang
University in July 2006. Mr Shi obtained a doctoral degree of business
administration program jointly organised by Shanghai Advanced Institute
of Finance (SAIF) and W. P. Carey School of Business, Arizona State
University (ASU) in the US in May 2017. Mr Shi is also a director of certain
members of the Zhong An Group (excluding the Group) and the Group.
Mr Shi is the sole director and the sole shareholder of Whole Good
Management Limited, which is the controlling shareholder of the Group.
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Ms Chen Jing (BE% ), aged 41, is a non-executive Director
(appointed on 31 December 2024). She has over 19 years of experience
in human resources management. In May 2005, Ms Chen was appointed
as the manager of the general management department of the Zhong
An Group. In November 2012, Ms Chen was appointed as the director
of the human resources and administration department of Zhong An
Intelligent. In February 2021, Ms Chen was appointed as the assistant
to the president and general manager of the human resources and
administration department of the Zhong An Group. Ms Chen obtained
an executive master of business administration from the Université de
Montpellier in July 2024 and the professional qualification of senior
human resources management specialist (Z#k A B REILEN) from
the Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security of the People’s
Republic of China (F#E ARFEMEADE R EZIRESR) . Ms Chen
is accredited as an E-type talent (E $EAZ) by the Talent Office of
Hangzhou Municipal Committee of Hangzhou Human Resources and
Social Bureau (FRHEFINTEAA PWHMTANERANLERER) in
September 2024.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr Lam Yau Yiu (MMER¥BS%EE), aged 61, is an independent non-
executive Director (appointed on 17 February 2023). He is the chairman
of the audit committee and a member of the corporate governance
committee of the Company. Mr Lam has been an independent non-
executive director of Veson Holdings Limited (formerly known as SCUD
Group Limited) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 01399) since 27 September 2018. He is also the chairman of the
corporate governance committee and a member of the audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee of Veson Holdings
Limited. Mr Lam is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. He has about 34 years of experience in auditing,
accounting and corporate management. Mr Lam was the chief financial
officer and company secretary of Million Cities Development Limited from
January 2017 to July 2017. He was the consultant to Chase Solar Limited
from January 2018 to December 2018. He served as the company
secretary of Crazy Sports Group Limited (formerly known as VI Group
Limited) (@ company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 82) from
February 2019 to December 2022. He was the financial controller and
the company secretary of Zhong An Real Estate Limited (now known
as Zhong An Group Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 672) from October 2008 to December 2016. Mr Lam
graduated from the City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree
in accountancy in 1993. He also holds a degree of Master of Business
Administration and a degree of Master of Science in Information Systems
Management from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
since 2000 and 2003, respectively.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr Xu Chengfa (GERE5%E4), aged 71,
executive Director (appointed on 31 May 2014). He is the chairman of the

is an independent non-

remuneration committee and the nomination committee and a member
of the audit committee of the Company. Mr Xu has over 26 years of
experience in banking operations and management. He worked in the
Hong Kong Branch of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. (stock code:
03328), a company whose shares are listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange and held various positions including senior manager of
investment banking department, senior manager of corporate services
department, assistant general manager, deputy general manager, deputy
chief executive officer and consultant.

Mr Yuan Yuan (Ri%4%), aged 41, is an independent non-executive
Director (appointed on 24 April 2023). He is a member of the audit
committee, remuneration committee, nomination committee and
corporate governance committee of the Company. He has about 15 years
of experience in finance and securities industry. Mr Yuan worked at the
listed company department and research centre of the China Securities
Regulatory Commission from May 2012 to March 2016. From March
2016 to July 2017, he worked at Soochow Securities Co., Ltd., serving
simultaneously as the chief strategist, the executive deputy director of
research department, and a member of internal verification committee.
Subsequently, he worked at Huafu Securities Co., Ltd. of the Industrial
Bank Group, serving simultaneously as the managing director, the
deputy head of investment banking business committee, and the general
manager of investment banking division from July 2017 to May 2020.
Mr Yuan has served as the managing director of Zhong De Securities
Company Limited since May 2020. He also serves as a columnist for Ta
Kung Pao in Hong Kong. Mr Yuan obtained a joint doctorate degree in
accountancy from the Shanghai University of Finance and Economics
and the University of Washington in the United States in 2012 and a
doctorate degree in finance from the Tsinghua University in 2014. Mr Yuan
is currently an independent director of Xinjang Dago New Energy Co.,
Ltd. (688303.SH) and Jiangsu Suzhou Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd.
(603323.SH) and an independent non-executive director of Qingci Games
Inc. (6633.HK).
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The executive Director and the chief executive officer of the Company
are responsible for the day-to-day operations and management of the
business of the Group. For the biographical details of our chief executive
officer. Mr Shi Nanlu, please refer to the part headed “Executive Director”
of this section.

Mr Lin Caihe (M7 8% 4), aged 34, joined the Group as financial
controller and the company secretary in September 2023. Prior to joining
the Group, from January 2014 to May 2017, he worked successively at
International accounting firms such as Ernst & Young Advisory Services
Limited (EY) and BDO Limited, and was responsible for auditing. From
June 2017 to December 2018, he joined CITIC Pacific Limited, a fully-
owned subsidiary of CITIC Limited (stock code: 267), and he was
responsible for managing investments and cross-border merger and
acquisitions on regions associated with the Belt and Road Initiative. From
January 2019 to December 2020, he worked in Investment Banking
Department of Ccb International Capital Limited (ZiREIFRERERA
&) and was responsible for corporate finance business. From December
2020 to September 2021, he served as General Manager of Finance and
Capital Division of Zhongliang Holdings Group Company Limited (Fr223%
feEEARAT), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
2772). From October 2021 to August 2023, he served as Chief Financial
Officer and company secretary of Seedland Smart Service Group Limited
(BB ZIRFSEEARAT]). He has over 11 years of experience in
accounting, financial management and corporate finance. He is also the
company secretary and the chief financial officer of Zhong An Intelligent.
In July 2024, Mr Lin was awarded “The Best CFO Award” in the “2023
China Financial Awards” by China Financial Market magazine.

Mr Lin obtained a master's degree in MBA jointly offered by Tsinghua
University and the Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2023. He is a
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA)
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA).
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THE REPORT OF DIRECTORS

The board (“Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China New City
Group Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to present their annual report
to shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and the audited
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2024 (“the year under review”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in commercial property investment for leasing, commercial
property development for sale and leasing, and commercial operations
in the People’s Republic of China (‘PRC”). The nature of the principal
activities has not changed during the year under review.

BUSINESS REVIEW, KEY
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS AND
FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

A fair review of the business of the Group, including an analysis of the
performance of the Group based on certain financial key performance
indicators, for the year under review is set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. These
discussions form part of this report of the Directors.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year under review and the Group’s financial
position and state of affairs as at 31 December 2024 are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 100 to 239 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the relevant audited consolidated financial statements, is
set out on page 240 of this annual report. This summary does not form
part of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property and equipment, and investment
properties of the Group during the year under review are set out in notes
12 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements on page 177 and
pages 179 to 184, respectively.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s principal risks and uncertainties are set out under the
paragraph headed “Principal Risks and Key Controls” in the section
headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report. These
discussions form part of this report of the Directors.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS

An account of the Group’s key relationships with its employees,
customers and suppliers are set out in the paragraph headed
“Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers” under the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

A discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and performance is
set out in the paragraph headed “Environmental, Social and Governance
Aspects” under the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report.

BORROWINGS AND INTEREST
CAPITALISED

Borrowings repayable on demand or within one year are classified under
current liabilities. Details of the long-term borrowings are set out in note
29 to the consolidated financial statements. Interest and other borrowing
costs capitalised by the Group during the year under review are set out in
note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the
year under review are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Scheme as disclosed in the section headed “The Report
of Directors — Share Option Scheme” of this annual report and note 31
to the consolidated financial statements respectively, no equity linked
agreements were entered into by the Company during the year under
review or subsisted at the end of the year under review.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
under review are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and note 31 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s accumulated losses amounted
to RMB30,207,000 and the Company’s share premium amounted to
RMB719,697,000. By passing an ordinary resolution of the Company,
dividends may also be declared and paid out of share premium account
or any other fund or account which can be authorised for this purpose in
accordance with the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The salient terms of the share option scheme (the “Scheme”) approved
by the Shareholders on 20 May 2015 (the “Adoption Date”) are
disclosed below pursuant to the requirements under Chapter 17 of the

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”):

1. Purposes of the Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Group to grant

options to selected participants as incentives or rewards for their

contribution to the Group.

2. Participants of the Scheme

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, invite any person

belonging to any of the following classes of participants, to take up

options to subscribe for Shares:

(@)

any employee (whether full-time or part-time including any
executive Director but excluding any non-executive Director)
of the Company, any of the Company’s subsidiaries or any
entity (“Invested Entity”) in which any member of the Group
holds an equity interest;

any non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) of the Company, any of the Company’s
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

any customer of any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity;

any person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity;

any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any
area of business or business development of any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity; and
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(@ any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group.

The eligibility of any of the above class of participants to an offer for
the grant of any option shall be determined by the Board from time
to time on the basis of the Board’s opinion as to his contribution to
the development and growth of the Group.

Maximum number of the Shares available
for subscription

(@  The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other
share scheme adopted by the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the share capital of the Company in issue
from time to time.

(b)  The total number of the Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon the exercise of all options (excluding, for this
purpose, options which have lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme and any other share scheme of the
Group) to be granted under the Scheme and any other share
scheme of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the number of Shares in issue as at the date of approval of
the Scheme on 20 May 2015 (“General Scheme Limit")
or upon the date of approval of the refreshment of the
General Scheme Limit on 11 June 2020 (being not exceeding
201,706,800 Shares (the “Refreshed General Scheme
Limit”), representing 10% of the total number of issued
Shares of the Company as at such date).
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Subject to (a) above but without prejudice to (d) below,
the Company may seek approval of the Shareholders in
general meeting to refresh the Refreshed General Scheme
Limit provided that the total number of Shares which may
be allotted and issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Group must not exceed 10% of the number
of Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the refreshed
limit and, for the purpose of calculating the refreshed limit,
options (including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or
exercised in accordance with the Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Group) previously granted under
the Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group
will not be counted. The circular sent by the Company to
the Shareholders shall contain, among other information,
the information required under Rule 17.02(2)(d) of the Listing
Rules and the disclaimer required under Rule 17.02(4) of the
Listing Rules.

Subject to (a) above and without prejudice to (c) above,
the Company may seek separate Shareholders’ approval
in general meeting to grant options beyond the Refreshed
General Scheme Limit or, if applicable, the refreshed limit
referred to in (c) above to participants specifically identified
by the Company before such approval is sought. In such
event, the Company must send a circular to the Shareholders
containing a generic description of the specified participants,
the number and terms of options to be granted, the purpose
of granting options to the specified participants with an
explanation as to how the terms of the options serve such
purpose and such other information required under Rule
17.02(2)(d) of the Listing Rules and the disclaimer required
under Rule 17.02(4) of the Listing Rules.
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Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon the exercise of the options granted under the Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Group (including both
exercised or outstanding options) to each grantee in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the number of Shares in issue for
the time being (the “Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options
in excess of the Individual Limit in any 12-month period up to
and including the date of such further grant must be separately
approved by the Shareholders in general meeting of the Company
with such grantee and his close associates (or his associates if
the grantee is a connected person of the Company) abstaining
from voting. The number and terms (including the exercise price)
of options to be granted must be fixed before the approval of the
Shareholders and the date of the Board meeting for proposing such
further grant should be taken as the date of grant for the purpose of
calculating the exercise price under note (1) to Rule 17.03(9) of the
Listing Rules.

Grant of options to the Directors, chief
executive or substantial shareholders
of the Company or their respective
associates

(@  Any grant of options under the Scheme to a Director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or
any of their respective associates must be approved by
independent non-executive Directors (excluding independent
non-executive Director who or whose associates is the
proposed grantee of the options).

4.
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(b)  Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive Director or any of their
respective associates would result in the Shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted and
to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to
and including the date of such grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in
issue; and

(ii) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price
of the Shares at the date of each offer for the grant, in
excess of HK$5 million;

such further grant of options must be approved by Shareholders
in general meeting. The Company must send a circular to the
Shareholders. The grantee, his associates and all core connected
persons of the Company must abstain from voting in favour at
such general meeting, except that any connected person may vote
against the relevant resolution at the general meeting provided
that his intention to do so has been stated in the circular. Any vote
taken at the meeting to approve the grant of such options must be
taken on a poll. Any change in the terms of options granted to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive Director
or any of their respective associates must be approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting.

Minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised and the
exercise period of the option:

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be determined
and notified by the Board to each grantee, which period may
commence from the date of the offer for the grant of options is
made, but shall end in any event not later than 10 years from
the date of grant of the option subject to the provisions for early
termination thereof. Unless otherwise determined by the Board and
stated in the offer for the grant of options to a grantee, there is no
minimum period required under the Scheme for the holding of an
option before it can be exercised.
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Amount payable on acceptance of the
option and the period within which
payment must be made:

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the
grant of an option and options may be accepted by a participant
within 21 days from the date of the offer of grant of the option.

Basis of determining the exercise price:

The exercise price for the Shares under the Scheme shall be a price
determined by the Board, but shall not be less than the highest of
(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer for the grant, which
must be a business day; (i) the average closing price of Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of the offer for the grant; and
(iii) the nominal value of a Share.

Remaining life of the Scheme:

The Scheme became effective on 20 May 2015 and unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for a period of
10 years from that date.

As at 1 January 2024, 31 December 2024 and the date of this annual
report, there was no outstanding option under the Scheme. No option

was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Scheme during the

year under review.

As at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024, the number of
options available for grant under the Scheme were 201,076,800 and

201,076,800, respectively. As at the date of this annual report, the total

number of Shares available for issue under the Scheme was 201,076,800

Shares, representing 10% of the total number of issued Shares at such

date.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing Shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The sales attributable to the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s consolidated revenue for the
year under review.

The purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s consolidated purchases for
the year under review.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this
report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr Shi Nanlu (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr Jin Jianrong

Non-executive Director

Mr Shi Zhongan (alias Shi Kancheng) (Chairperson)
Ms Chen Jing (appointed on 31 December 2024)
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr Xu Chengfa
Mr Lam Yau Yiu
Mr Yuan Yuan

The Company has received, from each current independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence in
accordance with the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Board and the nomination committee of the Company had assessed
and considered that all the independent non-executive Directors are
independent pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” of this annual report, there were no changes
in the Directors’ information subsequent to the publication of the interim
report of the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
or his/her connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at any time during or at the end of the year under
review.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 66 to 70 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors (including the Directors proposed to be re-
elected at the AGM) has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION

The Directors’ remunerations are subject to Shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with
reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the
results of the Group.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group for the year under review are set out in notes 8
and 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, no
remuneration was paid by the Group to any of the Directors and chief
executive or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
as compensation for loss of office.
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The remuneration paid to the members of the senior management by
band during the year under review is set out below:
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Individuals Individuals

Remuneration band (HK$) #HENAER) CBT) AE A&
Nil to 1,000,000 2 %1,000,0007T 3 2
Over 1,000,000 838 1,000,0007% 1 1
4 3

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Articles of the Company, the Company had a permitted
indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of the Companies
Ordinance) in force for the benefit of the Directors throughout the year
under review and as at the date of approval of this report of the Directors,
pursuant to which the Company shall indemnify any Director against any
liability, loss suffered and expenses incurred by the Director in connection
with any legal proceedings in which he is involved by reason of being
a Director, except in any case where the matter in respect of which
indemnification is sought was caused by the fraud or dishonesty of the
Directors. The Company has maintained insurance cover for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against the Directors
arising out of corporate activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed
on an annual basis. During the year under review, no claims were made
against the Directors.

EHESFREIRX

RIBAREMA > AR N EEREEEANK
K EAESEEREZAMAESE A EMT
EEFFRERX (EERATRGIFE46915) - 15
I ARBABERNESRERNIAEFELEL
HBEFISREMEREFARZERNEE KR
ZEBER S| RS ERERIER T HES K@
BZEENRESEGFRREFRAR R R
FAOREFkESRBEAREAREHEEZ
HEBEFZZRTHEERBRE -KBRFRRE
BEFES - ROEFERN TEHNEREZR

fEe

]

Y.

PR S ERARAS
TR NEER

83



84

THE REPORT OF DIRECTORS
HHGHS

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong (the “SFO”), as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

EERBETHABRSA
=S A fET A A AR5
R R R0 15t
R

R2024F 128310 KRB EERRSTHA
ERARNBREEBE AR GREBEFES71
ERSRBERY (MBS RIBEEG) S5XVEL
BIH ) BB ~ RN REEE A BT A
RIEFEH RS KA EMEREFENELH
NZEERRE  WRBZEETABSTHNE A
NERZFF 2 EERREIT ¢

Name of Approximate
Group member/ percentage of
Name of Director associated corporation Capacity/nature of interest Number of share(s) held shareholding
FEEHEAT,/
B4 HECER AT a5/ REtE PRSI E RERLGT AT
(Note 1)
(at1)
Mr Shi Zhongan The Company Interest of controlled corporations 1,358,859,594 shares of 67.58%
(Note 2) HK$0.10 each (L)
R E ARF S EBRER (z2) 1,358,859,594 % S A EI{E0.10 67.58%
BTRMU
Zhong An Interest of controlled corporation 3,262,411,200 shares of 57.89%
(Note 3) HK$0.10 each (L)
BE REREROER (123) 3,262,411,200 &K E1E0.10 57.89%
BITRHO
Whole Good Beneficial owner 1 share of US$1.00 (L) 100%
ES BB 1REE.00Z TR ML) 100%
Notes: 5T
1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the shares and underlying 1. FHILIARARZA TR AR B NE BB RS

shares of the Company or the relevant associated corporation.
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24 Among these 1,358,859,594 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the Company
(“Shares”), 1,327,556,000 Shares are held by Ideal World Investments Limited
(“Ideal World”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Zhong An. The entire issued shares
of Zhong An are owned as to about 57.89% by Whole Good, which is wholly
owned by Mr Shi Zhongan. In addition, 31,303,594 Shares are held by Whole
Good. By virtue of the SFO, Mr Shi Zhongan is taken to be interested in the

Shares in which each of Ideal World and Whole Good is interested.

ek These shares are held by Whole Good. By virtue of the SFO, Mr Shi Zhongan
is deemed to be interested in the shares of Zhong An in which Whole Good is

interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company had any interests and short positions
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of SFO), as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company had or were deemed under the SFO
to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and in this annual report, no
contracts of significance concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or subsisted during the year under review.
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NON-COMPETE UNDERTAKINGS

The Company has received the written confirmation from Ideal
World, Zhong An, Whole Good and Mr Shi Zhongan (collectively, the
“Controlling Shareholders”) in respect of the compliance with the
provisions of the amended non-compete undertakings (“Amended
Non-compete Undertaking”), entered into between the Controlling
Shareholders and the Company as set out in the circular dated 5 March
2021.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the compliance
with the Amended Non-compete Undertaking by the Controlling
Shareholders and as far as they can ascertain, there has been no
breach of the Amended Non-compete Undertaking by the Controlling
Shareholders during the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation”, at no time
during the year under review were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any
Director or their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in
any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons (other than a Director or the chief executive of the
Company) had an interest or short position in the Shares and underlying
Shares as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO:
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122024128318 MEFRFA BRBESF K
HAE R B SE336IF R EH A AT FENZ MR
i THRAL (EFHERFTNESTHAR
BRIN IR RRABRAR D RIS BB T ¢

Percentage of
the Company’s
issued share

Name of shareholder Capacity/nature of interest Number of Shares held capital
EEATBEIT
ERETE 517/ #EtE FrisiR B B RABE L
(Note 1)
(Hzt1)
|deal World Beneficial owner 1,327,556,000 Shares (L) 66.02%
BEmEAA 1,327,556,0008% A2 17 (L)
Zhong An Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2) 1,327,556,000 Shares (L) 66.02%
SEGEEN R (H522) 1,327,556,0008% A2 1% (L)
Whole Good Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2) 1,327,556,000 Shares (L) 66.02%
SEREENER (5t2) 1,327,556,0008% A& 13(L)
Beneficial owner 31,303,594 Shares (L) 1.56%
BmEAEA 31,308,594 8% RZ 17 (L)
Notes: Mk -
1. The Letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares. 1. FRMNARZALTRERDEE -

2. These Shares are held by Ideal World, the wholly owned subsidiary of Zhong An.
The entire issued shares of Zhong An are owned as to about 57.89% by Whole
Good, which is wholly owned by Mr. Shi Zhongan. By virtue of the SFO, each
of Zhong An, Whole Good and Mr. Shi Zhongan is taken to be interested in the

Shares in which Ideal World is interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, other than the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company whose interests are set
out in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests
and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation” above, no person had interest
or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which were required
to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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TRANSACTIONS DISCLOSED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE LISTING
RULES

The following transactions between the Company and certain connected
persons (as defined in the Listing Rules) have been entered into and/or are
ongoing during the year under review, for which relevant announcements
and independent shareholders’ approval, if necessary, had been made
and obtained by the Company in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules and disclosed in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Company where applicable.

Continuing Connected Transaction - Financial
Advances Framework Agreement

On 11 December 2024 (after trading hours), the Company (for itself and
on behalf of its subsidiaries) entered into the New Financial Advances
Framework Agreement with Zhong An Group Limited (for itself and on
behalf of its subsidiaries but excluding the Group) (“Zhong An Cayman”),
on substantially the same terms as the then Existing Financial Advances
Framework Agreement, pursuant to which, among others, the Group
will continue to provide recurring advances (the “Advances”) to Zhong
An Cayman and its subsidiaries but excluding the Group (“Zhong An
Group”) from time to time to be utilised by Zhong An Cayman for its daily
business operations for a renewed term of three years from 1 January
2025 to 31 December 2027, subject to the Independent Shareholders’
approval. Since Zhong An Cayman is a controlling Shareholder of the
Company, Zhong An Cayman is a connected person of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Pursuant to the New Financial
Advances Framework Agreement, the highest daily balance amounts
that the Group may advance to the Zhong An Group for each of the
years ending 31 December 2025, 31 December 2026 and 31 December
2027 are RMB1,800 million, RMB1,800 milion and RMB1,800 million,
respectively (the “Caps”). The New Financial Advances Framework
Agreement was approved by the Independent Shareholders at the
Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company convened on 15 January
2025. During the year under review, the Group’s daily advances to
Zhong An Group under the then Existing Financial Advances Framework
Agreement were within the annual cap for such year.

For further details of the above renewed continuing connected
transactions, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 11
December 2024 and circular dated 27 December 2024.
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Continuing Connected Transaction — Services
Framework Agreements

On 6 December 2024 (after trading hours), the Company entered into
the () Renewed Car Parking Space Sales Agency Services Framework
Agreement; (i) Renewed Property Management Services Framework
Agreement; and (iiij Renewed Value-added Services Framework
Agreement with Zhong An Intelligent Living Services Limited (‘Zhong
An Intelligent’, and its subsidiaries from time to time, “Zhong An
Intelligent Group”), an indirect subsidiary of Zhong An Cayman,
on substantially the same terms as the then respective Existing
Framework Agreements in relation to the provision of integrated property
management services by Zhong An Intelligent Group to the Group, for
a renewed term of three years from 1 January 2025 to 31 December
2027. As Zhong An Cayman is a controlling shareholder of the Company,
it is a connected person of the Company. In addition, as Zhong An
Intelligent is an associate of Zhong An Cayman, it is a connected person
of the Company. The annual caps of the amount of fees payable by the
Group to the Zhong An Intelligent Group under each of the (i) Renewed
Car Parking Space Sales Agency Services Framework Agreement, (i)
Renewed Property Management Services Framework Agreement and (iii)
Renewed Value-added Services Framework Agreement, for each of the
years ending 31 December 2025, 31 December 2026 and 31 December
2027, are (i) RMB15 million, RMB14 million and RMB12 million, (i) RMB15
million, RMB14 million and RMB13 million and (i) RMB22 million, RMB21
million and RMB22 million, respectively. During the year under review, the
actual transaction amount for fees paid by the Group to the Zhong An
Intelligent Group under each of the then existing Car Parking Space Sales
Agency Services Framework Agreement, Property Management Services
Framework Agreement and Value-added Services Framework Agreement
were RMB1,318,000, RMB25,960,000 and RMB4,196,000, respectively.

For further details of the above renewed continuing connected
transactions, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 6
December 2024 and supplemental announcement dated 18 December
2024.
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above and confirmed that they were
entered into (a) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group
in the case of the continuing connected transactions in relation to services
framework agreements; (b) on normal commercial terms or better; and (c)
according to the agreements governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders of the Company as a
whole.

The Board has engaged an auditor to report on the continuing connected
transactions disclosed above in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the HKICPA.
Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the auditor has confirmed
that nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe that (a)
the disclosed continuing connected transactions had not been approved
by the Board; (b) for any transactions involving the provision of goods or
services by the Group, the disclosed continuing connected transactions
were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies
of the Group; (c) the disclosed continuing connected transactions were
not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing such transactions; and (d) with respect to the
annual caps of the continuing connected transactions, the disclosed
continuing connected transactions had exceeded the annual caps set by
the Company.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The significant related party transactions entered into by the Group during
the year under review are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements. Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Transactions
Disclosed in Accordance with the Listing Rules, none of the related party
transactions would constitute a connected transaction or a continuing
connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement benefit schemes
organised by the PRC municipal and provincial government authorities
for the Group’s eligible employees in the PRC, and operates a Mandatory
Provident Fund scheme for the employees in Hong Kong. Particulars of
these retirement plans are set out in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements.

No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable in
the future years as at 31 December 2024.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year under review, the Group donated approximately
RMB1,712,000 (2023: approximately RMB21,000).

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained at
least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital held by the public
for the year under review and as at the date of this annual report.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries, had purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
under review.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risks of non-compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations. During the year under review and up to the date of
this annual report, the Group has in all material aspects complied with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group and there was no material breach or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 13.20 OF
THE LISTING RULES

The Directors were not aware of any circumstances resulting in the
responsibility of disclosure under Rule 13.20 of the Listing Rules regarding
the provision of advances by the Company to an entity.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for its re-appointment as auditor
of the Company will be proposed at the AGM.

On Behalf of the Board of
China New City Group Limited

Shi Zhongan
Chairperson

The People’s Republic of China, 27 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

et
EY:x

To the shareholders of China New City Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with
limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China New City
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set
out on pages 100 to 239, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (‘HKSAs”) as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statermnents section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter

BB EE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HANB N ARRARESEE

Valuation of investrment properties

REYFEZ15E

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s investment properties
amounted to RMB4,364 million, which represented 33% of
the Group’s total assets. Investment properties were stated
at fair value. Management was required to exercise significant
judgement in determining the fair value of investment properties
as disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
K2024F12831H BSEEREYEARARKE436488
T EER EEBERBEEMNSS% KREMETRABEES
oMU EMBRRNIFIRE EEENEEREYE
ZANBER BETERHIE-
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We evaluated the competence and independence of
the external valuation expert engaged by the Group. We
reviewed rental contracts, compared the prices of the
investment properties with the unit prices of adjacent
similar properties that were benchmarked in the valuation
process, assessed assumptions relating to future market
rents, compared the current prices in the active market for
adjacent similar properties, and assessed the discount rates
and future maintenance costs applied based on historical
experiences with the involvement of our internal valuation
specialists, who focused on the term yield, reversionary yield
and market unit rent. We also assessed the adequacy of the
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

B EE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TN AZ B

FIEEtEIE (@)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRAONEFMARRRRRESEE

Valuation of investment properties (continued)

REYEZ141E (&)

The Group engaged an external valuation expert to perform
the valuation of investment properties. The valuation methods
applied included the direct comparison approach and income
approach which involved various assumptions, such as
estimated rental revenues, discount rates, occupancy rates,
historical transactions and market knowledge.
EEECREFEIEEERUETREYEZGE - KB
HEFLFOEEERSILERI RZERRZ WAL SF G
STHEEUWA S ITEER BV BFR 5 KT AH -

The related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 13 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RN BRI GRS FRERMNEE2.4 3Kk130

Net realisable value of completed properties held for sale and properties under development

FIEEEZ BERYERZRETYEZ JEHFE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s properties under
development and completed properties held for sale amounted
to RMB4,525 million, which represented 34% of the Group’s
total assets. These properties were stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. The net realisable value was estimated
by management based on expected selling prices, the cost of
completion of properties under development, and the costs to
be incurred in selling the properties based on prevailing market
conditions. The estimation of the net realisable value involved
significant judgement.
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ERTFEE MG EIRFE - ERFEGBTIRE
KH o

The related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3, 14 and 22
to the consolidated financial statements.
MR BN RS BIRREH2.4~3 1454220

We reviewed the Group’s net realisable value estimation
and checked the expected selling prices to prices of
similar properties presold by the Group recently or adjacent
properties sold. For the cost of completion of properties
under development and the cost to be incurred in selling
the properties, we evaluated management’s estimation
methodology, which had been updated to reflect the latest
information and the refined construction and selling cost
budgeting process.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN
THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE
DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
A R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Plan and perform the Group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

China New City Group Limited
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Cheung Ng.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

SR e TR R

Year ended 31 December 2024 # Z2024512831H IEEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k3 ARBFT AR®EF T
Revenue WA 5 4,103,756 1,297,235
Cost of sales THE A (2,044,547) (929,138)
Gross profit EH 2,059,209 368,097
Other income and gains, net EMURA R W P 28 5 54,956 12,669
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEES (147,582) (171,979)
Administrative expenses TERX (120,407) (170,607)
Other expenses Hitfx 5 (95,250) (59,897)
Finance costs % ER 7 (118,180) (101,976)
Share of losses of joint ventures EhEEhEEIR 19 (7,264) (663)
Changes in fair value of investment KREMEN AN BEES
properties 13 (495,100) (852,311)
Profit/(loss) before tax PRIAIFE, (B518) 6 1,130,382 (476,667)
Income tax (expense)/credit FTigi () 1% 10 (644,614) 51,534
Profit/(loss) for the year NEERE (F518) 485,768 (425,133)
Attributable to: DUT &L
Owners of the parent SYNSIEZ=DN 503,909 (404,136)
Non-controlling interests JEVERR T (18,141) (20,997)
485,768 (425,133)
Earnings/(loss) per share attributable to AT ZEREZIFEA
ordinary equity holders of the parent  FE{LEREFR (B518) 11
Basic =9\ RMB25.1cents RMB (20.1cents)
AR¥2515 AR (2019)
Diluted e RMB25.1cents RMB (20.1cents)
AR#2515 AR (2019)

China New City Group Limited
2024 Annual Report




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Bk ey T i 7%

Year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z20245FE12831H IEFE

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBETF T
Profit/(loss) for the year FEEFHE (F58) 485,768 (425,133)
Other comprehensive income Hthz2mmka=s
Other comprehensive income that may be R EB AR CIfEEIH NEES
reclassified to profit/(loss) in subsequent M,/ (BB BEMEE
periods: Wz
Exchange differences: PEERELE !
Exchange differences on translation of B IBINETERIE 7 E 4R
foreign operations 10,114 (80,295)
Net other comprehensive income that REBIERSEEN DB
may be reclassified to profit/(loss) in I (8538 B9 Eﬁﬂ%ﬁ
subsequent periods W358 10,114 (30,295)
Other comprehensive income that will not PR EBHIBG A ZEFH D48
be reclassified to profit or loss in EEGNEMEENE -
subsequent periods
Exchange differences: FERERE !
Exchange differences on translation of BRI EBNERZLE
foreign operations 17,370 (17,524)
Equity investments designated at fair value 15T &% A BEE T A E
through other comprehensive income: ERENEALE !
Changes in fair value NABEED (17,041) 3,861
Income tax effect i e 2 4,260 (965)
Net other comprehensive income that will P E BB S EHH DB
not be reclassified to profit or loss in EEGNEMEERE
subsequent periods JHER 4,589 (14,628)
Total comprehensive income TEEEREREELE
for the year 500,471 (470,056)
Attributable to: DUT R, -
Owners of the parent FBREEE A 518,612 (449,059)
Non-controlling interests JEVER (18,141) (20,997)
500,471 (470,056)
FEFIEHERGRA

_v_lﬁﬁiﬁ
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

SR EMBHIRDIRR

31 December 2024 20245128 31H

2024 2023
20245 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 AREFT ARETT
Non-current assets FEREBEE
Property and equipment L EYSEY 12 2,183,115 2,313,326
Investment properties REME 13 4,336,900 4,840,200
Properties under development [aEdesky/ES 14 439,451 955,096
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 17,081 75,440
Equity investments designated at fair value BERBEANEESA
through other comprehensive income H2mBarRAagE 17 340,354 357,395
Long term prepayments REATERR 18 358,632 297,615
Investment in joint ventures REERENKE 19 24,499 36,389
Deferred tax assets FIEMIBE E 20 36,959 66,899
Restricted cash ZIRFIRE 25 - 105,000
Total non-current assets BIERBEE 7,736,991 9,047,360
Current assets MENEE
Completed properties held for sale FRHEBRTYE 22 4,085,699 1,276,276
Properties under development aEdesky/ES 14 - 2,362,183
Inventories EFE 24,425 36,410
Trade receivables EWE 5 R 23 61,081 70,013
Prepayments, other receivables FEfRIE HMEWEIE
and other assets REMEE 24 326,819 442,965
Amounts due from a related company U —EIRAM A B T8 34 237,788 =
Financial assets at fair value through BAREBEFABRZEHREE
profit or loss 37 36
Restricted cash SRR 25 47,088 98,009
Cash and cash equivalents ReRIREEBY 25 838,999 181,155
Investment properties classified as held for sale D iEAIFEINE 2 B EME 13 26,800 18,600
Total current assets HRBEE 5,648,736 4,485,647
Current liabilities mEAE
Trade payables BB ZERAN 26 1,543,308 575,018
Other payables and accruals HMELHRIEREER 27 301,256 321,663
Contract liabilities =Y =L 28 923,714 3,060,168
Amounts due to related companies FES R AR TIE 34 46,479 329,924
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings sTRRTRAEMBR 29 1,072,160 584,860
Lease liabilities HEaR 15 10,669 49,110
Tax payable EIHRIE 10 1,157,891 411,449
Total current liabilities wREmas 5,055,477 5,332,192
Net current assets/(liabilities) TMEBEE/ (BF) FH 593,259 (846,545)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERTHERE 8,330,250 8,200,815
continued/...
B/
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AR LR

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

2024 2023
2024% 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
o3 ARBFT ARBETF T
Non-current liabilities FERBEE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings sTERITREMMER 29 2,327,020 2,534,180
Deferred tax liabilities FILRIBESE 20 640,576 733,923
Lease liabilities HEaR 15 20,520 91,873
Total non-current liabilities mIETEAE 2,988,116 3,359,976
Net assets FEE 5,342,134 4,840,839
Equity i
Equity attributable to owners of the parent BREBE AEEER
Share capital A 30 160,220 160,220
Reserves E4 31 5,105,278 4,586,666
5,265,498 4,746,886
Non-controlling interests FEIERG 76,636 93,953
Total equity e 5,342,134 4,840,839
Shi Nanlu Jin Jianrong
1t 3 B& EEE
Director Director
EE EBE

PEMEHERERAR

ZETNEFR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

S o Rt SR B R

Year ended 31 December 2024 # Z2024512831H IEEE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRRAEAEL
Share Statutory  Exchange Non-
Share premium Capital  Fair value Other surplus  fluctuation Retained controlling
capital account* reserve* reserve * reserve* reserve* reserve* profits* Total interests  Total equity
faf ‘ A% iy ER R
ek BER kiR BERE AMEE  BEEE O RBRE  REWR 5t 5 4
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ABBTR  ABETR ABETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Note 30 Notes308316)  Note 31lb) Note 3110)  Note 31(g)
W30 W0k HEs Wsy  HEsne
At1 January 2023 2023E181R 160,220 719,697 1,281,751 (16,597) 29,138 81,716 248,792 2,597,856 5103573 204,336 5,307,909
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - - (404138 (404,139) (20997) (425,139
Other comprehensive income ERAMRENS
for the year:
Bxchange differences related to BN R
foreign operations EREE - - - - - - (47819 - (47.819) - (47.819)
Changes in fair vaue of investments st~ AR BEFALNZE
fair value through other comprehensiie M NRENALEE
income, net of tax 25 IKiRE - - - 28% - - - - 2,8% - 2,89
Total comprehensive income for the year  ER2ENGZAE - - - 2,8% - - (47819 (404136)  (449,059) (20997 (470056)
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAT = - 372 - - - - - 9,372 (89,386) 2,986
At 31 December 2023 and R2023E12B31 B K
1 January 2024 024E1818 160,220 719,697 1,374128 (12,701) 29,138 81,716 200973 2193720 4,746,886 93,953 4840839
Proft or the year ERER . . . . . = - 3909 513909 (814f) 485768
Other comprehensive income FERHEMRENE
for the year:
Exchange diferences related to foreign ~ BB EK 2
operations EREE - - - - - - 27,484 - 27,484 - 27,484
Changes in fair velue of investments &t~ AR BEFAENZE
fair value through other comprehensie  WEIRENAREE
ncome, net of tax 28 KRB - - - (12,781) - - - - (12,781) - (12,781)
Total comprehensive income for the year  ER2ENZAE - - - (12,781) - - 27,484 503,909 518,612 (18,141) 500,474
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAR - - - - - - - - - (1,406) (1,406)
Disposal of partial HERHBLZNHS
Interests in subsiciries 5 - - - - - - - - - 2,230 2,230
At 31 December 2024 2024128310 160,220 719,697 1,374,123 (25,482 29,138 81,716 208457 2697629 5265498 76,636 5,342,134
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZEHREROBEFRAVERARAGEHEAR
RMB5,105,278,000 (2023: RMB4,586,666,000) in the consolidated statement of £5,105,278,0007T (20234 : AR #£4,586,666,000
financial position. TT) °©

China New City Group Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BB R

Year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z20245FE12831H IEFE

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
iokz3 ARBFT ARMETF T
Cash flows from operating activities  (KEEFHEWIRESHE
Profit/(loss) before tax BRI AAIE, (B518) 1,130,382 (476,667)
Adjustments for: HE
Depreciation of property and equipment Y ERREITE 12 104,297 122,768
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hihmp & s 16 - 845
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREESENTE 15 17,487 25,913
Changes in fair value of investment KEMENADNEEES
properties 13 495,100 352,311
Loss on disposal of investment properties HERESYEIER 2 518 6 - 4,382
(Gain)/loss on disposal of right-of-use HECRAEESEY
assets () 518 6 (24,402) 4,834
Changes in fair value of financial assets at A ABEFTABTZ
fair value through profit or loss SREEZ AAEE
i) 6 - 16
Share of profits of joint ventures EiEEE ENF)E 19 7,264 663
(Gain)/loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEWBABZ
(W) /H518 6 (2,863) 8,189
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEMERRFEEEZ
property and equipment E518, () 6 2,749 (519)
Impairment of financial assets TREERE 6 10,391 18,898
Impairment provision for property and MERFBZ BRERE
equipment 6 59,481 1,653
Impairment of an investment in a joint REEPEZRERE
venture 19 5,626 -
Impairment provision for right-of-use FREEEZRERE
assets 15 2,166 729
Interest income ) B WA 5 (17,288) (3,875)
Finance costs M5 ER 7 118,180 101,976
1,908,570 162,116
Increase in properties under development B 2% FR #2380 (1,686,661) (326,517)
Decrease in completed properties held for 15 {E$H & 2% T4 2R/
sale 1,818,398 655,548
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables FEU B SERFURL 7 (180) 6,057 (23,329)
Decrease in deposits and other receivables 1% & Kz Hfth F& U R IE 8/ 212,425 88,850
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments and AR & E dgm)
other assets PR (243,957 ) 49,719
Decrease/(increase) in long term FEHEGRURLD 7 (Em)
prepayments 62,463 (19,511)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories =FERL, () 11,862 (685)
Decrease in restricted cash for pre-sales ~ FEEFEREZIRFIIRS
proceeds P 155,921 120,287
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables FE(SE ZERFRIE M, CRL) 971,290 (21,342)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and ~ E &S FIB K& FE =+ & B
accruals @, R 230,593 (35,557)
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities EHasE Gl Em (2,136,323) 300,021
continued/...
g/
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RO BT R R

Year ended 31 December 2024 # Z2024512831H IEEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
=3 AR¥TT AREFTT
Cash generated from operations REEREENRE 1,310,638 949,600
Interest received BEUWH & 17,288 3,875
Interest paid BEAFE (186,170) (159,568)
Income tax and land appreciation tax paid B3 FriSH0 K - #higEiR (48,993) (109,966)
Net cash flows generated from RETHEENRERE
operating activities FEE 1,092,763 683,941
Cash flows from investing activities REZHEENRESR=E
Investment on financial assets at fair value  RAABET ABHZ
through profit or loss THEBEERE - 20,112
Purchases of items of property and BEYERRHEER
equipment (44,990) (70,899)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property HEW2 B HIER
and equipment T8 1E 1,726 2,625
Prepayment for equity interest in a joint REeEhxERIEZ
venture FEfI I (130,000) =
Proceeds from disposal of investment HERBEYEMEMIE
properties - 18,599
Purchase of equity interest in a joint venture &% B &% (> % iG 1 (1,000) =
Advance to related company ElEL NS (237,788) -
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR 32 (840) 61)
Disposal of partial interests of subsidiaries ~ HE&E M B AT 2D HEH 2,230 =
Increase in restricted cash 2 BR&IIR & 18 00 = (91,144)
Net cash flows used in investing KREEHEANRAESRE
activities FEE (410,662) (120,788)
Cash flows from financing activities MEEHELENRERE
Repayment of loans from related R A B EFUER
companies (283,445) (424,977)
New interest-bearing bank and METEIRITREMBR
other borrowings 1,028,000 880,000
Repayment of interest-bearing bank and BB st BiR1T R EMERR
other borrowings (747,860) (1,769,439)
Principal portion of lease payments HENRNEEZD (20,108) (16,939)
Net cash flows used in financing MEEHEANRERE
activities ] (23,413) (1,331,355)
continued/...
B/
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
ABlERRR

Year ended 31 December 2024 #;Z20245FE12831H IEFE

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
o3 ARBFT ARBETF T
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and RERRELEYEM
cash equivalents GRiZL) 7338 658,688 (768,202)
Cash and cash equivalents at FYRERIBEEEY
beginning of year 181,155 948,087
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes,  JMNEFEREFAIR > ;558
net (844) 1,270
Cash and cash equivalents atend of FRIEERIAEZEY
year 25 838,999 181,155
Analysis of balances of cash and RERIREEEBMERIWNT
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances RERIRITHERR 25 838,999 181,155

PEMEHERERAR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A5 R B ik

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

China New City Group Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated as an exempted company in the Cayman
Islands on 2 July 2013 under the Companies Act of the Cayman
Islands. The registered office address of the Company is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman lIslands. The Company was separately listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) with the stock code “1321” on 10 July 2014 and
raised capital amounting to HK$608 million from the market.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) were members of Zhong
An Group Limited (“Zhong An”) and its subsidiaries (‘Zhong An
Group”). Zhong An, the shares of which have been listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange since November 2007, is the
intermediate holding company of Zhong An Group.

The Group is principally engaged in commercial property
development, leasing and hotel operations.

In the opinion of the Company’s directors (the “Directors”),
the ultimate holding company of the Company is Whole Good
Management Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands on 3 May 2007.

China New City Group Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B EAB E

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

INS =By (455
CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. REIREEER (@)
Information about subsidiaries bt 8 X Bl & A
Particulars of the Company's principle subsidiaries are as follows: AABFEMBRBFBEAOT !
Percentage of equity
Place and date of attributable to the Company
incorporation/ Issued EATEERET AT
registration ordinary shares/ Principal
Name of company and business registered capital 2024 2023  activities
AL R
AETE ERMER A BETLER ERRE 2024%F 203F TEEY
Zhejiang Zhong An Property Development  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB2,000,000 81.0% 81.0%  Property development
Xiaoshan Co., Ltd.* 3 April 1997
MIRZEHERLUREERATY FE/HERH AR #2,000,0007 MEERE
199744 H3H
Chunan Minfu Property Co., Ltd.® PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB6,000,000 100.0% 100.0%  Property development
24 October 2003
FERGREEXEBRATY B/ RERH AR #6,000,0007 MEER
2003%10524H
Shanghai Zhong An Property PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 100.0% 90.0%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.“ 19 January 2004
LERZEMEREBRARY HE/ FREH AE10,000,0007T MEER
2004515190
Hangzhou Huijun Real Estate Co., Ltd.? PRC/Chinese Mainland US$5,600,000 99.7% 99.7%  Property development
1 April 2005
MNERELFRAFY FE/ RERH 5,600,000% 70 MELR
20054818
Hangzhou Zhong An Highlong PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Project management
Commercial Buildings Co., Ltd.® 20 September 2005
mNRZIEREERRATY FE/ RElRH AR #1,000,0007T BEEER
200594208
Hangzhou Zheng Jiang Real Estate PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 92.5% 92.5%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.“ 16 March 2006
MME IR ERERRARY e/ FE At AR 150,000,0007 WEERE
2006435 16H
Henlly Enterprise Management PRC/Chinese Mainland US$149,061,280 100.0% 100.0%  Property development
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd.? 4 December 2006
BRI EEEE (i) BRAF? HEL/ Pt 149,061,280 7T MEER
2006512848
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Zhong An PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 100.0% 100.0%  Hotel management
Holiday Inn Co., Ltd.“ 28 May 2007
MMELRZBEEEERAFY e/ FRE At AR 10,000,0007 BEER
2007455280
PRI EE A RAE]

“ENEFR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. RXEIRERER (8)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) MBATER (4B)

Percentage of equity

Place and date of attributable to the Company

incorporation/ Issued AATREEBREN T
registration ordinary shares/ Principal
Name of company and business registered capital 2024 2023  activities
MM Mk
AERTE EHMARAM BRTZER HMKE 20245 203F TEEY
Yuyao Zhong An Time Square PRC/Chinese Mainland RMBS5,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Project management
Commercial Management Co., Ltd." 6 December 2011
BHRZBAESHEERERARY  HE/PERY AR #5,000,0007% BEEE
2011512861
Yuyao Zhong An Time Square PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB100,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* 5 August 2013
HHRZERBEREERATY FE/HERH AR #100,000,0007T MEERE
2013%F8H5H
Yuyao Zhong An Time Square PRC/Chinese Mainland US$16,000,000 93.0% 93.0%  Property development
Property Co., Ltd.? 13 August 2013
HHRZERBREEERATY E/hE R 16,000,000% 7T MEER
201385 13H
Zhejiang Zhong An Sheng Long PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Project management
Commercial Co., Ltd.” 9 September 2013
MIRZEEBEBRAY FE/ R A #50,000,0007% EEERE
201359498
Cixi Zhong An Property Co., Ltd.“ PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 89.0% 90.0%  Property development
6 December 2013
EERREEBRATY HEL/ Rl Pt AR1,000,0007 WEERE
201312868
Hangzhou Zhong An Sheng PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Property development
Long Liyumen Property Co., Ltd.“ 21 April 2014
MR R EREEPIBEERATY e/ FE it AR 1,000,007 MEER
2014545218
Hangzhou Xixi Huijin Property Co., Ltd."” PRC/Chinese Mainland US$60,000,000 100.0% 100.0%  Property development
18 November 2015
MMEZESEXBRAT e/ FREl 60,000,000%7¢ MEER
2015%11818H
Zhejiang Bairuite Hotel PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 100.0% 100.0%  Hotel management
Management Co., Ltd.01" 19 May 2016
WIRRFEEEEEEERATO0  HE/FERHY AR #50,000,0007¢ BEEE
201655198
Huaibei Briliant Hotel Co., Ltd.® PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB6,900,000 100.0% 100.0%  Hotel management
16 October 2013
HILARFBEERAT HEL/ Rl At A E #6,900,0007% BEEEE
2013105168

China New City Group Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT Ak

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. RXEIREREFR (8)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) MBATER (1)

Place and date of

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company

incorporation/ Issued EATELRBET AT
registration ordinary shares/ Principal
Name of company and business registered capital 2024 2023  activities
AL R
AERTE ERMER A BETLER EMRE 20245 2023F TEEY
Laizhou New Screen Theatre PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 72.0% 90.0%  Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.*) 2 May 2017
FNHEERCEERERAR FE/RERH AR #1,000,0007 FheR
20175828
Zhong An Education Investment British Virgin Islands US$1 100.0% 100.0%  Education development
Holdings Limited“ 8 May 2018
REYBEREERBRATY HRGERRES S HEER
2018%5H8H
Kunming New Screen Theatre PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 72.0% 90.0%  Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.*) 27 April 2017
EREMEYRCEERERAFY FE/RERH AR #1,000,0007 FheR
2017548278
Yuyao New Screen Theatre PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB1,000,000 72.0% 90.0%  Theatre management
Management Co., Ltd.# 26 September 2017
SR EY RCEERERATY FE/ RERH AE1,000,00070 TR
2017595260
Hangzhou Zhongyu Real Estate Co., Ltd.#  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB30,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Property development
22 July 2021
MNBREEBRARY e/ FRE AR #30,000,0007 MEER
2021578228
Zhejiang Zhongdu Real Estate Co., Ltd.*  PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Property development
13 August 2018
MIRBELBRAFY FE/ RERH A #50,000,0007% MEER
2018585130
KGJ international Co., Ltd." Japan JPY10,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Investment holding
9 May 2016
KCJER &40 SEN 10,000,0000 REZR
201655590
Anhui Henghe Commercial PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB75,000,000 90.0% 90.0%  Property development
Management Co., Ltd.“ 19 March 2024
ZHEHEEEBERATY FE/ RERH AE 75,000,000 MEER
202435198
Xuzhou Wanxiang Real Estate PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB258,000,000 45.9% 45.9%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd. 9 28 September 2018
BNTERELERERAT e/ FRE AR #258,000,0007¢ MEER
201859528H
FEHIE T ERERAE

TR NEER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the
year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Notes:

(@) Types of legal entities:

1) Wholly-foreign-owned enterprise

2) Sino-foreign equity joint venture

3) Limited liability company invested by a foreign invested enterprise

4) Limited liability company

(b) The capital of these subsidiaries has not been fully injected as at 31
December 2024.
() These subsidiaries are subsidiaries held by non-wholly-owned subsidiaries

of the Group and, accordingly, are accounted for as subsidiaries by virtue

of the Group’s unilateral control over the subsidiaries.

China New City Group Limited
2024 Annual Report
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards which comprise standards and
interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards
Board (the “IASB”), and International Accounting Standards and
Standing Interpretations Committee interpretations approved by the
International Accounting Standards Committee and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
investment properties, investment properties classified as held
for sale, equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss which have been measured at fair value as explained
in the accounting policies set out below. These financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (‘RMB”) and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended
31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B EAB E

31 December 2024 2024412H831H
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

(CONTINUED)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

China New City Group Limited
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

(CONTINUED)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described above. A change
in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the
fair value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING

POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRS
Accounting Standards for the first time for the current year’s
financial statements.
Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the 2020 Amendments’)
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments’)
Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 Supplier Finance

Arrangements

The revised standards have had no significant financial effect on
these financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRS
Accounting Standards, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements. The Group intends to apply
these revised IFRS Accounting Standards, if applicable, when they
become effective.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure
in Financial Statements®
IFRS 19 Subsidliaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures®

Amendments to IFRS 9 Amendments to the

and IFRS 7 Classification and
Measurement of
Financial Instruments?
Amendments to IFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature-
and IFRS 7 dependent Electricity?

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint
Venture*

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

Annual Improvements to
IFRS Accounting Standards
- Volume 11

Amendments to IFRS 1,
IFRS 7, IFRS 9, IFRS 10
and IAS 72

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
& Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

& No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact
of these new and revised IFRS Accounting Standards upon initial
application. So far, the Group considers that, these new and revised
IFRS Accounting Standards are unlikely to have a significant impact
on the Group’s results of operations and financial position.

China New City Group Limited
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in joint ventures

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the
net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in joint ventures are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s share
of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of joint ventures is included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and statement of
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there has
been a change recognised directly in the equity of the joint venture,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable,
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investments in the joint ventures, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of joint ventures is included as
part of the Group’s investments in associates or joint ventures.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 20245128 31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Investments in joint ventures (continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other case, upon loss of significant influence
over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value.
Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and
the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal
is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in a joint venture is classified as held for sale,
it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date
fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at
fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 20245128 31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of
the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, equity investments
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the
asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits
by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest
and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 20245128 31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, financial assets, completed properties held
for sale, properties under development, investment properties and
non-current assets/a disposal group classified as held for sale), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value
in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of
the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters
building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset, unless the asset
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss
is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy
for that revalued asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

or

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

U
(i)

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)() has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Property and equipment and depreciation

Property and equipment, other than construction in progress, are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property and equipment to its residual value
over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Buildings 4.75%
Hotel properties 2.38%
Office equipment 9.5% to 19%
Motor vehicles 19%

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter
of the lease terms

and 19%

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 20245128 31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain
or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property and equipment when completed and ready for
use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. Investment properties comprise completed investment
properties. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions
at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the statement of profit or loss in the year
in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year
of the retirement or disposal.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value and comprise land costs, construction
costs, borrowing costs, professional fees and other costs directly
attributable to such properties incurred during the development
period.

Properties under development which are already under construction
or expected to be under construction within twelve months or have
an explicit business plan for construction are classified as current
assets. Other properties under development are classified as non-
current assets.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost is determined by an apportionment
of the total costs of land and buildings attributable to the unsold
properties. Net realisable value takes into account the expected
selling price, less estimated costs to be incurred in selling the
properties based on prevailing market conditions.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach

for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-

value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease

payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the

underlying assets.

@)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:
Buildings 5 to 20 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

®)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate the
lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)
(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of office
equipment and laptop computers that are considered to be
of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit
or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.4 EK=:IE (8)

(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably
its equity investments as equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income when they meet the
definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation
and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to
the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other
income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment
has been established, except when the Group benefits from such
proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset,
in which case such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes equity investments which the Group had
not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other
comprehensive income. Dividends on the equity investments are
also recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss
when the right of payment has been established.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result
from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual

payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the

Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when

internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely

to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before

taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A

financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation

of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under

the general approach and they are classified within the following

stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which

apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 -

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 =
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing component
and lease receivables, the Group chooses as its accounting policy
to adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as
described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and
borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals, interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings, lease liabilities and amounts due to
related companies.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables, and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as
a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance determined in
accordance with the policy as set out in “Impairment of financial
assets”; and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.

China New City Group Limited
2024 Annual Report

24 EXGFTHE (8)

EmaRE (@)

BRI B EHEE (BS5REM
FENHAELL R E L)

ERERR > 5 REMBIRIBENR
STERMEMHBRBERNERIZEHR A
STERIFFRFERER BEBR T
EfEMAStE TR IEEREBURES
BERAEETHEERR > W kEE
PR m & T o

B AIEIRE B AT R BEEEN
RUERBBRENER—ED 2 BRAMETE
IS -BRAXZBHESNBRROY
BERTR-

HEEFRER

AEBFEHNMHERSQERET

EEBENRUEMFEEARREGEBA
REERBES TRVIRRER D ARIEM
BERBLANAN -MBERSONTRE
ARBEESS—EBEEE UHIFHZE
RERELENRXZMAIFHBE - RO5H
R AEBZ(RE SRMEERE
FREB RS ENTRMEEBEEE 5 K
IETESRRI TR (B FREESTRY R 51
WAEE UBRSESE SHEYBERS



2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average basis. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs
to be incurred to completion and on disposal.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset,
but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense
relating to a provision is presented in the statement of profit or loss
net of any reimbursement.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Provisions (continued)

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is initially
measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured at the
higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in accordance
with the general policy for provisions above; and (i) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, the amount of income
recognised in accordance with the policy for revenue recognition.

Employee retirement benefits

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the PRC government, the
companies comprising the Group operating in Chinese Mainland
(the “PRC group companies”) have participated in a local
municipal government retirement benefit scheme (the “Scheme”),
whereby the PRC group companies are required to contribute a
certain percentage of the salaries of their employees to the Scheme
to fund their retirement benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the Scheme is to pay the ongoing contributions
under the Scheme. Contributions under the Scheme are charged to
the statement of profit of loss as incurred. Contributions paid to the
Scheme for an employee are not available to reduce the Group’s
future obligations to the Scheme even if the employee leaves.

Employee benefits to all eligible employees of the overseas
subsidiaries are made in accordance with the rules set forth in the
collective labour agreement, and recorded as an expense in the
period they are due as a charge to the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax and land
appreciation tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside
profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures, when the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity
or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax
liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit
or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in
a separate financing transaction between the Group and the
customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group with a significant
financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under
the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of
the promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction
price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

@

®)

©

Revenue from the sales of properties

For property development and sales contracts for which
the control of the property is transferred at a point in time,
revenue is recognised when the purchasers obtain the
physical possession or the legal title of the completed
properties and the Group has the present right to payment
from the purchasers.

Revenue from hotel operation

Revenue from hotel operation is derived from room rental,
food and beverage sales and income from the provision of
other ancillary services, and is recognised when the services
are rendered.

Revenue from other services

Revenue from other services is recognised over the
scheduled period on a straight-line basis because the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 20245128 31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Commiissions in obtaining contracts

Sales commissions incurred directly attributable to obtaining a
contract, if recoverable, are capitalised and recorded in other
assets. Capitalised sales commissions are charged to profit or loss
when the revenue from the related property sale is recognised and
are included as selling and marketing expenses at that time. The
Group has elected to apply the practical expedient and did not
recognise the effects of the sales commissions if the time period is
one year or less.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services in
exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value at
the date at which they are granted.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfiled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit
or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Share-based payments (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected
within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached
to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions
are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification. Where an
equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on
the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the
award is recognised immediately.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation rate of
5.46% (2023: 7.61%) has been applied to the expenditure on the
individual assets.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements. Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies

The functional currency of the Company is the Hong Kong dollar
(“HK$”"), and the functional currencies of subsidiaries incorporated
outside Chinese Mainland are the “HK$”, the United States dollar
(“US$”) and Japanese yen (“JPY”), respectively. The functional
currency of Chinese Mainland subsidiaries is the RMB. As the
Group mainly operates in Chinese Mainland, the RMB is used as
the presentation currency of the Group. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with the exception
of monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the
Group’s net investment of a foreign operation. These are recognised
in other comprehensive income until the net investment is disposed
of, at which time the cumulative amount is reclassified to the
statement of profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to
exchange differences on those monetary items are also recorded in
other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain
or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 20245128 31H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of non-PRC established subsidiaries
are currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting
period and their statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the
dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences are
attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of non-PRC established subsidiaries are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of non-PRC established companies
which arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

(i) Property lease classification - Group as a lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting a
major part of the economic life of the commercial property
and the present value of the minimum lease payments not
amounting to substantially all the fair value of the commercial
property, that it retains substantially all the significant risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of these properties
which are leased out and accounts for the contracts as
operating leases.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Judgements (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Classification between investment properties,
completed properties held for sale and owner-occupied
properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the
Group considers whether a property generates cash flows
largely independently of the other assets held by the Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that is
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If
the portions could not be sold separately, the property is an
investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual
property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so
significant that a property does not qualify as an investment

property.

Classification of current and non-current properties
under development

The Group classifies properties under development according
to the construction progress and estimated commencement
date of pre-sale. Properties under development are classified
as current assets after the construction commences or
having a clear plan for construction. As for the rest properties
under development, the Group classify them as non-current.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources

of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that

have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial

year, are described below:

@

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties were revalued based on the appraised
market value by independent professional valuers. Such
valuations were based on certain assumptions, which are
subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the
actual results. In making the estimate, the Group considers
information from current prices in an active market for similar
properties and uses assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period.

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the Group considers information from a variety of
sources, including:

(@  current prices in an active market for properties of
a different nature, condition or location or subject to
different lease or other contracts, adjusted to reflect
those differences;

(b)  recent prices of similar properties on less active
markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes
in economic conditions since the dates of the
transactions that occurred at those prices; and
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

@

(ii)

Fair value of investment properties (continued)

(c) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms
of any existing leases and other contracts and (when
possible) by external evidence such as current market
rents for similar properties in the same location and
condition, and using discount rates that reflect current
market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount
and timing of the cash flows.

The principal assumptions for the Group’s estimation of
the fair value include those related to current market rents
for similar properties in the same location and condition,
appropriate discount rates, expected future market rents and
future maintenance costs. The carrying amount of investment
properties at 31 December 2024 was RMB4,363,700,000
(2023:RMB4,858,800,000). Further details, including the key
assumptions used for fair value measurement, are given in
note 13 to the financial statements.

Net realisable value of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale

The Group’s properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Based on the Group’s historical experience
and the nature of the subject properties, the Group makes
estimates of the selling prices, the costs of completion
of properties under development, and the costs to be
incurred in selling the properties based on prevailing market
conditions.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Net realisable value of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale (continued)

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in
net sales value, the net realisable value will decrease and this
may result in a write-down of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale to net realisable
value. The estimation of net realisable value requires the
use of judgements and estimates. Where the expectation is
different from the original estimate, the carrying value and of
properties in the period in which the estimate is changed will
be adjusted accordingly. Further details are included in notes
14 and 22 to the financial statements.

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

LAT in the PRC is levied at progressive rates ranging from
30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the
proceeds from sale of properties less deductible expenditures
including land costs, borrowing costs and other property
development expenditures.

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in the property
development business in Chinese Mainland are subject to
LAT. However, the implementation of these taxes varies
amongst various cities in Chinese Mainland and the Group
has not finalised its LAT returns with various tax authorities.
Accordingly, significant judgement is required in determining
the amount of land appreciation and its related taxes. The
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises these liabilities
based on management’s best estimates. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, the differences will impact the
statement of profit or loss and the provision for LAT in the
period in which the determination is made. Further details are
included in note 10 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(iv)

v)

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing
rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of
interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore
reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available (such as
for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions)
or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and
conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates
the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest
rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-
specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit
rating). Further details are included in note 15 to the financial
statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-
use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Other non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there are
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset
or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and
its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs
of disposal is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing
of the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows
from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows. Further details are included in notes 12, 13, 14,
15, 16 and 22 to the financial statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(vi)

(vii)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences and losses can
be utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.
Further details are included in note 20 to the financial
statements.

Fair value of unlisted equity investments

The unlisted equity investments have been valued based
on a market-based valuation technique as detailed in note
39 to the financial statements. The valuation requires the
Group to determine the comparable public companies
(peers) and select the price multiple. In addition, the Group
makes estimates about the discount for illiquidity and size
differences. The Group classifies the fair value of these
investments as Level 3. The fair value of the unlisted equity
investments at 31 December 2024 was RMB340,354,000
(2023: RMB357,395,000). Further details are included in note
17 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(viii) Provision for ECLs on trade receivables and other

financial assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables and other financial assets. The provision rates are
based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e. by service type,
customer type and rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix
to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-
looking information. For instance, if forecast economic
conditions are expected to deteriorate over the next year
which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the
property development sector, the historical default rates are
adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT

INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on income derived from business and has four
reportable operating segments as follows:

(@  the commercial property development segment develops and
sells commercial properties in Chinese Mainland and Japan;

(o)  the property rental segment leases investment properties in
Chinese Mainland;

(c)  the hotel operations segment owns and operates hotels; and

(d) the “others” segment comprises, the Group’s project
management business and other business that the Group is
involved in.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/loss,
which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax. The adjusted
profit/loss before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s
profit/loss before tax except that interest income and finance costs
are excluded from the measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, tax recoverable,
cash and cash equivalents, and other unallocated head office and
corporate assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and other
unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities
are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT . REFWEH (@B
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Commercial
property Property Hotel Other
Year ended HE20245F development rental operations services Total
31 December 2024 12B31ALEE ik ESEE MEHE BEEE HAt AR st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT  ARBTRT  ARETR  ARETR  ARET=®

Segment revenue SEBRA
Sales to external customers HHNBREHE 3,704,508 122,274 224,586 52,388 4,103,756
Intersegment sales DEEHE - 20,052 - 3,873 23,925
3,704,508 142,326 224,586 56,261 4,127,681

Reconciliation: E:-i
Elimination of intersegment sales NEEEE SR (23,925)
Revenue WA 4,103,756
Segment results DBER 1,776,220 (488,642) (31,514) (24,790) 1,231,274
Reconciliation: BAT -
Interest income FIBWA 17,288
Finance costs M%ER (118,180)
Profit before tax 3 EEIRIbE 1,130,382
Segment assets HUEE 6,201,139 4,673,438 1,913,326 765,905 13,553,808
Reconciliation: BE
Elimination of intersegment receivables e U IE 8 (1,144,777
Corporate and other unallocated assets EEREMKIEEE 976,696
Total assets BEE 13,385,727
Segment liabilities SEafk 2,479,054 371,202 679,232 412,300 3,941,788
Reconciliation: iBAT -
Elimination of intersegment payables D ERERT B (1,144,777)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities CEREMKDEEAE 5,246,582
Total lbilties BafE 8,043,593
Other segment information: HitnpHEHR
Share of losses of joint ventures EEEEEEE - - - 7,264 7,264
Impairment losses recognized in the statement 8z R DA RERS R

of profit or loss - - 49,141 28,523 77,664
Depreciation and amortisation E R 9,642 6,408 77,292 28,442 121,784
Investment in joint ventures REEtERE - - - 24,499 24,499
Capital expenditure BAHY 11,618 8,824 22,907 1,641 44,990
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT Ak

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT . BESTER (&)
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Commercial
property Property Hotel Other
Year ended HZE2023F development rental operations services Total
31 December 2023 12A318LLEE ERYERE MERE BEEE HitAR st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT  AR®TR ARETRT  ARKTR  ARETR

Segment revenue DEBRA
Sales to external customers IR RHE 825,373 110,712 257,923 103,227 1,207,235
Intersegment sales DEEHE = 31,089 = = 31,989
826,373 142,701 257,923 103,227 1,329,224

Reconciliation: EE
Elimination of intersegment sales DI E B (31,989)
Revenue [/ON 1,297,235
Segment results AEEE 65,040 (366,308) (61,238) (26,060) (378,566)
Reconciliation: AT .
Interest income FEWA 3,875
Finance costs HHER (101,976)
Loss before tax MEIES A (476,667)
Segment assets AHEE 6,958,645 4,877,191 1,904,211 416,944 14,156,991
Reconciliation: BA
Elimination of intersegment receivables D E RIS IEE (1,270,427)
Corporate and other unallocated assets rEREMADIEEE 646,443
Total assets nEE 13,533,007
Segment liabilities SHaf 4,202,164 355,875 690,886 463,448 5,712,373
Reconciliation: BE
Elimination of intersegment payables DI TIES (1,270,427)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities rEREMADEER 4,250,222
Total liabilities 3=V 8,692,168
Other segment information: HitpHE#
Share of losses of joint ventures LA EREFE - - - 663 663
Impairment losses recognized in the statement 18z & F 2RI B2

of profit or loss - - - 21,280 21,280
Depreciation and amortisation EREH 8,808 215 96,287 44,216 149,526
Investment in joint ventures REELERE - - = 36,389 36,389
Capital expenditure BARY 2,206 758 13,926 54,009 70,899

REF S EEARAT
“z-meex 163



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4, LEFIEE (48)
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Geographical information & &l
(@) Revenue from external customers (@) ZREMBEEZUIA
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
Revenue A AR¥TF T AR¥®TFT
Chinese Mainland R E Py i 4,103,008 1,281,033
Others Hih 748 16,202
4,103,756 1,297,235

(b)

The revenue information above is based on the locations of

the customers.

Non-current assets

LB AERDERERZUE-

(b) FREBEE

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets ERHEE AREFT ARBFT
Chinese Mainland FEI R 7,299,787 8,542,737
Others Hih 59,891 80,329
7,359,678 8,623,066

LTHIFRBEEERDEAREEZ
UE  BrOEEEABRAAEE
SEARMMEEmBENRERE RIE
IERRIBEE ©

ARETEERNER

TEHEE-—FAYAENERESTH
BRI EEGAEREH E20245F
F22023F 12831 H IEFE WA BI10%T LA
J:O

The non-current asset information above is based on the
locations of the assets and excludes equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

No sales to a single customer or a group of customers under
common control accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s
revenue for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT Ak

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

5. WA ~ ELAUT A B i miF

GAINS, NET, AND OTHER EXPENSES

AU R H fth 32

An analysis of revenue is as follows: WA DT
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AR¥FT
Revenue from contracts with EREHMA
customers 3,981,482 1,186,523
Revenue from other sources Bt K FHA
Gross rental income from investment REKREYE HEZEESWA
property operating leases 122,274 110,712
4,103,756 1,297,235
Revenue from contracts with customers BEREHKA
() Disaggregated revenue information i) SDiFBAER
For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE2024F128310 LEE
Commercial
property Hotel Other
development operations services Total
Segments Akl BEMERR B HitiR# st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREFR ARBFT AREFT
Types of goods or services & 3l IRFHER
Sale of properties MIEHE 3,704,508 = = 3,704,508
Hotel operation services TG R iR - 224,586 - 224,586
Other services HA R - - 52,388 52,388
Total revenue from contracts BB AXRALBEE
with customers 3,704,508 224,586 52,388 3,981,482
Timing of revenue recognition U & FesZ B g
At a point in time R 3,704,508 224,586 - 3,929,004
Over time — R - - 52,388 52,388
Total revenue from contracts ~ BEAXRALBEE
with customers 3,704,508 224,586 52,388 3,981,482
FEHIETERBRAE

TR NEER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. URA » Hfthllt A B Ug a1 %
GAINS, NET, AND OTHER EXPENSES U R HithFZ (48)
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers BEREHWA (48)
(continued)
() Disaggregated revenue information (continued) i) DIHBAER @
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE2023F 128310 EFEE
Commercial
property Hotel Other
development operations services Total
Segments o EEEFE S HitiR# Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000

ARETT ARETT ARETR ARBTT

Types of goods or services & mal iRT55ER!

Sale of properties MEHE 825,373 - - 825,373
Hotel operation services AR KSR = 257,923 = 257,923
Other senvices HtniR# - = 108,227 108,227
Total revenue from contracts ~ BRAKURALLEE

with customers 825,373 257,923 103,227 1,186,523
Timing of revenue recognition U3 2785 i
At a point in time R 825,373 257,923 = 1,083,296
Over time — B - - 103,227 108,227
Total revenue from contracts B P& XA K84E

with customers 825,373 257,923 103,227 1,186,523
Revenue from the sale of properties recognised during the RHREPVEILFTAGNE
year ended 31 December 2024 that was included in contract BZ8 E2024F12H31HIEF
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period amounted to ERDBZYEHERAALARE
RMB3,002,283,000 (2023: RMB403,290,000). 3,002,283,0007T (20234 : AR

403,290,0007T) ©
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B EAB E

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

5. UTA  ELfUT A B Ul o i3

4

GAINS, NET, AND OTHER EXPENSES U REMBEZ (&)

(CONTINUED)
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AR#FTT
Other income Hg A
Subsidy income* RN 478 871
Interest income FEUWA 17,288 3,875
Others Hih 7,049 7,404
24,815 12,150
Gains &
Gain on disposal of items of right-of-use assets ~ HEFREEEMUEG 24,402 =
Gain on compensation of lease termination EEAERIENKE 2,876 =
Gain on disposal of items of property and HEMERZEEBNWE
equipment - 519
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries H &M E A B B 2,863 =
30,141 519
54,956 12,669

There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

o

MEAMZEHMPRERFEFHIAE

PEMEERAERAR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B HA I

31 December 2024 2024512831H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. UTA » Efthllt A B Y a5
GAINS, NET, AND OTHER EXPENSES BEA B EL{th B 52 (48)
(CONTINUED)

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREETTT
Other expenses HimE

Impairment provision for property and equipment 413 Kz 55 & B T8 (B 15 1 (59,481) (1,653)
Impairment of an investment in a joint venture R—EaEtENKRERE (5,626) =
Impairment provision for right-of-use assets FREESENRERE (2,166) (729)

Loss on disposal of items of property and HEMERREBEBEE 2R
equipment (2,749) -
Impairment of financial assets TREERE (10,391) (18,898)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEWBARNEIE - (8,189)
Loss on disposal of investment properties HEREYENEIR - (4,382)
Loss on disposal of right-of-use assets EEFREEENESE = (4,834)
Foreign exchange loss SNEESE (1,359) (6,844)
Donations E=E (1,712) @1)
Compensation fhE (912) (7,305)
Others Hith (10,854) (7,042)
(95,250) (59,897)
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6. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B EAB E

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

6. BRIRAIFIE ~ (B54R)

AEBBRMATFIE, (B8 &Nk G

(crediting): A) THIRIE
2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k=23 ARBEFT AREFT
Cost of properties sold BHEWERAK 22 1,818,398 655,548
Depreciation of property and equipment ¥R L HITE 12 104,297 122,768
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 15 17,487 25,913
Amortisation of other intangible assets HhmA & ESH 16 - 845
Lease payments not included in the Tt AHEAaREE
measurement of lease liabilities ZHENR 15 7,266 10,000
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEMBN & 1,970 2,100
Staff costs including directors’ and chief ~ ETLHZ (BIEEE K
executive’s remuneration: FETHAEMD) : 8
— Salaries and other staff costs —TEKREME A 79,288 106,584
— Pension scheme contributions* —RIRE B 14,281 17,687
Foreign exchange differences, net PE R ZE%R > A 1,359 6,844
Direct operating expenses (including HiEKERY (B1EKREY
repairs and maintenance arising on ¥ELENHERER
investment properties) 5,028 4,910
Loss on disposal of investment properties HER B~ k518 - 4,382
(Gain)/loss on disposal of subsidiaries HERBARZ k)
518 32 (2,863) 8,189
Compensation of lease termination FE&RIEREE 5 (2,876) =
(Gain)/loss on on disposal of right-of-use  BREFREEEZ &)
assets 518 &) (24,402) 4,834
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEMERRBERZ
property and equipment 518 () 2,749 (519)
Fair value losses, net: NABEEEBE FE
Changes in fair value of investment SEMERDEENE
properties 13 495,100 352,311
Changes in fair value of financial assets ~ #&A REEET AIBE
at fair value through profit or loss ZEMEBEZRR
BEEE - 16
Impairment of financial assets ** SREERE" 24 10,391 18,898
Impairment provision for property and MERZRERERE
equipment ** 12 59,481 1,653
Impairment of an investment in a joint R—EaEtENKRERE
venture 19 5,626 -
Impairment provision for right-of-use FEREEENRERE™
assets™* 15 2,166 729
E There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the * BEE2 RN ER I EAEREEAEER

employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

*k

loss.

Included in “Other expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or

TERDIRAHERKT -

SPGB RATEMBIS -

FEMNEDEREERAS
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

7. FINANCE COSTS 7.

An analysis of the Group’s finance costs is as follows:

&R

AEBENMFERONUT !

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT

Interest on bank and other borrowings RITREMERFE 178,170 221,372
Interest on lease liabilities HEEENE 3,342 5,074

Total interest expense on financial liabilites I IEIEA R BEST ABEN SR
not at fair value through profit or loss BB S4B 181,512 226,446

Less: Interest capitalised in properties under 38 : PR BB RCENF] S
development 63,332 124,470
118,180 101,976

= 4= =

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 8. EEMAFEITHASME

EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is

RiE LR BB R BHRGI5383(1)(@)
o)~ ) RMF > URAT IRBEENTE
D) RPIE2 2 RE  FRNESEREETT
BABMEWT

as follows:

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%FT AEBEFTT
Fees B 600 548

Other emoluments: EHhsrey -
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e TCALBOERS 1,700 2,063
Pension scheme contributions BB EIHR 53 48
1,753 2,111
2,353 2,659

1 O China New City Group Limited
7 2024 Annual Report




8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
(CONTINUED)

(@) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during
the year were as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT Ak

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

8. EERFEITHARME

455
m

(@) B\IIFRITES

FRAENBIFATEFZAEH

IR
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARBT T

Mr. Xu Chengfa BERESE
Mr. Lam Yau Yiu Mg E
Mr. Shen Xiao? PPl
Mr. Yuan Yuan RmEE

0 Mr. Shen Xiao was appointed on 17 February 2023 and resigned
on 24 April 2023.

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent
non-executive directors during the year (2023: Nil).

200 200
200 174

- 37
200 137
600 548

i) LB ERR2023F 2B 17HE R TN

R2023F4H248 FH{E -

ERTEEMEABIIIERTES
Z FrBi (20234 : #E) o

PR S ERARAS
TR NEER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 8. EFERFEITHASHME
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (€]
(CONTINUED)
(b) Executive directors, a non-executive (b) MITEF -FFRITEEFERE
director and the chief executive ETHAE
Salaries Pension Share
and scheme option
allowances Bonuses contributions expense Total
ek RKEEE ke
P 1E4L [ 553 fazt

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTR ARBTR AREBTR

2024 20244
Executive directors: HITEZE:
Mr. Jin Jianrong TERERE 708 - 50 - 758
Chief executive and FTETHAER
executive director: HITEE .
Mr. Shi Nanlu liifE) e 992 - 3 - 995
1,700 - 53 - 1,753
2023 2023F
Executive directors: HITEZE:
Mr. Jin Jianrong TRERE 1,130 - 48 - 1,178
Chief executive and EITPASR
executive director: HITEE .
Mr. Shi Nanlu e 933 - - - 933
2,063 - 48 - 2,111
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or FAMBRESHERRRRELM
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2023: Nil). FHEMAY Z2HE (20234 © #E) o

1 2 China New City Group Limited
7 2024 Annual Report



9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year include one (2023:
two) director. Details of directors’ remuneration are set out in note
8 above. Details of the remuneration of the four (2023: three) non-
director, highest paid employees for the year are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT Ak

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

9. AAREHAL

FRLLRSHESEE—% (20235 :
M) BEF-BFZWNEFH B EHM L
8o FAINA (20235F  =8) FEERD
HENEERNB BT

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT AR#EFTT

Salaries, bonuses and allowances Fhe  TEAT Ko ERh 3,904 2,509
Pension scheme contributions BIREBFTEIHR 231 178
4,135 2,687

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

HMNFUTEINFEERSHMES
ABUNT

Number of employees

BEAZ
2024 2023
20244 20234
Nil to HK$1,000,000 ZZ 1,000,000 75 3 3
Over HK$1,000,000 #Bi#1,000,0007 70 1 -
4 3

No share options were granted to the non-director, highest paid
employees.

TEAFEFRSHNESRDBERE

PR S ERARAS
TR NEER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 20245128 31H

10. INCOME TAX

The Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong and Japan
were not liable for income tax as they did not have any assessable
profits currently arising in Hong Kong and Japan during the year
(2023: Nil).

The provision for the PRC income tax has been provided at the
applicable income tax rate of 25% (2023: 25%) on the assessable
profits of the Group’s subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from the sale
of properties less deductible expenditures including land costs,
borrowing costs and other property development expenditures. The
Group has estimated, made and included in taxation a provision for
LAT according to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax
laws and regulations. Prior to the actual cash settlement of the LAT
liabilities, the LAT liabilities are subject to the final review/approval by
the tax authorities.

10. FR{5#i

FEEREBRAREMRILNNE LS
RERDEREBRAAEEEREAE
SRR > B B BB FR 1SR (20234 !

") o

FEIFFSIR BT A S B T E A M A S
NTHIFERIRFE1%25% (20234 : 25%)
MBS R

TR ERZ T I E BN EYERE
TRIRR AT R ST ) (B st s ~ B RRR
AREMYEREH)) URERKI0%
E60% R - AEEDRETHERARE
BER E - FHRERBEANS AL
BERERE EURTEREFE I MIZE
MEBEZE > TR EREERBRREE
BRAER, ke

2024 2023
20244 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
&t ARBEFT AREFT
Current — PRC corporate income BPEARRIB—EFER
tax for the year PEMER 208,507 44,797
Current — PRC LAT for the year BUERTRIE— R R
THIIRER 495,254 17,839
Deferred IEIEFRIE 20 (59,147) (114,170)
Total tax charge for the year FRRIBR S 4858 644,614 (51,534)

A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to loss before tax using
the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in which the Company and the
majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the
effective tax rate is as follows:

China New City Group Limited
2024 Annual Report
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT Ak

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

10. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 10. FR1§1R (48)
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARBT T

Profit/(loss) before tax BRIGATAIE, (B518) 1,130,382 (476,667)
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% #25% (20234 : 25%)
(2023: 25%) EEREFENRNE 282,596 (119,167)

Effect of withholding tax at 10% on the MAERPEHME AT
distributable profits of the Group’s PRC AR A B A 401 0%

subsidiaries AR 6,726 (1,188)
Expenses not deductible for tax EGIE L5 479 301
Tax losses utilised from previous periods 2R B8R 2 EENARIEEE (24,009) =
Tax losses and temporary differences not  SREEFRIRIEES 18 K B BF 14 = RE

recognised 7,381 55,141
Provision for LAT TR ER B 495,254 17,839
Tax effect on LAT TR ERNR T E (123,813) (4,460)
Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate IR AEEBRRFXAENRIER 644,614 (51,534)

Tax payable in the consolidated statement FA 4R & M FEAR T R AL RIES :
of financial position represents:

PRC corporate income tax FRE (> ZEFTERR 638,778 193,768
PRC LAT FREE = B (E TR 519,113 217,681
1,157,891 411,449

FEFATEEERAT s
Ze-meEn 1/
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B HA I

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

11. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 1. B4

ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent of RMB503,909,000 (2023: loss of RMB404,136,000) and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 2,010,768,000
(2023: 2,010,768,000) outstanding during the year, as adjusted to
reflect the rights issued during the year.

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on:

5] & 3 s *Eﬁ?\ A
kiR, (518)

SEREARF(FH) BRESQAH
ZERBRRAARBGFERFIBEARE
503,909,0007T (20234 : BEARE
404,136,0007T) > U KR EREFTEIINGZ
BRI T 5%2,010,768,0000% (2023
£ 1 2,010,768,0008%) st& > E FREMUR
B PO B B TRYER)

BREAGERRETIEENE !

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARKET T

Profit/(loss) A, (B538)
Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity &ATE@ERERITHE AL
holders of the parent I (E#8) 503,909 (404,136)
Number of shares
e =]
2024 2023
20245 20234
Shares B2
Weighted average number of ordinary FEARBH BRZIMEFHE

shares in issue during the year

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

China New City Group Limited
2024 Annual Report
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT Ak

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

12. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 12. MEREE

Hotel Office Motor Leasehold  Construction
Buildings properties equipment vehicles  improvements in progress Total
BENE HARME HE HEMENR EEIR act

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB000
ARETT  ARBTR  AREBTT  ARETT  ARETn  ARETR  ARETR

31 December 2023 2023F12A318
At 1 January 2023: 20235181
Cost A 223419 2,262,657 86,359 47916 172,406 124,712 2,917,469
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  RHHTERAE (40,051) (362,665) (39,810) (26,679) (72,311) - (541,510)
Net carrying amount AR 183,368 1,899,992 46,549 21,243 100,095 124,712 2,375,959
At 1 January 2023, net of accumulated 120231818 R &3t

depreciation and impairment TERAE 183,368 1,899,992 46,549 21,243 100,095 124,712 2,375,959
Additions RE 362 12,765 2,838 - 10,779 44,155 70,899
Disposals HE ®) - (684) (1,414) - - (2,106)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWBAR - - (153) - (6,852) - (7,005)
Transfers s - - - - 4714 4714) -
Depreciation provided during the year FREHERE (2,011) (81,449) (14,747) (1,377) (23,184) = (122,768)
Impairment HE - - - - (1,653) - (1,659)
At 31 December 2023, net of accumulated 12023512531 B » MR Rt

depreciation and impairment TERAE 181,711 1,831,308 33,803 18,452 83,899 164,153 2,313,326
At 31 December 2023 #2023512A318
Cost i 228,761 2,275,422 87,426 45,269 171,468 164,153 2,967,499
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  RHHTERAE (42,050) (444,114) (53,623) (26,817) (87,569) - (654,173)
Net carrying amount REFE 181,711 1,831,308 33,803 18,452 83,899 164,153 2,313,326
31 December 2024 2024F12A318
At 1 January 2024: 202451818
Cost A 223,761 2,275,422 87,426 45,269 171,468 164,153 2,967,499
Accumulated depreciation and impaiment Bt ERIAE (42,050) (444,114) (53,623) (26,817) (87,569) - (654,173)
Nt carrying amount EESE 181,711 1,831,308 33,803 18,452 83,899 164153  2,3133%
At1 January 2024, net of accumulated  F2024E1 818 MR R

depreciation and impairment WERAE 181,711 1,831,308 33,803 18,452 83,899 164,153 2,313,326
Additions RE 48 - 566 718 17,080 26,578 44,990
Disposals HE - - (3,829) (90) (656) - (4,475)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 52) HEMBAR Wz32) - - (174) - (6,774) - (6,948)
Transfers fered - - - - 9,271 (9,271) -
Depreciation provided during the year FREHENE (8,966) (67,408) (11,857) (1,044) (15,022) - (104,297)
Impairment HE - (49,141) - - (10,340) - (59,481)
At 31 December 2024, net of acoumulated 132024128310 » MR K5t

depreciation and impairment WERAE 172,793 1,714,759 18,509 18,036 71,558 181,460 2,183,115
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12831H
Cost RE 223,809 2,226,282 80,982 43977 186,924 181,460 2,943,434
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  RHHTERiAE (51,016) (511,529) (62,473) (25,941) (109,366) - (760,319)
Net carrying amount REFE 172,793 1,714,759 18,509 18,036 71,558 181,460 2,183,115

REF S EEARAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

12. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

Although the Group had obtained the land use rights certificates of
construction in progress, building ownership certificates may be not
obtained before the completion of construction work.

As at 31 December 2024, due to the downturn of the property
development market, the Group performed an impairment test on
cash-generating units. The recoverable amount of cash-generating
units were determined based on a value in use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
senior management. The discount rate applied in the cash flow
projections was 7.5% to 13.0%. Based on the impairment test,
the carrying amount of the cash-generating units were impaired by
RMB59,481,000. The impairment loss recognised was included in
“Other expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

At 31 December 2024, certain items of the Group’s property
and equipment with a net carrying amount of approximately
RMB957,123,000 (2023: RMB1,081,614,000) were pledged to
secure interest-bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the
Group as disclosed in note 29.

China New City Group Limited
2024 Annual Report

12. ME K=k (&)

BESEEEESER RO LI ERR
B8 BrERETRY AT EFLRG
3

o

ko

1220245128310 AR ERETIH T
SO MAEEHREEEBUETRER
AoRFREELEMMNAINEEELER
BeREERAENMBRESER &
AREAERAUCHEEHEMEE
FARRERERAMNBRER7E%E
13.0% RBBEAXER ZFHEE
EEUMREEEAEARS9,481,000
Too PREESBRREBEEI AL ERE

BITEfhFESZ H o

R2024F12831H A EBETYERR
HIEERMEFEN A ARE957,123,0007T

(20234 : AER1,081,614,0007T) * 54 U0
MIsT20FR IR 2R » BIE R AEEER S IR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT Ak

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. I B E

Completed Investment
investment properties
properties held for sale Total
BT FETHE
KREYE BEME “act
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEBETFT AR®FTr ARETT
At 1 January 2023 R2023FE181H 5,202,000 74,900 5,276,900
Transfer to investment properties ~ ERERFIEIHEREYE
held for sale (9,489) 9,489 -
Disposal HE - (65,789) (65,789)
Changes in fair value of REMEN RN EEES
investment properties (852,311) - (352,311)
At 31 December 2023 and FR2023%F 128310 &
1 January 2024 2024F181H 4,840,200 18,600 4,858,800
Transfer to investment properties B EIFEIHEREY
held for sale (8,200) 8,200 -
Changes in fair value of SEMEN R ABEES)
investment properties (495,100) - (495,100)
At 31 December 2024 R2024%F12831H 4,336,900 26,800 4,363,700
PRI EE A RAE]

TR NEER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

13. 2B Y=E (B)

2024 2023

20245 20234

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Mzt AR®EFT AER¥ET T

Non-current assets ERFMEE 4,336,900 4,840,200
Current assets MENEE (@) 26,800 18,600
4,363,700 4,858,800

(@) Al investment properties of the Group were revalued at the () ~EE2BREYENELRBI

end of the year by an independent professionally qualified
valuer, Royson Valuation Advisory Limited at fair value.
Royson Valuation Advisory Limited is an industry specialist in
investment property valuation. The fair value represents the
amount at which the assets could be exchanged between
a knowledgeable and wiling buyer and a seller in an arm’s
length transaction at the date of valuation, in accordance with
International Valuation Standards.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under
operating leases, further summary details of which are
included in note 15 to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s investment
properties with a carrying amount of RMB3,043,315,000
(2023: RMB2,993,909,000) were pledged to secure interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the Group as
disclosed in note 29.
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(CONTINUED)

(@) (continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B EAB E

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

13. 285 ¥=E (B)

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement

hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties:

(@ &)

TROPFEERENEZ ANE
EEEER

Fair value measurement as at
31 December 2024 using

2024512831 B ERU T RIEN AR BEHZE

Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable  unobservable
Recurring fair value UTEEZEEMAAEE  active markets inputs inputs
measurement for: itE (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
GRS EXTHE EATTHZE
HIR1E BWAHE BARE
(FE14) (524R) (F3%R) Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AERETTT ARETTT
Commercial properties [EEES - 1,422,900 2,940,800 4,363,700

Recurring fair value
measurement for;

UTREZEBENARER

HE:

Fair value measurement as at
31 December 2023 using

R2023F 12831 BEBUTRBN AN BEE

Quoted

prices in
active markets
(Level 1)
TEHET IR
NIRE
(E18)
RMB’000
ARETT

Significant Significant

observable unobservable

inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3) Total

EXTEE EATIUEE

BAHE BAME
(524 (534 a5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBETT ARBTT

Commercial properties

ElEEES

1,562,300 3,296,500 4,858,800

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value

measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers

into or out of Level 3 (2023: there were no transfers of fair

value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and there

were investment properties with amounts of RMB17,200,000

transfers out of Level 3 into Level 2).

ER ARBEFEMERF IR
PR EERE - IREEBANEHE
34k (20234 : ARBESEHER
BRI ER 2 EER > MR ENE
AE#17,200,0007c 3 £ 3R EA H
28%) ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

(@) (continued)

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within

13. 2B Y=E (B)

(@ &)

DERFMARBEERZ AR

Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: BstE2ZHER .
Commercial
properties
[l kY ES
RMB’000
AREFT
Carrying amount at 1 January 2023 1R2023FE1B1H Z BREE 3,562,400
Transfer B (17,200)
Net loss from a fair value adjustment recognised in REBMELANEEEFREI 2
changes in fair value of investment properties NABERBZEEFE (248,700)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2023 and R2023%F 12831 H K&2024F1H1H
1 January 2024 ZREE 3,296,500
Transfer g _
Net loss from a fair value adjustment recognised in REBMEANEELERIZ
changes in fair value of investment properties NAEBEREZEIEFE (355,700)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2024 R2024FE 12831 H Z BREE 2,940,800

The valuation techniques adopted are the direct comparison
approach and the income approach (term and reversion
approach), and key inputs are:

(1) Term yield: the higher the term yield, the lower the fair
value;

(2)  Reversionary yield: the higher the reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value;

(8)  Market unit rent: the higher the market unit rent, the
higher the fair value; and

(4)  Price per square metre: the higher the price, the higher
the fair value.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT Ak

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

3. IEBEME (@)

(@ &)

(@) (continued)

DR R ABEFRERNEZEY
ELERPELRTERZETH

The valuation of investment properties classified as Level 2
in the fair value hierarchy is based on comparable market

transactions, with the Group considering sales of similar
properties traded in the open market.

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the
key inputs to the valuation of investment properties classified

as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy:

B AEECEER A ARATHESR
BUAA LI 2 E o

UFBDERAANBEFTHREBEIRD
REVENEET PTG ESM
ERAMBERE

Valuation techniques Significant
unobservable inputs Range or weighted average
B EXTIHRZOAYE BESMEFSE
2024 2023
20245 20235
Retail Income approach Term yield 5.0% to 6.5% 5.0% to 6.5%
e Reversionary yield 6.0% to 7.0% 6.0% to 7.0%
WAE Market unit rent RMB2.0/sqm/day RMB2.2/sqm/day
FHERE - ERUEEXR to to
misENES RMB5.7/sqm/day RMB6.0/sqm/day
5.0%%6.5% 5.0%%6.5%
6.0%Z7.0% 6.0%Z7.0%
SFHK SEHRK
BXARK20t SRARHK227T
EHTAR EGFHK
BXAR#5IT BSRXARE6.0T
Office Income approach Term yield 4.5% 4.5%
NS WA Reversionary yield 5.5% 5.5%
Market unit rent RMB1.5/sqm/day RMB1.6/sqm/day
FHEHRE ERREER 4.5% 4.5%
MBS 5.5% 5.5%
STAK SEAK
SXAE®15T BXARB16T

Under the discounted cash flow method, fair value is
estimated using assumptions regarding the benefits and
liabilities of ownership over the asset’s life including an exit
or terminal value. This method involves the projection of
a series of cash flows on a property interest. A market-
derived discount rate is applied to the projected cash flow
in order to establish the present value of the income stream
associated with the asset. The exit yield is normally separately
determined and differs from the discount rate.

BREBERRREEREE RAEED
FAREEFRARFE RN @K
BENBRRGEE (BERLEHEL
BE) -ZNEIREYEED —F
SIRERENAR -HEBEARESR
EBREATSBITENMREE ML
ZEERBRZANRE - BEK
DEXRREEEBETEANNALIER

fm

R ERARAT]
TS MEER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 20245128 31H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(continued)

The duration of the cash flows and the specific timing of
inflows and outflows are determined by events such as rent
reviews, lease renewal and related reletting, redevelopment or
refurbishment. The appropriate duration is driven by market
behaviour that is a characteristic of the class of property.
The periodic cash flow is estimated as gross income less
vacancy, non-recoverable expenses, collection losses, lease
incentives, maintenance costs, agent and commission costs
and other operating and management expenses. The series
of periodic net operating income, along with an estimate of
the terminal value anticipated at the end of the projection
period, is then discounted.

A significant increase (decrease) in the estimated rental value
and the market rent growth rate per annum in isolation would
result in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair value of
the investment properties. A significant increase (decrease) in
the long term vacancy rate and the discount rate in isolation
would result in a significant decrease (increase) in the fair
value of the investment properties. Generally, a change
in the assumption made for the estimated rental value is
accompanied by a directionally similar change in the rent
growth per annum and the discount rate and an opposite
change in the long term vacancy rate.

The Group’s investment properties situated on the leasehold
land in Chinese Mainland are all leased for 30 to 50 years.

Investment properties leased out under operating leases

The Group leases out investment properties under operating
lease arrangements. All leases run for a period of one to
fifteen years, with an option to renew after the expiry dates, at
which time all terms will be renegotiated.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group entered into certain
sales agreements to sell certain investment properties with a
carrying amount of RMB26,800,000 (2023: RMB18,600,000).
The Group had received nil deposits (2023: RMB6,600,000).
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13. 2B Y=E (B)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(&)

REMENFERBEORANRH
WARERBDHRFENASRS A
ERAKREHEGEE BRAMFE
EHRE- BENFERERZTS
TR (RYEENN—ES e
E-EHMRENBREBEATRKRE
E-AAJl O IREESIE - BE
/e REER RERAZEAU
REMEE R EEMAX G5t o z—
RIEMEEWA TR ERE
RIEAARERNKREEGSE
3 PERETTRAIR

B AEEERTHEEFHEER
BERAIBEM (L) RERKREY
ErznanBEAEEM D) - &
HEEX KRR REFAEEN (&
L) BERREYEZ RABEKIE
> (B) - —fRMm = sifEEHEE
BEEFUHNBERNEHTERES
FREREFERHFHOUS 0EH
RERRAEERHFERAEE-

FEBOKREYE (IR PEIAME
HHE £ i) EAIN FHB0E0E

RBEEREEHAENREY X

FERRBEEHEZHALRE
ME-FREHERI—E+RE I
FIEERIMAREENEREE

IRR R AESET -

R2024%F12831H > AEBI LA
FHERZULERABEAAR
#26,800,0007T (20234 : AR
18,600,0007T) W& FHREWE &
SEBWEIZZE (2023F | AR
6,600,0007T) °



14. PROPERTIES UNDER

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT Ak

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

14. FE Y%

DEVELOPMENT

2024 2023
20244 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
KtaE AR%FT ARETTT
Carrying amount at 1 January M1 B1HREE 3,317,279 3,878,573
Additions wNE 1,749,993 450,987

Transfer to completed properties held BRERFFHER
for sale DY E 22 (4,627,821) (1,012,281)
Carrying amount at 31 December R12831HEREE 439,451 3,317,279
Current assets TMENEE - 2,362,183
Non-current assets ERBEE 439,451 955,096
439,451 3,317,279

Except for one property located in Japan, the Group’s properties
under development are located in Chinese Mainland.

BR—EYMEUR BRI RERMEDY
FEUR PR P

2024 2023

20244 20234

Japan =i RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFTT

Freehold KA ZERE 59,891 65,046

The carrying amounts of the properties under development situated
on the leasehold land in Chinese Mainland are as follows:

Mainland China [ g 3t

FREE P42 (LA R B PYsth BOFE & £ 3th) B9

REEWT :
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARBT T

Lease terms between 30 and 50 years FHHA30E =504F

At 31 December 2024, nil of the Group’s properties under
development (2023: RMB1,551,833,000) were pledged to secure
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings granted to the Group
as disclosed in note 29.

379,560 3,252,233

2024512831 H  AEE W HEREEFY)
¥ (2023 : AR1,551,833,0007T) 40t
2T BEEFAR TAEET ERITR
HAERBVIEIF

PR S ERARAS
TR NEER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024512831H
15. LEASES
The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for buildings used in its operations.
Leases of buildings generally have lease terms between 5 and
18 years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amount of the Group’s right-of-use assets and

15.f0 8
AEEESERA
rEBBERANEESET 2 ETFHES
NeotHERFHEHR—MRNF5E18F
—Rms > AEBRFNSEHELDERABR
rEBHEESE-
(@) FHHEELSE

FEBRRFANZEREEEREE

the movements during the year are as follows: FREBHMT !

2024 2023

20245 20234

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

i3 ARETT ARMTFT

As at 1 January ®1818 75,440 120,277
Additions RE 6,448 =
Depreciation charge FESZEH (17,487) (25,913)
Disposals HE (30,141) (14,327)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR 32 (15,013) (3,868)
Impairment AE (2,166) (729)
17,081 75,440
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15. LEASES (CONTINUED)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements

during the year are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B EAB E

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

15. 18 (&)
HEBEEAEBA @)

(b)

HEAR

RERZEABEAEEREERES U
T

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT AREFT

Carrying amount at 1 January M1B1B ZRmEE 140,983 182,998

New leases wHEE 6,448 =
Accretion of interest recognised during  FERFESE Z F B 10

the year 3,342 5,074

Payments e (23,450) (22,013)

Disposals HE (74,900) (9,493)

Disposal of subsidiary HEHB AR (21,234) (15,583)

Carrying amount at 31 December R12B31B ZEREE 31,189 140,983

Analysed into DA
Current portion MENE 10,669 49,110
Non-current portion JERBNEL 20,520 91,873

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 39

to the financial statements.

HEaBEZIHPASMRERMS
HRERMIEE39 0

PR S ERARAS
ZETNEFR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

15. LEASES (CONTINUED)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to
leases are as follows:

15. 18 (8)
HEBMESEEA @)

(c)

HREAMRIEEPRESZEEN
T

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFT ARBEF T
Interest on lease liabilities HESEME 3,342 5,074
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEEZITEZH 17,487 25,913
Expense relating to leases of low-value ~ EMEEEEERERRHZHX
assets (included in administrative GIATTERH)
expenses) 7,266 10,000
Impairment provision for right-of-use FREEE BERE
assets 2,166 729
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 718 % T FESR 2 4248 30,261 41,716
Extension and termination options (d) JEHARARILEEIERE

The Group has no lease contracts that include extension and
termination options.

Variable lease payments

The Group has no lease contract that contain variable lease
payments.

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 33(c) to
the financial statements.
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15. LEASES (CONTINUED)
The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties. The terms of the leases
generally require the tenants to pay security deposits and provide
for periodic rent adjustments according to the then prevailing
market conditions. Rental income recognised by the Group during
the year was RMB122,274,000 (2023: RMB110,712,000), details of
which are included in note 5 to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2024, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B EAB E

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

15. 18 (&)

FEEFERLHEA

AREBHAERENE HEKN—RE
KRELAZMFRBERBRIEE T RE
AERE AEERFAEIEZHASTHRA
A NR#122,274,0007T (20234 : AR
110,712,0007T) > B RFEH N MFRE
BI5E5 o

12024128318 » AEEBHREHEE A
5132 AP AR =T & h SRR AR FE UL

ZARMBREE MM
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Within one year —FR

After one year but within two years ZR—FEEDREmE
After two years but within three years ZRMEELDR=F
After three years but within four years ZR=FE/DRIUE
After four years but within five years ZRMOFEEDRAF
After five years AEUE

71,723 60,065
54,928 49,901
40,063 52,163
30,978 31,215
20,690 18,854
62,721 89,105
281,103 301,303
hEH T EEERAT

ZETNEFR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B HA I

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSET

16. HHEA HE

Brandname
mnhR %A T8
RMB’000
AREFT
31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H
Cost at 1 January, net of accumulated amortisation 1B 1HZ 4 IR Rt 8 SoRE
and impairment 14,194
Amortisation provided during the year FREHZ #H (845)
Dissolution of subsidiary SN (13,349)
At 31 December 2023 7220235%12831H =
At 31 December 2023: 72023%F12831H
Cost D% 7,992
Accumulated amortization and impairment Rt R E (7,992)
Net carrying amount IREEE -

China New City Group Limited
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17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS

18

DESIGNATED AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT Ak

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT

Equity investments designated at fair IEE&RAAREETA

value through other comprehensive HittemKmzREKRE

income

Zhejiang Xinnongdu Industrial Co., Ltd. IR EEBRAR

The above equity investments were irrevocably designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income as the Group considers
these investments to be strategic in nature.

LONG TERM PREPAYMENTS

340,354 357,395

MR AEERS LRRARE AR
B ARSI HEMIEEZERE
mEARBEFAREMEE K-

18. REATE(IFRIE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARBT T

Prepayment for equity investment* AL B TR IE
Deposits for construction completion BIgs
Maintenance fund HEET

Others Hih

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, financial assets included
in long term prepayments of the Group were considered to be
low credit risk and thus the Group assessed that there was no
significant loss allowance recognised in accordance with the ECL
model under IFRS 9 as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The details of prepayment for equity investment is disclosed in note 35.

313,648 250,536
232 183
44,475 43,390
277 3,506
358,632 297,615

R2024F %2023F 128310 » REBET A
EREMRIEZ SMEERRAREER
B > A IE A 52 B 5T 722024 4 K2 20234512
A318 I AR IR E PR B 75 3R 5 2 A 55957
EHTzBREEEEBEARIEZEKREGE
g o

PRAIE E TR RRIEF BRI MY EE35

PR S ERARAS
TR NEER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B E AR

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

19. KREEEENRE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARBTT

Share of net assets B FEEDEE 24,499 36,389
The particular of joint ventures are as follows: BETLENFEBAOT .
Percentage attributable to the Group
FEEREEAT
Particulars
of paid Place of Ownership Voting Profit Principal
Name up capital registration interest power sharing activities
o1 HRBREMEE A FiA R RER Gilbepidt TEEY
Chun’an Qiandao Lake Yulang Registered Zhejiang PRC 59% 33% 59% Project
Superstar Cultural Creativity capital of FEIHT management
Co., Ltd. RMB184,957,300 EEER
BERTEHENEEXAR SRR
BRAT N
184,957,3007¢
MAGGIE AND ROSE LIMITED (GBP696.22 London UK 34% 34% 34% Pre-school
696,20 5% HEfGBH education
SHHE
Hangzhou Suiyuan Intemet Technology RMB1,111,112 Zhejiang PRC 10% 10% 10% Project
Co., Ltd ARE 111,127 FEAT management
MNERERANREREENE HEERE

The movements in the investments in the joint ventures during the

reporting period are as follows:

REEEENRENBRSARNESH U
T

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT

At 1 January

Investment in a joint venture
Share of losses

Impairment

At 31 December 2024

China New City Group Limited
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K1A1H

R—EaEtENRE

FE(E 1R
RIE

112024F12831H

36,389 31,427

1,000 5,625
(7,264) (663)
(5,626) -
24,499 36,389




LIABILITIES

20. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year

are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT Ak

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

20. RIEIRIBEE ER A E

FRIELERBEERBBREHNT !

Deferred tax assets RIERIEE &
Fair value
adjustment of
equity
investment
Losses available at fair value
Unrealised for offsetting  through other
Impairment of intragroup Lease  against future  comprehensive
financial assets profit or loss liabilities  taxable profits income Total
BAABENA
MY Et2EkE
FER RRER ZBRARE
ERERAE £@REE HERR HEMER  ARBESEER b
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT AREFT NS ARBFR AREFT
At 1 January 2023 1202351818 = 1,887 45,783 18,864 5,199 71,683
Deferred tax (charged)/credied to ~ EARMERE (1%) /#ik
the statement of proft or loss MEERE
during the year 1,195 - (10,482 26917 - 17,630
Deferred tax charged to ERREMRERERNG
the statement of other MEERE
comprehensive income during
the year = = = = (965) (965)
At 31 December 2023 and R2023E12B31H R
1 January 2024 200451518 1,19 1,837 35,301 45,781 4234 88,348
Deferred tax charged t to the FRPRBaFNBNEL
statement of proft or loss &
during the year - (1,837) (25,259) (24,283) - (51,379)
Deferred tax credited to ERREMRERGERER
the statement of other MEERE
comprehensive income during
the year - - - - 4,260 4,260
At 31 December 2024 20245128318 1,19 - 10,042 21,498 8,494 41,229
FREFIETERERAR

TR NEER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B E AR

31 December 2024 2024512831H

20. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year

are as follows: (continued)

20. EERERER AR (48)

FRELENEEERBESEBWT © (@

Deferred tax liabilities RIETRIEEE
Fair value
Fair value adjustment
adjustment of arising from
investment acquisition Withholding
properties  of a subsidiary  Right-of-assets tax Others Total
BAREE
AR -
_ 2kE  KELD
REME ZBARE VA )
RrEEEE  AREER AREERE RREEE Hftr @3t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEEFR ARETFR AEEFR AEETFR ARETR AEEFR
At 1 January 2023 120231518 689,328 5,001 35,053 34,983 87,547 851912
Realised during the year REREH (10,126) (5,001) - - (1,889 (17,016)
Deferred tax (credited)/charged to the statement of ERRBRE R /NIRNEILHE
profit or loss during the year (88,078) - (13,604) (1,188) 23,346 (79,524)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R2023F 12831 B R2024E1 518 591,124 - 21,449 33,79 109,004 755,372
Defered tax (creditecl/charged to the statement of ERPMERR (EF) /NRNETRE
profit or loss during the year (123,775) - (17,179 6,726 23,702 (110,526)
At 31 December 2024 120245128318 467,349 - 4270 40,521 132,706 644,846
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20. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset in the statement of financial position. The following
is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial
reporting purposes:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT Ak

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

EERERERAR (48)

EREFE ETEERBEERER
ERMBRRARPIEE -SUHBREE
89 WAEBIEERIBEFAODNAT :

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT

Net deferred tax assets recognised R E MR R R P ERAR
in the consolidated statement BEFRE
of financial position

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised RiFE MR R PR
in the consolidated statement BEFEE

of financial position

In accordance with the PRC laws and regulations, tax losses could
be carried forward for five years to offset against its future taxable
profits. Deferred tax assets relating to unutilised tax losses are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow these deferred tax assets to be
utilised.

The Group has no accumulated tax losses arising in Hong Kong
that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The Group
has accumulated tax losses arising in Chinese Mainland of
RMB1,424,320,000 (2023: RMB1,451,599,000) that will expire
in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-
making for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

36,959 66,899
IEFRTE

640,576 733,923

BEREERRER MIEBGRAGEED
FLUEHEBRNERNAE - AR
HREREGEENELEREEE  JEER
B RAERNIBUCZERLEREEE
ESHARS G-

AEBTENEEELERFIRIESE
ATAMNERIIEHES HBEBEENARH
BHERRFE AEBRPEANMES
AE181,424,320,0007T (20234 : AR
1,451,599,00070) MR FHRIERE & 1°
—ERERFE WEHE B BIESZERA
T%EK&%W?@?EEI%E—&%

BER AW OIAA ol AE RN B E
ﬁm%ﬁmﬂﬂ MU A R S RS R ST
RERIBEE

PEMEERAERAR
“ENEFR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

20. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law (the “New CIT
Law”), a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in the PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Chinese
Mainland and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable for
withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in the PRC in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008.

Other than the above deferred tax liability in relation to the PRC
withholding income tax provided, no deferred taxation has been
provided for the distributable retained profits of approximately
RMB1,437,242,000 (2023: RMB1,019,290,000), which were
derived from the PRC subsidiaries as the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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0. EEMBARER AR (B)

RBEPEEEMRERE ((EREFRER
%)) o BER B IIRYINE B ERE S
KEETIRKRERUWI10%TEINR - ARAR
TE B20085F1 B 1 HREAERL > WA F2007
F12AHBFAEEZET - fHHEAMH
BSNBEREEMBRARER ZBEANT
EBERTRRERNKEGR AEE
BRALED10% -HIL ZEBBMZE
FEAREI A I 2 MY B A B 2008F1 1 HIE
EEZBAMDIKZREHZTANR

FREA > #5| By sh B TR0 PR S IR AR RARYIE

BIB] 3 R AR B A A9 A R #51,437,242,000
70 (20234 : AR#1,019,290,0007T) 1EE
IRIERIBEME > AR E ARG TR
EEEBCINREEERMEEEIERTR
RAAGHD o



21. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
WITH MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-controlling
interests are set out below:

Percentage of equity interest held by non-controlling interests:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT Ak

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

21. BREERIMAE EAIEE
Az tEm BB 2 F

BEREAFEREENAEENE QS
BEIIWMT :

FEREEFARER DL

2024 2023
20245 20234
Zhejiang Zhong An Sheng Long Commercial IR 2R EEHERE AT
Co., Ltd. (“Zhong An Sheng Long”) (TFRZERME ) 10% 10%
Accumulated balances of non-controlling interests at the reporting RS HEAIEIERER Rt 4565 ©
date:
2024 2023
20244F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBEFT AREFT
Zhong An Sheng Long RLZREE 119,196 135,424
Loss for the year allocated to non-controlling interests: FAD KT IFERERIVEE -
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BFT AREBF T
Zhong An Sheng Long ML ERE (16,228) (15,182)
Maggie and Rose Maggie and Rose - (7,182)
FREFIETERERAR

TR NEER

197



198

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B HA I

31 December 2024 2024512831H

21. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES

WITH MATERIAL NON-

CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(CONTINUED)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information

of the above subsidiaries.

The amounts disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations:

21. BB
B

Zrat

TREFIULMBRABRNMFERTE

FIRENZEANERRARBEEHEZE

L
Zhong An
Sheng Long
RREE
2024 RMB’000
20245 ARETT
Revenue A 53,920
Changes in fair value of investment properties BEVEQANEEED (236,000)
Total incomes Nt 19,797
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year FRBEREEEBRELE (162,283)
Current assets MENEE 642,688
Non-current assets IFREEE 2,707,212
Current liabilities mEaE (1,668,941)
Non-current liabilities JERBAEE (489,000)
Net cash flows generated from operating activites =~ &EEHELENIRS RS FLE 162,906
Net cash flows used in investing activities KEGEHEANRERE S (61,998)
Net cash flows used in financial activities MEESEANREEREFEE (116,231)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RERIRSEBYRLFEE (15,323)

China New City Group Limited
2024 Annual Report



21. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES

22

WITH MATERIAL NON-

CONTROLLING INTERESTS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT Ak

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

21. EB%%EE’\JIWEE*?HE

Rt mi I B 25 (48)

(CONTINUED)
Zhong An
Sheng Long
TR R PE
2023 RMB’000
20234 ARBFT
Revenue A 40,230
Changes in fair value of investment properties KREMEANNEEED (127,045)
Total expenses FsZ 4R %R (65,008)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year FRBEREHEBGBELE (151,821)
Current assets MENEE 5,592,047
Non-current assets ERBEE 2,957,428
Current liabilities mEas (6,705,232)
Non-current liabilities JEREEaRE (490,000)
Net cash flows generated from operating activites ~— &&EFMELENIR S NS FRE 79,944
Net cash flows used in investing activities KREGHFERNIREREFEE (145,615)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RERIBEEBYRLFEE (65,671)

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD

22 FHFHEBERTYE

FOR SALE

2024 2023

20244 20234

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

s AR®FT AREBFT

Carrying amount at 1 January P1B1EZREE 1,276,276 919,543
Transfer from properties under development B # B B 2% th# 2 14 4,627,821 1,012,281
Cost of properties sold BHEMERA 6 (1,818,398) (655,548)
Carrying amount at 31 December M12BA31H ZREE 4,085,699 1,276,276

As at 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s completed
properties held for sale amounted to RMB2,328,953,000 (2023: nil)
were pledged to secure interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

granted to the Group as disclosed in note 29.

120245128318 "EEE TH1FH
EBBIYMER ARE2,328,953,0007T
(20234 : ) > MUNMIE20FT I BB > EAE
AETARERST BRITREMAERNIE
#o

PEMEERAERAR
R NEFR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. The credit period is generally one month, extending
up to three months for major customers. Each customer has a
maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of
the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables
related to various diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances.
The balances of trade receivables are non-interest-bearing and
unsecured.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period is as follows:

23. FEU & 5 BRER

FEREEERNEZHRREEREER
ERER—RBERMRIE-EER—&R
A—EA MEBFRARZALERE=
BR -BLERARERSEERBA &
SRR NN BB EEEKRERERIGK
BEUEERGEERR -SHREEBEN
BRI - BEN LR R R A EREE
WEZRMESHIRETR AR ®ILE
EXEEETRER AEBTELHEU
B RMEHFTA R AERRAEMEE
MagIEnE - BB ZIRMZ EER A R E R
EER R

REBEHR > BB Z RN IRE D
1S &

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR#FT AR¥FTT

Within six months ~NMEAR 55,063 67,535
Over six months but within one year BiENEEE—FRN 4,802 2,478
Over one year but within two years BE—FEmEA 1,216 =
61,081 70,013

China New City Group Limited
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24. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER
RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B EAB E

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

24. FA{FFRIAE  HAth FEUTRIA

RHMEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARKET T

Prepaid other tax AT EMIRIE
Project construction guarantee deposits ~ 18H Ti2ERIZE
Advances to suppliers BT THER
Other receivables HhEWERIE
Impairment PEALE!

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of financial
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets
are as follows:

100,738 195,381
34,948 65,849
52,343 46,414

168,079 154,219

356,108 461,863
(29,289) (18,898)

326,819 442,965

STATRARIE HthBWRIER EthE E
ZEMEEZREBRBRBEEIHOT

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT

At beginning of year REA]
Impairment losses recognised, net BRI EEEFEE
At end of year RER

Financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and
other assets are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable
on demand. The impairment of financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets was measured
based on 12-month expected credit losses if they had not a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise,
they were measured based on lifetime expected credit losses. As at
31 December 2024 and 2023, for the balance of RMB10,391,000
and RMB18,898,000 with special risks, impairment allowance were
assessed individually and fully recognised.

18,898 =
10,391 18,898
29,289 18,898

FFATENMRIE HtEWHRIBE R EME E
ZEMEBEARER RERBERERE
2 o BT ATE TIE ~ E AR W R IE K EL A
EENEMEENRERI2EATERE
EFEEs 2 piiRREGERKRBVAE
AR FBEEE G - TR HUZHATE
HAE BB 2 ° 1120244 520235125
31H EERHARNGGRD IR AR
10,391,000t Kz A R #518,898,0007T » iR &
BIEE BB MR 2R o

PR S ERARAS
TR NEER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AND RESTRICTED CASH

25. BERBEFENRZR
Hll IR &

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT ARBEEFTT

Cash and bank balances B RIBITHEER 886,087 279,164
Time deposits EHITER - 105,000
886,087 384,164

Less: Restricted cash B ZREIIRE 47,088 203,009
Cash and cash equivalents BENIRSEEBY 838,999 181,155
Current assets MENEE 47,088 98,009
Non-current assets ERHEE - 105,000
Restricted cash ZREIIRE 47,088 203,009

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying
periods of between one day and three months depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn interest at
the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances
and restricted cash are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.

Pursuant to relevant regulations in the PRC, certain property
development companies of the Group are required to place certain
amounts of cash in the designated bank accounts for a specified
use, and therefore the cash disbursement from these accounts
is subjected to some restriction. As at 31 December 2024,
these guarantee deposits amounted to RMB47,088,000 (2023:
RMB98,009,000).

China New City Group Limited
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RTERENRTHEERRLUTBAER
BREF B -RHENERA—RE=EA
FERHR RAEENENRIRE R KM
TE) » FeAZA[RIBIAE BA TE HA1F kA R ER A
B RITHEFRZRAEREHIF RN TN
WEENELNEERTFZIRT-

RIBPEERAR ZEBMMNE TYER
BN AR —THRENREERNIETE
IRITIRA MR ERR  RILEZERS
REIRE AR RIS TIRE 122024412
A318 » ZiE RS 5 AR 47,088,0007T
(20234 : AR %98,009,0007T) °



25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

26

AND RESTRICTED CASH
(CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s non-current time
deposits of nil (2023: RMB105,000,000) were pledged to banks
as guarantees for mortgage facilities granted to purchasers of the
Group's properties.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to RMB875,661,000
(2023: RMB365,788,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into
other currencies, however, under Chinese Mainland’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement.
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the payment due dates, is as
follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B EAB E

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

25. RERMEFENRZR

26

H#RE (&)

2024512831 H » AEBME TIEENHA
EHIERE (20234 : AR #5105,000,000
o) BERTIRIT FAREAERYEER
ERBRBEEZER

RE|BER AEBUARBIENRS
R iR1T#EER 7 A\ R #5875,661,0007T (2023
F . AR365,788,0007T) - ARMERFE
HRBAHEMEE A REFERM
SNEERIREURMGE - EERJEEE
RE ~EREEBBAERETINERS
BRITRARBRBAEMER -

&1t B 5 BRX

REEFEN B ZRAN R SRR RE
RS EREREDITOT ¢

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AREETTT

Within six months NEBR 701,370 482,634
Over six months but within one year BENERE—FR 828,857 75,001
Over one year but within two years BE—FEMEA 3,557 17,383
Over two years but within three years BEMFEE=FRN 9,524 -
1,543,308 575,018

The trade payables are unsecured and interest-free and are
normally settled based on the progress of construction. Certain
suppliers have alleged claims against the Group relating to
construction and services contracts, which have been adequately
accrued and included in the above construction payables.

A EZERMDEIEIRE R B R—RITE
REEXf -ETHEMEEBEOLER
RHEBRARBRBAOERNRE ZF
REERDRFTL s A LMERELR
IHo
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AT

31 December 2024 2024512831H

27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

27. HithE{IRIEREst &R

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#FT AREFT
Guarantee deposits EREE 62,038 105,002
Other tax payables HiENRIE 152,234 13,740
Deposits related to construction BEIENERS 6,508 15,538
Other payables HhpEGTIE 80,476 187,383
301,256 321,663
Other payables are unsecured and interest-free. HiEMNHRBARIGFTERS
=
28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 28. §& R
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARMFTT
Advances received from customers BWREETENR 923,714 3,060,168

Contract liabilities represent sales proceeds received from buyers in

connection with the Group’s pre-sale of properties.

China New City Group Limited
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29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND

OTHER BORROWINGS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B EAB E

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

29. 51 BIR1T R Hth &7

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®EFT AREFTT
Current: BIEA -
Bank loans — secured RITER—FIKE 1,072,160 584,860
Non-current: JEBDER -
Bank loans — secured RITER—BIKE 2,327,020 2,534,180
3,399,180 3,119,040
Repayable: AR TEAEEE
Within one year or on demand —FRHERKEF 1,072,160 584,860
Over one year but within two years SR —EB/DRRE 345,160 1,281,860
Over two years but within five years SRMEBLRASE 883,680 661,580
Over five years REMUE 1,098,180 590,740
3,399,180 3,119,040

Except for bank and other borrowings amounting to
RMB390,680,000 (2023: RMB557,500,000) that bear interest at
fixed rates, all bank loans bear interest at floating rates.

BRETREEMERS B ZIRT KA ME
MK #390,680,0007T (20234 : ARKK
557,500,0007T) * P A IRITE R IZF B 7]

=S5

PEMEERAERAR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B HA I

31 December 2024 2024512831H

29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK
AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

The Group’s bank and other borrowings bear interest at average

29. 5t BIR1T R H A fE7R (4B)

AEERRITRAMETIZUT FHER

effective interest rates as follows: FMEHE
2024 2023
20244 20234
Effective interest rates EGIES 4.73% 4.86%

The carrying amounts of all the Group’s borrowings during the year
were denominated as follows:

AEERFANMBEERNREERATE

MEsHE SEBIT
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETT

RMB loans and borrowings ARBEMRRER

China New City Group Limited
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT Ak

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

= 4= 4 & =
29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 29. st RIRIT R E gk (&)
AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)
The Group’s bank and other borrowings were secured by the R|EIRR  AEBRTREMERBENU
pledges of the following assets at the end of the reporting period: TEEERER
2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Kzt AR¥FT ARBEF T
Carrying value of the Group’s assets: AEBEENREE !
Investment properties KEME 13 3,043,315 2,993,909
Properties under development FREE Y2 14 - 1,551,833
Completed properties held for sale FEHE BB E 22 2,328,953 =
Property and equipment MERAE 12 957,123 1,081,614
6,329,391 5,627,356
At 31 December 2024, the Group’s borrowings of R2024F12831H  AEBZERA
RMB489,000,000 (2023: RMB580,000,000) were guaranteed by E#5489,000,0007T (20234 : AR
Mr. Shi Zhongan (Note 34(2)(vi)). 580,000,0007T) b 3 22 o £ IR (AR
(MI5E34(2)(vi)) ©
At 31 December 2024, the Group’'s borrowings of R2024F12A31H  ZEBZERA
RMB969,000,000 (2023: RMB1,000,000,000) were guaranteed by R #969,000,0007T (20234 : AR
Zhong An Group Limited (Note 34(2)(vii). 1,000,000,00070) AR ZEBERAE]

TRHIER FEEE34(Q) Vi) ©

REF S EEARAT
—s-pmazgm 207



208

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. iz
Shares A&
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
Fr T
Authorised: EE
5,000,000,000 (2023: 5,000,000,000) 5,000,000,0008% (20234 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 5,000,000,0008%) E&EE HK$500,000 HK$500,000
0.10BTHEER 500,000 7T 500,0007 7T
Issued and fully paid: BETREE
2,010,768,000 (2023: 2,010,768,000) 2,010,768,0008% (20234 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 2,010,768,0008%) SRR EE RMB160,220 RMB160,220
0.10B T E &R A E#160,2207¢ AR #8160,2207T
A summary of the Company’s issued share capital is as follows: KABBETRAB MM T
Number of Share
shares Share premium
in issue capital account Total
B#1T
EhE =] Bz BAD R ER et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTT ARETT
At 31 December 2024 and 2023 12024 K%2023F12H31H  2,010,768,000 160,220 719,697 879,917

China New City Group Limited
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31. RESERVES

(@) Share premium

The share premium represents the excess of ordinary shares

paid by the shareholders over their nominal value.

(b) Capital reserve

M

(i)

(iii)

On 30 May 2014, the Company and its related parties
signed the deed of novation, assignment and set-
off (the “Deed”). The Deed settled and set-off the
outstanding balances of the Company with related
parties. The net debts due to and owing by the
Company to Ideal World Investments Limited after set-
off, amounting to approximately RMB963,639,000,
were settled by the Company by allotting and issuing
1,000,000 new shares amounting to RMB80,000
credited as fully paid to Ideal World Investments
Limited.

On 31 May 2014, the directors were authorised
to capitalise HK$126,700,000, equivalent to
RMB100,825,000, by using the exchange rate on
that day, standing to the credit of the capital reserve
account of the Company, so that 1,267,000,000
shares were allotted and issued, pursuant to this
resolution.

Deemed contribution by the controlling shareholder
represented certain residual interests of the residential
business remaining in certain subsidiaries and was
contributed by the controlling shareholder to the
Group.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. {#E

A B EAB E

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

(@) KR7i@E

IRpEEEREXNZEBREEA
BeHmE.

(b) BRfEE

M

(i

(iii)

R2014F5H8308 » A AR K
HEB AT UEE EBER
EIH R (T EIR)) - %2
EE R IE I A N B PARE B 5
I E R BB - IR E
AR B E K R AIdeal World
Investments LimitedBI& %%
REX A AR 15963,639,0007T
HARAFBEBMAIdeal World
Investments Limitedft 2% % 2%
171,000,0008% A BRZVE#4 2
WRRMmEN BEARE
80,0007t ©

R2014F58310  EEEE
EHE T E 126,700,000 7T
(ZEHEXABEERAR
#100,825,0007t) > st AERQ
BENHEER LURB RS
ZEfC & K #£171,267,000,0008%

v

AR ERRRHE RS TH
BRABGTHETESHNET
o WHZERRREASE
R

FEHIETERBRAE
ZETNEFR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

31. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(c) Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and
the respective articles of association of the PRC group
companies, each of the subsidiaries of the Group that is
domiciled in Chinese Mainland is required to allocate 10%
of its profit after tax, as determined in accordance with the
PRC Accounting Regulations, to the statutory surplus reserve
(the “SSR”) until such reserve reaches 50% of its registered
capital.

In addition, certain of the PRC group companies are foreign
investment enterprises which are not subject to the SSR
allocation. According to the relevant PRC regulations
applicable to foreign investment enterprises, each of these
subsidiaries is required to allocate a certain portion (not less
than 10%) of its profit after tax, as determined in accordance
with the PRC Accounting Regulations, to the statutory
reserve fund until such reserve reaches 50% of its registered
capital.

China New City Group Limited
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31. iR (&)

(c)

EEBERFEA

BEBEPEHRADERTHERATE
BERVEMERMA IR RE Rt
B B & R A B R B BRI
BFEB10% (IRBEHEGsHERE
) EEERGAE (TEERERA
R EEZRAREEHZEHEM
BARI50% °

SN R ETRERERQT R
B BB ARIEAERFAR
RBBERNINECENERFTEE
R ZEMBRAHEARBEREH
Gt ERIFTEENRREABOE
FEHD (RDFR10%) BEETLER
T EERREFTEEHEME
ZHI50% ©



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT Ak

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

31. f#fl (&)
(d) Efthits

31. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(d) Other reserve

Other reserve represented the reserve from the share
option scheme adopted by Zhong An Group Limited (the
“Parent Company”) and China New City Group Limited (the
“Company’).

The parent company of the Group, which operates a share
option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute
to the success of the operations. The Scheme became
effective on 15 May 2009 and as at 31 December 2024,
there were no options granted under to Scheme.

The Company adopted an equity-settled share option
scheme in 2015 (the “New Scheme”) for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible persons,
including the Company’s directors, independent non-
executive directors, employees of the Group and other
eligible participants, who contribute to the success of the
Group’s operations. The New Scheme became effective on
20 May 2015 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended,
will remain in force for 10 years from the offer date.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share
options to each eligible person in the New Scheme within
any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive officer
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by
the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to
any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value
(based on the closing price of the Company’s shares at the
date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month
period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting.

HitEEERZETERRR (8
Q8 RTPEHHTERSRAR
(T8 ) Rz FE IR 15t B
o

NEANB AT EH—IERKEETE

(Tst8l)) > ErEmEEERINER
BN G ERSHEERHEER RO
R o 5T B F22009FE5H15H &£ 1Y
2024128310 » WERIFE 5T BIR
(AT B A A o

KRB R2015F M — B #E4S
EMEERESE (TFrstdl) >  EEM
ARAEEESERNIELERNGE
AL (BEAASIEE -BIIFEH
TEE - AEEREAHEMEER
2HE) REEBRER Mt EIN
2015F5820H &30 BRIES1TEUH
FIEFT > TRIKREL HEAEE10
FREY

EEF1218 8 BB A - R 58
MELEERALTEHTHERER
PHELRAXRRANEFNREE
BEITRMDEN % - ERE—F DB
Mt ERRA BB RERERRICKRE
Kg L

BRYPERBEFE - THRERNEE
RERIETAHRBRANBRERE
FESBIUIFHITESH LS
KRB ETERRIBIUIFANTES
SHEAE AR AEER1218 8 HRE
RERNTEAEREBBAAQTN
ERIFBEEITRNBI0.1% 548
BE REBERHUEB AR RMIIK
HER) BBsA8AT 9ASEL
EREARE LESREAE-

R ERARAT]
TS MEER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 20245128 31H

31. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(d) Other reserve (continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
21 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$0.998 by each grantee with no other
consideration being payable by the grantee. An option
may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the New
Scheme at any time during a period commencing on such
date on or after the date on which the option is granted as
the Board may determine in granting the option and expiring
at the close of business on such date as the Board may
determine in granting the option but in any event shall not
exceed 10 years from the date of grant.

The exercise price of share options is determined by the
directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the
Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on
the date of offer of the share options; and (ii) the average
Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer,
provided that the exercise price shall not be less than the
nominal value of the ordinary shares of the Company, and (iii)
per value of the share.

No share options were granted to eligible participants of the
Group under the two Schemes during the reporting period.

The Group recognised nil share option expense during the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no
share options outstanding under the two Schemes. (2023:
Nil).
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(d)

Hthf#E (&)

ZARE AT E(0.998E T L &N
B AIRENBIE218NE
MEFRBRENELN MARAS
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EREEEREEANZBEEZ
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT Ak

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

32. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 32. HEMB AR
2024
20244
Notes RMB’000
=3 AREFT
Net assets disposed of: EHEEERE:
Property and equipment LY EYE' 12 6,948
Cash and cash equivalents BERIRSEEY 840
Trade receivables U E 5 8RR 685
Inventories =78 123
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 15,013
Prepayments, other receivables and other AT FUIE  EthEUREIE &
assets Hih&EE 51,530
Trade payables &1 B Z AR (2,357)
Other payables and accruals HhfE B R ETE R (42,305)
Lease liabilities HEESE 15 (21,234)
Non-controlling interests JEPERS (1,406)
7,837
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWBAB 2 Wm 5 2,863
10,700
Satisfied by: BT AEN
Other receivables B RIa 10,700
An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in HEMBRAEZRERREEBYRLF
respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows: BOMAT -
2024
20244
RMB’000
ARMETF T
Cash consideration received BWEIRENE S
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of subsidiaries ~ HEMBAT ZIRE KIS EEY) (840)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect HEMBATZRESRIREEEBYI AL F5E
of the disposal of subsidiaries (840)
FEFIETERG R AR

TR NEER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities amounted to
RMB6,448,000 (2023: nil), respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for property and equipment. The Group had
non-cash transactions related with disposal of lease liabilities

as disclosed in note 15.

(b) Changes in financial liabilities arising

from financing activities

3. FAMERERME

(@) EBIFREXS

FRAEREHMERRBRE
%EHFZ@FHE%UX;FEE%%E&

EaEn9 55 AR6,448,0007T
(2023£E () o AEEBHERE
BEEARNIERESX SR 15
s

o

(b) MEESHEEZEHEREE
E2)

Interest-bearing

bank and other Lease
borrowings liabilities
T EIRTT

e ELfhfE R HEaE

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBEFTT ARETT

At 1 January 2024 7202451818 3,119,040 140,983
Changes from financing cash flows BB IR REEF) 280,140 (20,108)
New leases WiHE - 6,448
Disposal HE - (74,900)
Disposal of subsidiaries BENB AT - (21,234)
Interest expense FMERX - 3,342

Interest paid classified as operating DEAKEIRERE2 2 EHFE
cash flows - (8,342))
At 31 December 2024 72024F12H31H 3,399,180 31,189
At 1 January 2023 1R2023%F181H 4,008,479 182,998
Changes from financing cash flows BIEIREHMEES) (889,439) (16,939)
Disposal HE - (9,493)
Dissolution of subsidiary R B AT - (15,583)
Interest expense FERZ - 5,074
Interest paid classified as operating D EAKEREREZ EAFE

cash flows - (5,074)
At 31 December 2023 112023%12H31H 3,119,040 140,983

China New City Group Limited
2024 Annual Report




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT Ak

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 3. F AT RERME (B
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(CONTINUED)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) THEREML4EEE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the consolidated FAGERERERZHEERERM
statement of cash flows is as follows: HaBzB T -
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARBT T

Within operating activities EEEHAN 10,608 15,074
Within financing activities MEEFHA 20,108 16,939
30,716 32,013

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34. FA B35

(1) Outstanding balances with related (1) ERAEARREELEER .
parties:
)  Amounts due from a related company () FER—REEBABRIE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARET T

Zhong An Group Co., Ltd. REEBBRAE 237,788 =
As at 31 December 2024, the amounts due from R2024F12831H  EWRZ
Zhong An Group Co., Ltd., a company controlled by EBEBRRE (—HERKE
ultimate holding company, bore interest at the annual & R BEIFTESIN AT BFRIE
rate of 5%, were unsecured and had no fixed terms of FREREE%t B AR
repayment. Al (B B AR o

HER A EEERAT
“z-meey 215



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 20245128 31H

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34. Al ARES (@)

(CONTINUED)

(1) Outstanding balances with related (1)
parties: (continued)

(ii) Amounts due to related companies

BRI T R (EB S

(48)
() FENREBASRE

2024
20244
RMB’000

BR -

2023
20234
RMB’000

AREFT ARETT

Zhejiang Runzhou Property AT EMNMZERFZE B IR AR
Services Co., Ltd.

Yuyao Zhongli Property BRIk Y EEEBRAE
Management Co., Ltd.

Zhejiang Zhong An Property AT IREZYXERFBRAE]
Management Co., Ltd.

Hangzhou Zhonghong MM R ERBBERAE
Property Service Co., Ltd.

Zhejiang Anyuan Agriculture AT I Z REXEFEFRAE
Development Co., Ltd.

Zhong An Finance Limited REFHEBRAE

Zhong An Asset REEEBEBRAT
Management Co., Ltd.
Zhong An Corporate ZHERRAE

Finance Limited

Zhong An Securities Limited SR Z:5 5 A RA R

Zhong An Service Holding RERBERERGRER
Group Co., Ltd.

Hangzhou Zhihe MMNEBLESEEFRER
Management Co., Ltd

Hangzhou Yizhu Decoration — #ifNE e TIEBRA R
Engineering Co., Ltd

Hangzhou Huijun Information ~ #T/1 EEEE 5 BT B R AR
Technology Co., Ltd.

Grand Sail International RINEIRE S (B8 BRAE
Trading Limited
Hangzhou Junijie MMNBAREESEBRAE

Investment Co., Ltd.

Hong Kong Hui Yuan Real SERERMEBRAR
Estate Limited

Rui Kai Management Ltd. IR BEBRR

Hangzhou Zhong An IR L& ﬂﬁi?}%)ﬁﬁ {TYN
Longsheng Urban
Development Co., Ltd.

Zhong’an Qirui (Shanghai) RLWn (L8) EAEEARAR
Capital Management Co.,
Ltd.
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14,844 5,430
8,310 12,018
7,184 1,261
3,582 -
2,588 1,738
1,806 1,806
1,805 1,805
1,805 1,805
1,805 1,805
1,104 1,104
1,056 =

590 =

= 107,912

- 54,899

- 55,427

- 45,311

- 36,866

= 725

= 12
46,479 329,924




34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(1) Outstanding balances with related
parties: (continued)

(2)

(i)

Amounts due to related companies (continued)

The above related parties are all fellow subsidiaries of
the Company. Amounts due to related companies are
interest-free, unsecured and have no fixed terms of
repayment.

The Group had the following
transactions carried out with related
parties during the year:

M

(i)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B EAB E

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

34. BB E R 5 (48)

(1) ELRFETS BYREBEER

(&)

U

FE(SRRE X BRIA ()

LR S AR A RTNER
BT - BB ATRE
AREERAREREER
HAMR ©

(2 MEANEBERERSET
MRZZWT :

Loan to related companies (i) PIRAH A B AR
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BEFT AREFT
Loan to a related company — [EIB# A G E &
A fellow subsidiary B&RIB AR 237,788 =

Loans to Zhong An Group Co., Ltd., a company
controlled by ultimate holding company, which bore
interest at the annual rate of 5%, were unsecured and
had no fixed terms of repayment.

Repayment to related companies

(i

MRZEBRRAE (—RHH
RER AT FAER AR
EHBERIZERNE5%5t 8 >
BRI R E B AR

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARMTFT
Repayment to related Gl N=Th < E 3
companies
Fellow subsidiaries B&RIB AT 283,445 424,977

Loans from related companies were interest-free,
unsecured and have no fixed terms of repayment.

BRMARDZERAREE &
TRk EEEEERAR

FEHIETERBRAE
ZETNEFR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B E AR

31 December 2024 20245128 31H

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)

(2) The Group had the following
transactions carried out with related
parties during the year: (continued)

(iii)

(2

34. BB A R 5 (48)

ME R A S B SRR 75 & 1T

WRXZUWTF : (&)

Property service fee @iy YERFHER
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBEFT AREFT
Property management fee Y EARTEE
Zhejiang Zhong An Property IR ZYERFFER AT
Management Co., Ltd. 14,032 6,175
Zhejiang Runzhou Property AT LEMYIZERBER AT
Services Co., Ltd. 7,749 9,096
Hangzhou Zhonghong MM R EREBR AT
Property Service Co., Ltd. 3,313 -
Hangzhou Yizhu Decoration — #ifNE L& TIEHBRAF
Engineering Co., Ltd. 556 o
Yuyao Zhongli Property BRIKR I EEEERAE
Management Co., Ltd. 310 310
25,960 15,581
Value-added services mainly — F-Z ¥ R E Eie 2 BB R
to property developers
Zhejiang Runzhou Property TN ZERFE B R AT
Services Co., Ltd. 4,051 2,293
Zhejiang Zhong An Property AT IREZYXERFBRAE
Management Co., Ltd. 145 1,158
4,196 3,451
Community value added FHEIEER
services
Hangzhou Zhihe Management N B & & ESEHRAE
Co., Ltd 1,049 -
Zhejiang Zhong An Property AT IR ZYERFBIRAE
Management Co., Ltd. 268 1,317
Hangzhou Anyue MINZIREFEHEERAE
E-commerce Co., Ltd 1 -
1,318 1,317
31,474 20,349
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B EAB E

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34.FAKAERS (@)

(CONTINUED)
(2) The Group had the following (2) MEAZAEE AR EET
transactions carried out with related HRZWMTF : (@

parties during the year: (continued)

(i) Property service fee (continued) (iii)
The prices for the above services fees were determined
in accordance with the terms and conditions mutually

agreed by the contracting parties.

(iv)  Interest income (iv)

MERFER (&

LiRFERNERDRES
MEFSREWME Z R AR
BE-

) B WA
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Zhong An Group Co., Ltd. REZEEERAT

11,120 -

(vy  Compensation of key management personnel of the (V)
Group, which comprised the remuneration of the
directors, is disclosed in note 8.

(vj  As disclosed in note 29, the Group’s borrowings of (vi)
RMB489,000,000 (2023: RMB580,000,000) were
guaranteed by Mr. Shi Zhongan at 31 December 2024
at nil consideration.

(viij  As disclosed in note 29, the Group’s borrowings (vii)
of RMB969,000,000 (2023: RMB1,000,000,000)
were guaranteed by Zhong An Group Limited at 31
December 2024.

REBTEEIE A S H
(BEEEHD) ENMEESEK

E%o

090 Y S 29FT 4 B8 0 5220244
128318 AEBZEHRAR
#489,000,0007T (2023% : A
E #580,000,0007%) J5 EA e A
ZREEREERTMARE

UM 2T INE ) AEE
B ERARB969,000,000
T (20238F @ AR
1,000,000,0007T) 742024512
B3 HERZERBRRTIE
HIER

PR S ERARAS
ZETNEFR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B b

31 December 2024 20245128 31H

35. COMMITMENTS

35. i

(@ The Group had the following commitments for property @ MREREFHR ~EERMERES
development expenditure at the end of the reporting period: HB9EREWT -
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBEFT ARETT
Contracted, but not provided for: BERIAEREE -
Properties under development FaEasky/E 160,697 1,497,185
(o)  Payment commitment arising from the settlement agreement (b) FERBEREE ZTEE

On 7 January 2019, the Company allotted and issued
178,280,000 shares to settle the consideration of the
acquisition of 22.65% equity interests in Zhejiang Xinnongdou
Holdings Group Limited (“XND”) by Zhejiang Zhongan
Shenglong Commercial Co., Ltd. (the “Purchaser”), an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, from
Hangzhou Oriental Culture Tourism Group Co., Ltd. (“the
Seller”) under the equity transfer agreement announced
on 20 July 2018 (the “Transaction”). After the completion
of the Transaction, the Seller filed a lawsuit against the
Company and the Purchaser with respect to the Transaction.
By mediation through the High People’s Court of Zhejiang
Province, the Company, the Purchaser and the Seller entered
into a settlement deed, which became effective on 27 May
2024, to resolve and settle finally and absolutely all disputes
of the parties with respect to the Transaction. Pursuant to
the settlement deed, among other things, the Purchaser is
required to pay RMB210,000,000 to the Seller by 30 June
2025. As at 31 December 2024, a sum of RMB130,000,000
out of the RMB210,000,000 was fully paid by the Purchaser
to the Seller and the Group had a payment commitment
of approximately RMB80,000,000 arising from the above
settlement deed.
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R2019F1 878 » &R Bl Fo 8% K 3
17178,280,0008% B2 15 » BB LR %
201847 H20 8 A i B9 A% 1 85 22 17
BENAREBEIEEZENBAR
IR REEERRLAR (TE
F) BMMNEAXCEREEES
RAE (TE 7)) W I R
REBRBRAE (TFRE) 22.65%
KRE(TRXZ)) NKE-THXS
BOEBAMXZARRARERE
R IS HRAR AR S
T ARABI-BEAREATIULM
fRELYE (FR2024F5827B 4R »
UBRERTEMASHTAIAESE
WA Fi& o RBEFMAERZE > (HF
BIE) B HAEN202556 8308 /1A
BH X4 AR®210,000,0007T © 74
2024F12B31H  BEABREA R
#H T AR #210,000,0007t FHI A
F#130,000,0007t B A& @ F _E it
MEZEMEEMNREABEOARE
80,000,0007T °



36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Mortgage facilities granted by banks

The Group provided guarantees in respect of the mortgage
facilities granted by certain banks to the purchasers of the Group’s
properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantee arrangements,
in case of default on mortgage payments by the purchasers,
the Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage
loans together with any accrued interest and penalty owed by
the defaulted purchasers to the banks. The Group is then entitled
to take over the legal titles of the related properties. The Group’s
guarantee periods commence from the dates of grant of the
relevant mortgage loans and end after the execution of individual
purchasers’ collateral agreements.

The Group did not incur any material losses during the reporting
period in respect of the guarantees provided for mortgage facilities
granted to purchasers of the Group’s properties. The directors
consider that in case of default on payments, the net realisable
value of the related properties can cover the repayment of the
outstanding mortgage loans together with any accrued interest and
penalty, and therefore no provision has been made in connection
with the guarantees.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B EAB E

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

36. ARG E
(@) SRITIRft MIBER

FEBMETRITATERYERN
EXRHNKBEEHRER -]
BERZIHFER HERREERE
RI\MIE - AEEEEERRTE
BEREBERNG TRBERKREWN
Bt REIM - cEEHERARE
BREHERYMENGSEFAER -&E
E i RAAB R B AERRIBERH
HAEE (AR B RET IR IR ER L o

RREHBE *EFTERETEER
MENERERTHRIBEEMRE
HOERMEEETANERGE &
ERA HHRREERNER
HRAY XN IR B EE UEER
THZIBEM R AES S KRS
o EIL T R IR R F R

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBTFT
Guarantees given to banks for: MU TIEB A TIRITHER :
Mortgage facilities granted to REEYEERERZIBER
purchasers of the Group’s
properties 359,727 363,960

I EEERAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B E AR

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

37. LEER BN ER TR

EBEMT AN BRNEEENT ;

2024 202445
Financial
assets Financial
at fair value assets
through other at fair value
comprehensive through
income profit or loss
BAREE
FAHEM BAREE
2EKEN AN
ERMEE ERMEE
Financial
assets Mandatorily
at amortised Equity designated
cost investments as such Total
REHER A
HENERMEE BARE ailiETAmt Mzt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFR ARETFR ARETFR ARETFR
Financial assets: EREE !
Financial assets included in long term st ARBATEA RN SRS E
prepayments 44,707 - - 44,707
Equity investments designated at fair value #5E A% A A BE AEAM
through other comprehensive income 2 EKNEHNIRERE - 340,354 - 340,354
Financial assets at fair value through profit %A A EEF ABEH
or loss TREE - - 37 37
Trade receivables FEUWE ZERTT 61,081 - - 61,081
Financial assets included in prepayments, st ATB{TERIE  EANEUEIE K
other receivables and other assets HWEENEREE 193,932 - - 193,932
Amounts due from related companies  FEUREAEEA BIRUE 237,788 - - 237,788
Restricted cash RRFIRE 47,088 - - 47,088
Cash and cash equivalents RE&RE2EEY 838,999 - - 838,999
1,423,595 340,354 37 1,763,986
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
(continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT Ak

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

=

37 LEAB AW EMT A

REEMTAENRESARNREEDOT !

(&)

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

FiE 8H Y A
TENERAE
RMB’000
AREFT
Financial liabilities: ERaE:
Trade payables ENIERZE SN 1,543,308
Financial liabilities included in other st AHEMEMRIBRETERNE/MAEE
payables and accruals 149,022
Interest-bearing bank and other 5t B R1T R EERR
borrowings 3,399,180
Lease liabilities HEaE 31,189
Amounts due to related companies F& 1 BB A T 718 46,479
5,169,178
FEFIETERG R AR

TR NEER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B HA I

31 December 2024 2024512831H

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

37. UEERBEI R TR

—
CATEGORY (CONTINUED) (&)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial FHEEMIANREARNEEEDT !
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (¢=)
(continued)
2023 20234
Financial
assets
at fair value Financial assets
through other at fair value
comprehensive through
income profit or loss
BANEE

STAETM BAREE
EWEH STABREH

EREE EREE
Financial
assets Mandatorily
at amortised Equity designated
cost investments as such Total
REHE A
FENEMEE BARE ‘AN st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Financial assets: EHEE:

Financial assets included inlong term st ARHBARNEREE

prepayments

Equity investments designated at fair value 15 A% /A A EE st A E it
through other comprehensive income 2 EWR &R AR E
Financial assets at fair value through profit 22 A B{E 5t AR

or loss EREE
Trade receivables FEWE ZERT
Financial assets included in prepayments, &f ATE{TEIA EAhEUEIE K
other receivables and other assets HMEENTREE
Restricted cash ZRERE
Cash and cash equivalents ReRFEEEY
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43,573 = = 43,573
= 357,395 = 357,395

S = 36 36
70,013 = = 70,013
192,085 = = 192,085
203,009 = S 203,009
181,156 = = 181,155
689,835 357,395 36 1,047,266




37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
(continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT Ak

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

=

37 LERIB AW EMT A

SEEMT ARREMARNREEDT :

(&)

Financial liabilities

at amortised
cost
STENERER
RMB’000
AREETT
Financial liabilities: THAaRE:
Trade payables BT B Z AR 575,018
Financial liabilities included in other &t A BMEMRIERESERNERMEE
payables and accruals 307,923
Interest-bearing bank and other 5+ B $R1T R EH hE=R
borrowings 3,119,040
Lease liabilities HEaE 140,983
Amounts due to related companies P& BE B A B FIE 329,924
4,472,388
FEHIE T ERERAE

TR NEER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that
reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

38. &/ T

HENAREERR
slEEE

AERERTANKREERQABEN
T HEREEEAAEBESEBEEERI

Carrying amounts Fair values
REE AREE
2023 2024 2023
20234 20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETRT AR®BTT ARBTT
Financial liabilities THaE
Interest-bearing bank and other 5t BIR1T R ELfth &
borrowings 390,680 557,500 412,601 607,017

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, the current portion of restricted cash, trade receivables,
trade payables, financial assets included in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets, financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals, amounts due from/to related companies,
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short term
maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the non-current portion of restricted cash, financial
assets included in long term prepayments and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income have been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities.
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HRRERFEEEFEY  ZRHIFEIE
HAER ) ~ FEUR B IR FEAT B Z R~ 51
AFRRRIE Ht UGB R Bt & ER
TREE SFARMBNRIERESER
PSR EE U AR ARRIE
RERRNEIR wEBETEzE AR

ZRFIREIFENHAR D st ARPEAM®
NEMEE - BARBENABENEH
EERBAMBEFARMMEERGDHNE
RMEENRABENDZBEREBBLUR
T EERRKRGEIHANERTIAR
R o] BT IR KR AR IR R EHIRM
stH-

THEERBBENAABENZTIARE
X575 (MIFRBNBRHE) BAX5
THARZEERAR T A ERRR
BREELnEE:

STRRITREMERNRABEDZBRE
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TR TERRAAITREXBREARRES
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices. The fair values of unlisted equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income,
have been estimated using a market-based valuation technique
based on assumptions that are not supported by observable
market prices or rates. The valuation requires the directors to
determine comparable public companies (peers) based on industry,
size, leverage and strategy, and to calculate an appropriate price
multiple, such as price to book ratio (‘P/B”) multiple and price to
earnings (“P/E”) multiple, for each comparable company identified.
The multiple is calculated by dividing the enterprise value of
the comparable company by an earnings measure. The trading
multiple is then discounted for considerations such as illiquidity
and size differences between the comparable companies based
on company-specific facts and circumstances. The discounted
multiple is applied to the corresponding earnings measure of the
unlisted equity investments to measure the fair value. The directors
believe that the estimated fair values resulting from the valuation
technique, which are recorded in the consolidated statement of
financial position, and the related changes in fair values, which are
recorded in other comprehensive income, are reasonable, and that
they were the most appropriate values at the end of the reporting
period.

For the fair value of the unlisted equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income, management has estimated
the potential effect of using reasonably possible alternatives as
inputs to the valuation model.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B EAB E

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

3. M TANAREBER:

sEERSR (&)

EHARARENRAABERTSRERE
EoEERBRAANBESAHEMEE R
BIE EmRARENAABEERATSE
ERZEN R EPREN TS ERTF
KRGSt MEEREFRBITE RE IR
BRREEETLERARAE (AERR)
WHRHANSETLERABFEEBENE
REH MHRE (HIRE)) BHATRE
K(HRE) BH - ZBHRITLRAT
WEEBERUBIFE REBREZR
B ABFEMIBRMAI LR AR ER RS
B AERERSREE RS EBETH
R-TRBNEBANRFEIFLTREAR
BENEEREN RMABAABE-EF
RBAGEERMERNGEA I ABE iR
BB RERAR R R AEENERES)
(MEME2ERTZAR DNEGEEAR
SHRRRBENGE.

MIBARNEESAHMEERENIFLT
REAKRENRAAEENS  EEEE M5
ERGEIEEAIAFAGLERESHA
YENEETE-

PR S ERARAS
TR NEER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B E AR

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the
valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative
sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2024 and 2023:

LU AR 20244 K%2023F 12831 B &/ T
BLEMERNEARTERE AR &
EEHREDTHE

Significant
Valuation unobservable Sensitivity of fair
technique inputs Range value to the input
BEARH RABERBA
fE{ERM HRm AR #iE BIEBRE
RMB’000
AREEF T
Unlisted equity Valuation multiples Adopted P/B 2024: 1.3 5% (2023: 5%)
investments HERH multiple of peers (2023: 1.4) increase/decrease
JELTRARE EEVANCIEY 20244 1 1.3 in multiple would
FHHREEH (2023% : 1.4) result in increase/
decrease in fair
value by 17,018
(2023: 17,870)
FEIG M,
5% (20234 : 5%)
BHRNNEE
@, 17,018
(20234 : 17,870)
Discount for lack 2024:17% 5% (2023: 4%)

of marketability
Rz miEmE
b

The discount for lack of marketability represents the amounts of
premiums and discounts determined by the Group that market
participants would take into account when pricing the investments.

All financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or
disclosed are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole:
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increase/decrease
in discount would
result in decrease/
increase in fair
value by 3,485
(2023: 17,019)
|, mL
5% (2023% : 4%) #
BHRNRNEE
b 18h03,485
(20234 : 17,019)

(2023: 16%)
20244 1 17%
(20234 : 16%)

RZHERBMRIET 2 EETHR
BENTEEREIRNAFEREENE
BRITEEER

FRIEEHERRELAABENERTATS
REHANEEFEERMEBEANR
BERBARBRAABERERSEN
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT Ak

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 3B. EMITLENARBERA
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL AREERES (&)
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy NREERER

All the above financial assets and liabilities had Level 2 inputs other FRIZANBEABZNESREERIETE
than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and equity AEADBESAEMZERENIR AR
investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive BEF1MR BB B3R E A IR DL
income which had Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 inputs respectively. LR EcREEREBEEBR2RBAK
The fair value hierarchy of investment properties is disclosed in note B REMEN LR AEBEEBRENHHER
13 to the financial statements. eGR4

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy TRIITAEESHTENAABEZ
of the Group’s financial instruments: B4k

Fair value measurement using
FEAATEENAREENE
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
TS EATUERE EATTER
HERME BAYE BAYE

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(F14) (5248) (34R) “et

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®TRT ARBTR AR®TR

Financial assets at fair value through $&/A A EB{EET A B

profit or loss TREE 37 = = 37
Equity investments designated at 8 ARL BB AEM

fair value through other SHRENRAIRE

comprehensive income - - 340,354 340,354
As at 31 December 2024 20245128311 37 - 340,354 340,391

hE A BB R A S
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 38.
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

4T

|

&5
5t

'

=
1ok

HARBEERR
R (48)

[REEREK (B

Fair value measurement using

FERAUTRENAABEFE

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
ERTE BEATHE EATTEER
HERME BARIE WA
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(B14R) (524R) (53%R) Mt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBT ARETT ARETRT AR¥ETR
Financial assets at fair value through %A A BEET ABEE
profit or loss TREE 36 - - 36
Equity investments designated & 7%?3 AAEEEAEM
at fair value through other 2EKRGENEEEE
comprehensive income - - 357,395 357,395
As at 31 December 2023 F20235F12H31H 36 - 357,395 357,431

During the reporting period, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into
or out of Level 3 (2023: Nil).

The movement in fair value measurements within Level 3 during the
year is as follows:

REIEHE > BUREF R FALEL
BEFEEHEE BUESEASEHEIR

(20234 : &

)o

FRBE=RBRAANEEFENEESUT :

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETT

Equity investments at fair value through R1B1ERAAEE §+7\Eﬂﬂ
other comprehensive income at 1 January 2 EUWE E’Jﬂlei

Total (loss)/gains recognised in other REMEER =R
comprehensive income (&8 Hﬁlmﬁﬁ%ﬁ

At 31 December ®12831H
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357,395 353,534
(17,041) 3,861
340,354 357,395




39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and
cash equivalents, short term deposits, lease liabilities and interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group does not
hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.
The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below:

(a) Interest rate risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets. The
Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank and other
borrowings with floating interest rates. The Group has not
used any interest rate swaps to hedge its interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax
(through the impact on floating rate borrowings) and the
Group’s equity, assuming all the increases or decreases are
dealt with in profit or loss, without consideration of interest
capitalisation.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B EAB E

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

9. I F5 E I EIE B IR R R

AEENERTIATEOERERRESE
BY - mRER HEEENBRITR
HitfER-BLETRIATIERNALRE
HEeESEET AERBEAHMSES
MEEKREE GIMNEKRE SRR KEN
EZRT RERHEEES-

rERESRIAMEENEIZRARENR
R~ EERBNRSHESRER AEH
REFARETTETRIEFEER
BR-BFERNIRAEEERSTSEAR
FECRETZWM T :

(a) FIERmEMR

FERTEEARFEEE-F&H
MHBMNEEERATNEARTIE
HAERNTBRTRAMMERE
BerEBARERATANEIZS
HPHERRER

TRIVEMEXSEDREEH T B
BYBNNEEENTE EEHR
MAEEE R EERENSURE (FF
BHEHMASARFRETE) - BRRPA
BHEM R REBERm AR A
K BEAR-

PR S ERARAS
TR NEER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a) Interest rate risk (continued)

30. MG E IR BIERER

(&)

(@) F=EmE (&)

Increase/ (Decrease)/ (Decrease)/
(decrease) in increase in increase in
basis points loss before tax equity
BEL IR RTS8 L

gm, G GR) /1gm G 1B
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR ARBTT

2024 20244
RMB AR
RMB AR
2023 20234
RMB AR
RMB AR

(b) Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is
not significant.
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50 (29,694) (22,270
(50) 29,694 22,270
50 (26,367) (19,775)
(50) 26,367 19,775

(b) EEE

FEBREZEEITEEERFNG
ZHETRG - FERNBERTE
PRERREENETRSNER
HABRREERERF UL A&
EEERERBWREGHR  BEASE
EARARER IR EK



39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-
end staging classification as at 31 December.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B EAB E

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

30. HEAIGE IR BIERER

(&)

(b)

FEEE (8
B ERREREE

TRETREBEAEEGEERE R
EExkmEaEERAR GRIFAINE
BETBERAHBNZERTER
BEMER SRAEMENZER
REAEREE) » UKRI’12A8318

ZERMEERDE

12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 B ¥
ZEEHE 2HEREEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F—MEE 324 BRE (547 ot
As at 31 December 2024 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
12024512A31H AEBFRT ARBTR ARBTR UN:L:S AEBTR
Trade receivables® W E B AR - - - 61,081 61,081
Financial assets included inlong 5t AREATE( K9
term prepayments — Normal** TRHEE-EE" 44,707 - - - 44,707
Financial assets included in FAFARIE Hith
prepayments, other receivables RRFIEREMEE
and other assets NEmEE
- Normal™ —E&E~ 164,643 - - - 164,643
- Doubtful™ —RER™ - - 29,289 - 29,289
Amounts dug from related ik YNSE
companies 237,788 - - - 237,788
Restricted cash — Not yet past due = R4I3R & — KA R 47,088 - - - 47,088
Cash and cash equivalents - Not ~ BHERIHLZEY
yet past due Sl 838,999 - - - 838,999
1,333,225 - 29,289 61,081 1,423,595
FREFIETERERAR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. M A EE B IR KRR
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (&)
(CONTINUED)

(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERMK (&)

234

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

REEBRRERMEE (B)

12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 A a1
=EE1R 2HREREEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F—RRE PR BERE [i5h(n23 ot
As at 31 December 2023 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
1420235126318 AREBTT ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARBTT
Trade receivables® e B SR - - - 70,013 70,013
Financial assets included in long term 5t A REAFER FEY
prepayments — Normal™ CHEE-EE" 43,573 - - - 43573
Financial assets included in ST AEMTIE Hitt
prepayments, other receivables REWFTIEREMEE
and other assets NEmEE
- Normal™* —-EF" 173,187 - - - 173,187
- Doubtful™ —RER™ - - 18,898 - 18,898
Restricted cash — Not yet past due ~ ZR4I3R & — KA R 203,009 = = = 203,009
Cash and cash equivalents - Not yet &£ RIREZEY
past due —KAH 181,155 - - - 181,155
600,924 - 18,898 70,013 689,835

ok

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified
approach for impairment, information is disclosed in note 23 to the

financial statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets and the financial assets
included in long term prepayments are considered to be “Normal”
when they are not past due and there is no information indicating
that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial

assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had certain
concentrations of credit risk as 100% (2023: nil) and 100% (2023:
nil) of the Group’s amounts due from related companies were due
from Zhong An Group Co., Ltd., a company controlled by ultimate

holding company.
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- MAEBRAGLETEREZE
WEZERME » BRHRER R BR
KMIEE23°

- B AN RIE At ERE
tHEENERMEAERS ARBRN
MIENSREEL ERL > AT E
EHBTEREERQ B RFEDBLURK
HEGRREREREN HEEER
REBTER B8 SREENE
BEHEZBAERIRIR

o RIS EARIR 0 B R A R UR A
BN BIFRIBERI100% (20234 : ) &
100% (20234 : ) 74 e R AR IER
NEMEGHNATIRLZERERA
BANRIE MAEEEFEE—EREEN
EREERRC



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A B EAB E

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. HEEEEIEBERIEE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(c) Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets
(e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows from
operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank
and other borrowings.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

(%

(c)

— —
(=]

&)

REE T ERE

FEBRRBEBERBESSHE T
AERHESRMARKR ZTRAE
BEHEMTIARESRMEE WEKE
ZERW MEZFABRREEER
ZHEEIRERE

FEBNENTBEBRANBRTRE
MEF ERESTEEEEEEFS
Z By F e

BRIBTORBIRNOR AEE SR
BENBSIARNIBAMRNT

Less than
3 months or 3 to less than
on demand 12months  1to5years Over5 years Total
LirsER ERED
FIRER #1288 1E55 S5ENE fmx
2024 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
20245 ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR AREKT®
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings stERITREMER 93,607 1,123,295 1,585,205 1,471,047 4,273,154
Trade payables BB RERR 1,543,308 - - - 1,543,308
Amounts due to related parties eI B A TIE 46,479 - - - 46,479
Financial liabilties included in other payables st A EfEATFIER
and accruals EAERNSHER 149,022 - - - 149,022
Lease liabilities HEAR 2,862 8,752 15,127 10,810 37,551
1,835,278 1,132,047 1,600,332 1,481,857 6,049,514

PR S ERARAS
TR NEER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

39. %@;%EF@%IEE%&E&%

(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) mEEZRME (B
Less than
3months or 3 to less than
on demand 12 months 1tob5years  Over 5 years Total
LRASER ERE
FRER  DR12EAR 1558 5EL E st
2023 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
20235 ARETT AR®EFR ARBTR ARETT ARETR
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings st EIETREMER 88,123 647,458 2,193,652 705,594 3,634,827
Trade payables e B ZIRT 575,018 - - - 575,018
Amounts due to related parties FERTRRE A 7E 329,924 - - - 329,924
Financial liabilties included in other payables st A& fFEATFIER
and accruals R ERNERERE 307,923 - - - 307,923
Lease liabilities HEaR 39,838 15,515 52,949 59,500 167,802
1,340,826 662,973 2,246,601 765,094 5,015,494
(d) Capital management (d) BEAXREE

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, trade payables,
other payables and accruals, and lease liabilities, less cash
and cash equivalents. Capital represents equity attributable to
owners of the parent. The gearing ratios as at the end of the
reporting periods were as follows:
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FEBEAEENTIBZAMNSER
EAEEENFREEREFIER
MEALER UZRHHEEBRER
REEEAL-

AEBMEBEEEAREE TREL
EIRIENWEHTEMEENR R
BHEFHAE BERABAEE
KEEHE AEEJERAEZC TR
RONKE - RERRETRRRE
THRD - AREEFZEMIMNEL R
MMEBEARERREH - REE2024F K
2023F12B31HILFE EEEARN
HEBEZE - BURSU R BT A EFE o

rEEEREEERLEXRERSR
T REEARIEXRLEHFERK
UEXRMEFH R - BHFRERE
SHEREBTRAMER BUESK
Mo HMEARIERESER UK
HEaE RRERAZEEY B
ABEBREEA NEBERE - NR
SHRNEESBELERNT !



39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d) Capital management (continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT Ak

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

30. HEAIGE IR BIERER

(&)

(d) BEFEEG@E

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%FT ARETTT
Interest-bearing bank and other FHERIT R EMBER
borrowings 3,399,180 3,119,040
Trade payables FETE S R™M 1,543,308 575,018
Other payables and accruals HnEIEREER 301,256 321,663
Lease liabilities HEaE 31,189 140,983
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B IRERIREEEY 838,999 181,155
Net debt E75 558 4,435,934 3,975,549
Equity attributable to owners of the &ATI%EHA AEISHET
parent 5,265,498 4,746,886
Capital and net debt AR REHE R R 9,701,432 8,722,435
Gearing ratio BEESBLXE 46% 46%
FEFIETERG R AR
ZENEFR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT

31 December 2024 2024FE12831H

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 40. X AT 2B RT

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

BERARBRBEMRZMBTRREZE

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BT
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT ARBEEFTT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries R BABN# R 1,326,803 1,326,803
Long term prepayments REATETRR 173,515 169,809
Total non-current assets HIERBIEE 1,500,318 1,496,612
Current assets TRENEE
Prepayments, other receivables and other  Fa{1 3R IE « EfthEWFIE R Hth & ZE
assets 98,238 163,305
Financial assets at fair value through profit R AR BESFARBR ZSEE
or loss 37 36
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUN I B A B RIE 1,524,782 1,289,436
Amounts due from related companies [EUR BB A BB 288,388 342,117
Inventories 78 114 112
Cash and cash equivalents BEMIRSEEY 906 1,579
Total current assets HREEE 1,912,465 1,796,585
Current liabilities Bt =Nl
Amounts due to subsidiaries FES B AT RRIE 1,083,764 1,058,152
Amounts due to related companies FETREB A B RN IE 151,958 148,712
Total current liabilities wREhaG 1,235,722 1,206,864
Net current assets B ERE 676,743 589,721
Total assets less current liabilities MEERTEAE 2,177,061 2,086,333
Net assets FEE 2,177,061 2,086,333
Equity gy
Share capital it 160,220 160,220
Reserves #iE 2,016,841 1,926,113
Total equity ERES 2,177,061 2,086,333
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40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

41

42

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT Ak

31 December 2024 2024412H831H

40. ZRE) 2 B IRRTR (B)

Note (a): Htzt(a):
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: PN Lt I
Share Exchange
premium fluctuation Accumulated Capital
account reserve losses reserve Total
RipEER ERREBHE Riti5iE BARE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2024 R2024F181H 719,697 110,945 (103,565) 1,199,036 1,926,113
Total comprehensive income for the year FREEKREELE - 17,370 73,358 - 90,728
At 31 December 2024 20245128318 719,697 128,315 (30,207) 1,199,036 2,016,841
Share Exchange
premium fluctuation Accumulated Capital
account reserve losses reserve Total
RipEER ERREBHE Riti5iE BARE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2023 72023F181H 719,697 128,469 (90,701) 1,259,036 2,016,501
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREEEIBELE - (17,524) (12,864) (60,000) (90,388)
At 31 December 2023 20235128316 719,697 110,945 (103,565) 1,199,036 1,926,113

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING

PERIOD

4. FRERAEERIE

There are no material subsequent events undertaken by the

Company or by the Group after 31 December 2024.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 27 March 2025.

72024FE12831H % » XA B o A 5 B 1
EETTREABRSE.

42. fit R TSR R

B HRAREN2025F3F2THEEETH
R IR TETE o

PEMEERAERAR
R NEFR
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SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
SR e B AR

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the

FEERBEETIEEERMBRRZBED
B HEEREREE  BEKRIFEREDRRIE

published audited financial statements. FEHINUN T
=E
RESULTS $iE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20244 20234 20224 20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFTT ARETT ARETT AR®ETT AR¥TT
Revenue WA 4,103,756 1,297,235 591,783 871,066 700,370
Profit/(loss) before tax BRI EIFE, (B548) 1,130,382 (476,667) (477,514) (277,024) 108,844
Income Tax T3 (644,614) 51,534 15,874 (25,791) (83,763)
Profit/(loss) for the year FERNFIE, (58 485,768 (425,133) (461,640) (302,815) 25,081
Profit/(loss) attributable to: LA (L FIE,~
(&518) -
Equity holders of RABERFAA
the Company 503,909 (404,136) (432,523) (295,136) 44,429
Non-controlling interests JEIER R (18,141) (20,997) (29,117) (7,679) (19,348)
485,768 (425,133) (461,640) (302,815) 25,081
= == - | W A
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON- BE -BERIEERER
CONTROLLING INTERESTS
31 December
12831H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20244 202345 20224 20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ABBTT AR¥EFTT ARBTT ARETT
Total Assets mEE 13,385,727 13,533,007 15,179,776 15,504,840 15,175,856
Total Liabilities mEE (8,043,593) (8,692,168)  (9,871,867) (9,771,245)  (9,098,438)
Non-controlling Interests JEIER R (76,636) (93,953) (204,336) (233,453) (242,640)
5,265,498 4,746,886 5,103,573 5,500,142 5,834,778
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